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Europe Middle East and Africa EMEA

Asia Pacific

Australia

Asia exduding thlna1

China



StrategK nitiatve Be the global leader in the Companys product categories within our prioritized platforms

peciakt pro uct ne

Blue \Norks odut hue

F3k

WE Speahst tor Bkc in the UK

Strategk lnitative Strategc business relationships

StrategK Initatve Long turn innovation to ensure continued profitable growth

Strategc lnitatEve People development Attract Develop and Retain Tribe Members

KEY AREAS Of FOCUS IN FISCAL YEAR 2Ol4



FISCAL YEAR 2014 AND BEYOND

How are we going to achieve the goals we have set for ourselves in Fiscal Year 2014
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Strategic lnttiativc row thc WD 40 Multi Use Pi oduct awar ness distribution and usage across all

geographkt Mor people rriore pla ec mcii uses more often

StratcgK Initiative Grow the WD40 Specialist product line by vc igmg the power of the Shield to develop
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StrategK nitatwe Broaden Product and Revenue Base everage the recognized strengths
of WD4o Company

to denvc revenuc trom new services and identified brands

Strategic ntatve Attract Deveop and Retain Outstanding Tribe Members

Strategc Initatve Operationa Excellence Continuous improvement by optimizing resources systems and processes

Captal Allocation Strategy
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Cost of Doing Business tI ousaid except percentages iscal Year Ended

August 31 2013

lotal operltlng cxpeiises CAAP 132526

Arnortl atlon of definac lived lntanglble assets 2260
Ir alrment definitt lwed intangIble asscts 1077
DepreciatIon ln oporatuig Jepariments i81

Cot of doing busness 127338

Net cI 368548

Cost of doIng usiness as percentage of net sales

LBFTDA In housands exep percentages Fisca Year Ended

August 31 2013

Net in ome CAAP 39813

Provlslon for lnome taxes 17054

Interest ncornc 506
lIltt rest exper se 693

/Arnortlzauon of nnitc lIvea intangiole assets 22b0

Dci reciatlc 3099

LBIIDA 62413

Netsalcs 368548

BIT DA as pc rc nta of ns sales 17%



Pefdrinaice Graph he following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder retuin on the Compan Coninion Shares

to the yearly weighted cumulatis return of Peer Gioup Indes inc uding both new and old index the Standard Poors 300

Composite Index SP 300 and the Russell 2000 Composite Stock Index for the fi\ fiscal years ending August 31 2013

Periodically the Companys Compensation Committee res iews and analyzes peer group in ordei to henehmaik executive

compensation and to ensure that the entities included in the peer group continue to provide good comparisons br the Coinpan In

fiscal year 2013 the Compensation Committee engaged Compensia Inc national compensation consulting firm to anal ze the peer

group selection and to provide ads ice and information relating to excutms compensation for fiscal year 2014 In selecting peer

group companies were selected from list of US headquartered mpanies having resenues and earnings reasonahi comparable to

the Company and doing business in the specialty chemical industry within specific consumer products categories The Conipan

believes that the peer group
used for benchmarking executis compensation represents more dis ersified rid representati\ sample

of comparable industry or line-of business companies than the
peer group pres iously used the Conipan ftr total stockholder

return comparison prirposes Accordingly the Company has changed the peer group used bar comparison ppos fbr its fis e-ear

performance graph stiuting with fiscal year 201 Ito he consistent with the peer group used the Compensation Committee br

benchniarking executise compensation for fiscal year
2014 The Co panys ness Peer Group Index as most recenti appros ed b\ the

Compensation Committee is comprised of the following 21 companies

Aceto Corporation

American Vanguard Corpoi ation

Balchem Corporation

Calgon Carbon Corporation

Cambrex Corporation

Flotek Industries Inc

Hawkins Inc

Ennophos loldings Inc

Innospec Inc

inter Paifums Inc

Landec Corporation

In the year of transition both the old and new Peer Group lndices has been included in the perfbrmance graph heloss

comparison assumes 5100 was ins ested on August 31 2008 in the Companys Common Shares and in each of the indices and

assumes reinvestment of dividends

FY2009 FY2OIO VY2OI FY2012 FY2O1J
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ancaoet oon orp Bo Inc National PreOo Indun tnc. Prene and Holdi ng Inc RPM tnternat ionat toe Scotis irac Ic to Co pan and
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Measurement Specialties Inc

National Presto Industries Inc

Nut raceuticai International Corporation

Oil-Dri Corporation of America

Pai Electrochemical Corporat ion

Pmestige Brands Holdings Inc

Quaker Chemical Corporal on

Synutra International Inc

fISANA Health Sciences Inc

Zep Inc

Comparison of Year Curnmulative Total Returns

i40

FY20118
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WD4OC
1061 Cudahy lace

San Diego Californa 92110

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

01 fW will Id win on

Joan Kroc Institute for Peace Justice

Unwersity of San Diego
5998 Alcala Park
San Diego California 92110

To elect Board of Dwectors for the ensuing year and untH their successors are

elected and qualifed

To hold an advsory vote to approve executive compensation

To ratify the appo ntment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Companys

ndependent rgisted pubhc accounting firm for fiscal year 2014 ad
To consider and act upon such other business as may properly come before

the meeting

Only the stockholders of record

enttled to vote at the meetng

the close of business on October 15 2013 are

Ii

01
By Order of the Board of Directors

Richard Clampitt

Secretary

San Diego Californm

October31 2013



2013 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHARE HOLDRS

Date and Time

December 10 2013 at 00

Place

Joan Kroc Institute for Peace Justice

University of San Diego

5998 Alcala Park

San Diego CaHfornia 92110

CORPORATE GOVERNANC

Record Date

October 15 2013

Meeting Webcast

www wd4O om corn in the Investor Relations

section beginning at 200 pm Pacific Time on

December 10 2013

Our Corporate Governance Policies Reflect Best Practices

Annual election of all directors Executive sessions of independent directors

held at each regularly scheduled board meeting

Independent chair Company policy prohibits pledging and hedging

of WD40 Company stock

Seven of eight directors are independent All equity grants received by directors since 2007

must be held until board service is ended

Independent chair approves board meeting Board participation in CEO succession planning

agendas

We provide below highlights of certain information in this Proxy Statement As it is only summary please

refer to the complete Proxy Statement and 2013 Annual Report before you vote

VOTING MAT TLRS AND BOARD RECOMMEND TlONS

Election of Directors Item No

Advisory Vote To Approve Executive Compensation

Item No

Ratification of appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP as the Companys independent registered puolic

accounting firm for fiscal year 2014 Item No FOR

FOR 15

38
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PRINCIPA ECU RITY EOLUERS

TEM NO NOMINEES FOR ELECTION

AS DiRECTORS AND SECURITY

OWNERSHIF OF MANACEWENT
Director Independence

Secunty Ownership of Directors and

Executive Officers

Nominees for Election as Directors

Board Leadership Risk Oversight and

Compensation-Related Risk

Board of Directors Meetings Committees

and Annual Meeting Attendance

Board of Directors Compensation

Director Compensation Table Fiscal

Year 2013

Equity Holding Requirement for

Directors

Stockholder Communications with Board

of Directors

Committees

Corporate Governance Committee

Nomination Policies and

Procedures

Audit Committee Related Party

Transactions Review and

Oversight

nance Committee

Compensation Committee

Compensation Committee

Interlocks and Insider

Participation

TEM NO ADVISORY VOTE TO APPRC yE

LXLCUT1VE COMPENSAT ON

COMPLNATION DICUSlON AND

ANAY5IS
Executive Summary of Fiscal Year 2013

Coripensation Decisions

Governance of Executive Officer

Compensation Program

Process for Evaluating Executive

Officer Performance and

Compensation

Executive Compensation Philosophy and

Framework

Compensation Objectives

Target Pay Position/Mix of Pay
Compensation Benchmarking

Executive Officer Comoensation

Decisions

Base Salary Process

Base Salary Fiscal Year 2013

Performance Incentive Program

Equity Compensation

Fiscal Year 2013 Equity Awards

Performance Share Unit Award

Vesting for Fiscal Year 2013

Performance Achievement

Benefits and Perquisites

Post-Employment Obligattons

Overall Reasonableness of

Compensation

Other Compensation Policies

Exchange Act Rule 0b5 Trading

Plans and Insider Trading

12 Guidelines

Executive Officer Stock Ownership

12 Guidelines

12 lax Considerations

Accounting Considerations

COMPENSATION MMIIIEF PORT
12 SE TION 16a BE NLE IC AL OWNET3HIP

REPORTiNG COMPLIANCE

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
13 Summary Compensation Table

14 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Fiscal

Year 2013

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2013 Fiscal

Year End

14 Option Exercises and Stock Vcsted

Fiscal Year 2013

15 Supplemental Death Benefit Plans and

Supplemental Insurance Benetits

16 Change of Control Severance

Agreements

16 DII COMMITTEE PORI
ITEM NC RAil lCATIO4

18 APPOINTMENT OF INDEPFN TEN

REGI TEREDPU CACCOUNTINCa
FIRM

18 Audit Fees

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

All Other Fees

STOCKHOLDER PROF OSA

19

19

20

20

22

25
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10

11

26
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29
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This Proxy Statement is furnished in

connoction with the solicitation of proxies by

the Board of Directors of WD40 Company for

use at its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be

held on Tuesday December 10 2013 and at

any postponements or adjournments thereof

This Proxy Statement and enclosed form of

Proxy are first sent to stockholders on or about

October 31 2013

At the meeting the stockholders of WD40
Company will consider and vote upon the

election of the Board of Directors for the ensuing

year ii an advisory vote to approve executive

compensation and iii the ratification of the

appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LP

as the Companys independent registered public

accounting firm for fiscal year 2014 Detailed

information concerning these matters is set forth

below Management knows of no other business

to Gu1C before the meeting

What constftutes quorum order

to hokJ and transact bushlcbJ at tie

The close of business on October 15 2013

is the record date for stockholders entitled

to notice of and to vote at the Annual

Meeting of Stockholders of WD40 Company
On October 15 2013 WD40 Company had

outstanding 15290586 shares of 001 par

value common stock Stockholders of record

entitled to vote at the meeting will have one vote

for each share so held on the matters to be

voted upon If you are beneficial owner whose

shares are held of record by broker you must

instruct the broker how to vote your shares If

you do not provide voting instructions your

shares will not be voted on any proposal on

which the broker does not have discretionary

authority to vote This is called broker non

vote majority of the outstanding shares will

constitute quorum at the meeting Abstentions

and broker nonvotes are counted for purposes

of determining the presence or absence of

quorum Broker nonvotes are shares that are

held of record by bank or broker as to which

the bank or broker has not received instructions

from the beneficial owner as to how the shares

are to be voted

If you are beneficial owner whose shares are

held of record by broker you must instruct

the broker how to vote your shares If you do

not provide voting instructions your shares will

not be voted on any proposal on which the

broker does not have discretionary authority to

vote If you hold your shares through broker

it is important that you cast your vote if you

want it to count in the election of directors and

in the advisory vote to approve executive

compensation You may have received

notice from the Company entitled Important

Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy

Materials Shareholder Meeting to Be Held on

December 10 2013 with voting instructiona or

you may have received these proxy materials

with separate voting instructions Follow the

instructions to vote or to request further voting

instructions as set forth on the materials you

have received For more information on this

topic see the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC Investor Alert issued in

February 2010 entitled New Shareholder

Voting Rules for the 2010 Proxy Season at

http Iwww 5CC govllnvest rlakrtsl

votingrules2O 10 htm

provide Instructons or rturn fly

Proxy and can revokc my proxy

If the enclosed form of Proxy is properly

executed and returned the shares represented

thereby will be voted in acordance with the

instructions specified thereon If no specified

instruction is given with respect to particular

matter on your form of Proxy your shares will be

voted by the proxy holder as set forth on the form

of Proxy Proxy may be revoked by attendance

at the meeting or by filing Proxy bearing later

date with the Secretary of the Company

The cost of soliciting proxies II be borne by

the Company Solicitations other than by mail

may be made by telephone or in person by

employees of the Company for which the

expense will be nominal

matena
ecenç the proxy hod

t11y
Jiare fhrorqh brnkor

how do vote

2013 Prox atmsnt
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The Board of Directors has determined that each director and nominee other than Carry Ridge is an

independent director as defined in Rule 5605a2 of the Marketplace Rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market

LLC the Nasdaq Rules In considering the independence of directors the Board of Directors considered

Gregory Sandforts indirect interest as an executive officer of Tractor Supply Company in purchases of

the Companys products made by Tractor Supply Company in the ordinary course of business The total

amount of net sales recorded by the Company for all product purchases by Tractor Supply Company during

fiscal year 2013 was $773561 The Company has concluded that Mr Sandforts indirect interest in such

transactions is not material and does not require soecific disclosure under Item 404a of Regulation SK
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act

Information concerning the independence of directors serving on committees of the Board Directors is

provided below as to each committee

DIRE OR INDE PE NDETNCL
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All shams owned directly unless otherwise indicated

Mr Rembolt has the nght to acquire 17160 shares upon exercise of stock options the right to receive 1452 shares upon

settlement of restricted stock units upon vesting within days and the right to recoive 1734 shares upon settlement of

vested performance share units Mr Rembolt has vot ng and investment power over 865 shares held under the

Companys 401k plan

Mr Irwin has the nght to receive 3971 shares upon settlement of restricted stock units upon termination 01 employment the

right to receive 1204 shares upon settlement of restnctecl stock units upon vesting within 60 days and the nght to receive

1156 shares upon settlement of vested performance stare units Mr Irwin has voting and investment power over 811

shares held under the Companys 401k plan

Mr Freeman has the right to receive 3971 shares upon settlement of restricted stock units upon termination of employment

the
right

to receive 543 shares upon sett ement of restricted stock units upon vesting within 60 days and the
right to

receive 1734 shares upon settlement of vested performance share units Mr Freeman has voting and investment power

over 2222 shares held under the Companys 401k plan

Mr Noble has the right to acquire 10000 shares upon exercise of stock options the right to receive 39/1 shares upor

settlement of restricted stock units upon termination of nployment the
right to rrceive 1222 shares upon settlement of

restricted stock units upon vesting within 60 days and the right to receive 1156 shares upon settlement of vested

performance share units

Total includes the rights of directors and executive officers to acquire 98 660 shares upon exercise of stock opbons the

rights cf executive officers and directors to receive tota of 85613 shares upon settlement of restrCted stock units upon

termination of employment or service as director of the Company the rights of executive officers to ieceive total of

13593 shares upon settlement of restricted stock units upon vesting within 60 days the rights of executive officers to

receive 13872 shares upon settlement of vested perforriance share units and 11674 shares tield by executive officers

under the Companys 401k plan
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nancc matters

MARO CFUVELLO

tQ

Mano CnveUo was elected to the Board of Directors in 1994 Mr nveUo was the

managing owner and maste of Tuna Purse Seiners until his retirement in 1984

Mr Crivello and members of us family have been investors in the Company since its

founding His long standing elationship with the Company and his insight into ts

history and market position provide the Board with valuable shareowner perspective

Former business owner wi focus on cost management and return

Institutional knowledge from the Companys beginning

Significant shareholder witi strong shareholder perspective

cto ine

or too

nar

Linda Lang was elected tc the Board of Directors in 2004 Since 2005 Mc Lang

has served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Jack in the

Box Inc Ms Lang has been employed by Jack in thc Box Inc for 26 years and

from 1996 until 2005 she held the offices of President and Chief Opcratinq Officer

Executive Vice President Senior Vice President Marketing Vice President and

Regional Vice President Southern California Region and Vice President Marketing

Ms Lang has extensive knowledge and expertise in the areas of brand

management and marketing financial management and reporting supply chain and

distribution management as well as strategic planning executive compensation and

succession management Her experience in these and other areas of corporate

management and governance offer complementary experience to the Board

Skill and Fxoertso

Active CEO in touch with today consumer

In depth experience in brand management finance distiibution and

compensation

Former CEO wth deep mcnagement experience

Particular expertise in compensation and risk management

UNCA LANG

Ow icr

Strong focus on strategy d3velopment strategic planning and stratcgy execuhon



mny Rdqo ir W1140 ompany in 1987 as Marmgnq Ciroctor WI 48

ri Pry iii ited nd he wa popshi Sir nmpny perrtrons

ioh ut the Pt cr5 and Asia Mr Ridge transferred to the co per te office in 1994 as

irect mt not onm erations and was elected Vice Pro ident iternatior in

995 Fl was elect to thc ition of xecutive Vice PresidenffC iief Operating

ffe un 12% md he was named resident and Chiof Execr two Officer in 1997 He

ul ct to Board of Di ectors in 1997 Prior to joining WL 40 Company

Ridee wa Mnaqing Director of rmax Pacific Pty Ltd and held number of

rnior management ositions with Hawker Pacific Pty Ltd Hawker Siddeley PLC

oup mpary which was licensee for WD-40 until 1988 As the CE cf

Com my Mr Ridge offers thc Boarc an important Companybaed perspect ye In

ii lit parR ar knowle ige of thc orrpany internatior 11 markts and md it

tk th Rn irO wi vo1 rihie irgbt

cd ith saron for strong culture employee engagement and protecting

ix rizirg th tur ion the Cuanys brand sets

rtrcular rt in drivir obal busines

coon ANDIOPi egory andt rt as elected 110 mrd of Directors in Or tuber 2011 Mr So idfort

ssun ed he rol of resident and hiet xecutive Officer of tractor ffupply ompany in

Jc nuary 2013 Mr Sar dfort served as Presid nt md Chief Operating Officer of tractor

ppv ompan ince 2012 Mr Sandfort scrved Preident and Chief

Th in car Offic of Tractor up my Company since 200 and he erved as

ti Vice Presic ant CF ief Merch mndising Office of ictor Su mply Company from

rO It Mr mndfort previously sorvcd ma President and hief Operating Officer at

cha 3torc Inc from 2006 to 2007 nd as xecutive VK PresidentGerieral

Ver ai cc in mq it Me acts Vores lnc from 2004 to 006 Mr Sandfort served

Vi harm ion rid Chief xc ut Vt Offk or of Kleinert Inc from 2002 to 2003

Prc lent cr or ml Mere iandise Manager for Se ra Ru buck and Co

frc 1998 to 002 Chief Exec utiv Officer of an existing WD 40 Company customer

Mr ifo br ng custornc per pect ye to the board The board ilso values

mm If irt exten vc managemer experienc in the retail iridustry

Vt mrrnel hat district tea the Co npany products

Direct coon ctiorr with consumer of the Companys products



BO \RL E/ DE IF RISK OVE SIGH AND
COMPE NSAfIONRE AfED RIcK

The Board of Directoi of WD 40 Company has main ained separation of its principal xeeutive officer and

oar hwr positions for many years In additinn the hoard chair position is held by an md prndnt clmrpctor

and the harter of the Corporate overnance Committee provides that retiring Chief Executive Officer will

not be nominated to stand for re election to thc Board The Boaid of Directors bclieves that separation of

the print icil executive officer and the board chair positions is appropriate for the Company given the sze of

the Board and II need for undivided attention of the Chief Executive Offic to the implementation of

strategic directives and overall management responsibilities As an indcpendent director the board chair

can provkk leadership to the Board without perceived or actual conflicts associated with individual and

collective interest of management employees The Board of Directors believes that retiring Chief

Executive Officer should not continue to serve as director in order to provide manager tent with an

unfettered ability to provide new leadership

Risk oversight is undertaken by the Board of Directors as whole but various Board Committees are

charged with responsibility to review and report on ousiness and management iiSKS included within the

purview of each Committees responsibilities The Compensation Committee considers risks associated with

the Coripanys compensation policies and practices with particular focus on the incentive bonus and equity

twards offered to the Companys executive officers The Audit Committee considers risk aesociated with

financial reporting and internal control and risks related to information technology catastro he and disaster

recovery at well as management of the Companys insurance risks and coverage The Finance Committee

considers risks associated with the Companys financial management and investment activitie acquisition

related risks and Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 plan oversight he Board and the

Committees receive periodic rep rts from management employees having responsibility for the

management of particular areas of risk The Chief xecutive Officer is responsible for overall risk

management and provides input to the Board of Diredors with respect to the Companys risk management

prucss-
ammi 1espumimvt to th Boid iii idiryirmg out its risk ovem sight rolti

Wrth respect to compensation related rik the Companys management has undertaken an annual

asessnient of thc Companys compensation policies and practices arid strategic business initiatives to

determine whether any of these policies or practrces as well as any compensation plan design features

including those applicable to the executive officers aio reasonably likely to have material adverse effect

on the Company Based on this review management has concluded that the Company compensation

policies and practices are not reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on the Company This

conclusion is based primarily on the fact that the incentives underlying most of the Cornpanys

experrenc
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Iho Company also maintacis Director Contributions Fund from which each incumbent non emçloyee

director has the right at specified time each fiscal year to designate $6000 in charitable contributions to

be made by the Company to properly qualified unde Internal Revenue Code Section c3 chantable

organizatk ns

DREC1OF IOMPENSAI1ON 1ABLE

FISGAL YE AR 213
Tha foflowirig Diractor Compensation table provides information concerning director compensation earned by

each non employeo director for services rendered in fiscal year 2013 since the annual base fee ind tees for

srivice on Committees are payable for services provided to the Company from January of the fiscal year

until the next annual meeting of stockholders such compensation is reportEd for purposes of the Director

Compensation table on weighted basi- or fisca year 2013 one third of the reportd compen.ation

earned or paid in cash is based on the Director Compensation Policy in effect for calendar year 2012 and two

thirds oF the reported compensation earned or paid in cash is based on the Director Compensation Policy in

effect for calendar year 2013 Amounts earned and reported in the Director ompensation table for Fees

Earned or Paid in Cash for the fiscal year for each director are depender upon the various committees on

whir each direr tor served as member or as chair during the fiscal year

Fees Earned or All Other

Pare in c.asn atoek Awards Option iswards compensacio Total

Name $i $1 $i fi

Giles Bateman $54000 $48964 $6000 $108964

Feterl Bwloy $48964 $6000 $106291

Richard Collato $51333 $48964 $6000 $106297

Mario ivello 6000 $48 964 $6 000 $100964

LindaA Lang $46000 $48964 $6000 $100984

GreqoryA Sandfort $44661 $48964 56000 99631

Neat Schniate $84008 $48964 $6000 $118964

or services rendered dunnq fiscal year 2013 directors received RSU awards pursuant to eleebo is rnadr in 20 and 2012

under the Director Compensarron ioHcy with respuct to tl vii services as dii vutci ii alvi idcjc yi 01 an 201

respectively in each crse in lieu of all or part of their base annual fees foi such calendar year as dcscribed in the nairative

preceding the Director Compensation table Is follow Pster Bewley Linda tang Gregory tandtort and Neal

Schrnale reee ved RSU IwardS valued $33085

Amount included in the Stock Awards column represent th giant date fori value for non clective RSU awards granted to all

non employee directors puruant to the Di ester Compensation Policy On December 11 2012 each director received

non elective PSU award covering 1033 shares of the Co irpanys common stock ha Ii su award ias grarlt Ito fair

value qual to the closing price of th Company eommor stock on that date in the ar iount ol 40 per share multiplied

the number of hares undc rlying tile RSU Iward The numbe of shares underlying cach RSU award is rounded own to

the neoiest whole share he number of PSU held by es director as of the end of the fiscal year are reported above in

footnote to the table under he heading Sec iinty Owes ma op of Directors and xecufive Officers he RSL15 are settled in

stock ily upon termination of service as directoi ar th RSUs provide for the paym nt of dividr rid equivalent

compenc ation ri amount equal to dividends declared and paid on the orrrparrys common stock

Outstarl 1mg opti ns held by each director as the end of tile tic al year arc reported ab ve in to utnct to the table under

the heading Secunty Ownership of Directors id xec utuve Of0r is

Anonnts mepresert charitable cont ibuti ns is ado by ttle Company as designated by eah non employee director piirruant

to the ns pany Director Contribution und
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In determining whether to recommend director for reelection the Corporate Govorr ince Committee

considers the directors past attendance at meetinqs results of annual evaluations and the direr tot

participation in and anticipated future contributions to the Board of Directors director who will have

reached the age of 72 prior to the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders except for non emp oyee

directors first elected to the Board prior to June 29 999 will not be recommended for re election at that

meeting

The Coipoiate Governdrve Gonimittte revwb new Evthd of Director nomiass through series intrral

discussions reviewing available information and interviewing selected candidates Generally andidatr

for nomination to the Board of Directors have been suggested by directors or employee he on pany

does not currently employ search firm or third party in connection with socking or evaluating candidates

The Corporate Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended by sec urity holders

under the same criteria as other candidates descriLed above Nominations may be submitted by letter

addressed to WD40 Company Corporate Governa ice Committee Corporate Seers try lot dahy

Place San Diego CA 92110 Nominations by securi holders must be submitted in accordance with tho

requirements of the Companys Bylaws including submission of such nominations within trio time required

for submission of stockholder proposals as set forth below Winder the heading Stockholder Proposals

AUDIT COMMITTEE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS REVIEW AND OVERSIGHT

The Audit Committee is comprised of Giles Bateman Chair Peter Bcwlcy Richard Gollato and

Neal Schmale Five meetings were held during the last fiscal year to review quarterly fin mimI reports to

consider the annual audit and other audit services to review the audit with the independent registered public

accounting firm after its completion and to review the Companys business continuity and inauiance

programs The Board of Directors has determined tha Mr Bateman is an audit committee financial expert

as defined by regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission Mr Bateman and each of

the other members of the Audit Committee are independent directors as defined in the Nasdaq Rules Each

member of the Audit Committee also satisfies the rec uirements for service on the Audit ommittee set

forth in Rule 5605c2 of ths Nasdaq Rules

The Audit Committee has responsibility for review and oversiqht of related pa ty transactions foi pot ntial

conflicts of interest Related party transactiona include any independent business dealings between the

Company and related parties who consist of the Gem anys executive officers directors rector nominees

and holders of more than 5% of the Companys shans Such transactions include businss dealings with

parties in which any such related party has direct or ndirect interest The Board of Dinctors ha adof ted

written policy to provide for the review and oversight of related party transactions by the Audit Comm ills

Executive officers and directors are required to notify the Secretary of the Company of any propord or

existing related party transactions in which they have an interest The Secretary and the Audit Committee

also rely upon the Companys disclosure controls and procedures adopted pursuant to Ii xchange rules

fu the purpose of assuong th1t matters requiring disslosure including cltcd party traactir that rn iy

involve the potential for conflicts of interests are brought to the attention of manag ic it id the Audit

Committee on timely basis Certain related party transactions do not require Audit Gomniittee review and

approval Such transactions are considered pro approved Pre approved transactions include

transactions approved in the ordinary course of busi tess that do not exceed $50000 in iy sc ii year

compensation arrangements approved by the Compensation Committee or thc Board of Eirectors md

expense reimbursements consistent with the Companys expense reimbursement policy
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At the Companys 201 Annual Mecting of Stockholders the first SayonPay vote was held and the

Companys stockholders were also asked by nonbmding advisory vote to express their preference as to

the freque icy of future Say onPay votes and the Board of Directors recommended annual Say on Pay

voting Thc Companys stockholders expressed prefaronce to have Sayon Pay votes every year

The following resolution will be presented for approval by the Companys stockholders at the 2013 Annual

Meeting or stockholders

RESOLVE that the stockholders of WD 40 Compa iy the Company hereby approve the ompensation

of the Companys Named Executive Officers as disclosed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

section of the Companys proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and in the

accompanying compensation tables and narrative disclosures

The advisory vote to approve executive compensation is non binding vote on tho compensation of the

Companys NEOs This proxy statement contains cescription of the compensation provided to the NEOs

as required by Item 402 of Regulation promulgated under the Exchange Act

Stockholders are encouraged to carefully consiier the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

accompanying compensation tables and related narrative discussion in this proxy statemcnt in considering

this advisory vote Thc Board of Directors believes that the compensation provided to the Companys NEOs

offers ompetitive pay package with proper balance of current and long term incentives aligned with the

interests of the Companys stockholders

This is an advisory vote and will not affect compensation previously paid or awarded to the NEOs While

vote disapproving the NEOs executive compensation will not be binding on the Board of Directors or the

Compensation Committee the Compensation Committee will consider the results of the advisory vote in

making future executive compensation decisions

The affirmative vote of majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to

vote on the proposal at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders required to approve this advisory vote on

executive compensation

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS HAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE

FOR ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED RESOLU1 ON FOR APPROVAL OF HE COMPENSAT1ON

OF THE COMPANYS NAMED EXECUTVE OFFICERS

15
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In October 2012 the NEOs received annual RSU awards providing for the issuance of total of 11410

shares of the Companys common stock to be earned by continued employment by the Company over

vesting period of three years These awards serve retention purpose together with an incentive to

maximize long term stockholder value through share price appreciation

market study was completed by the Committe compensation consultant in fiscal year 2012 that

included recommendation to employ MSU awards which align executive rewards with the Companys

relative TSR MSU awards provide for the issuance of shares of the Companys common stock following

three year performance vesting period based on relative levels of achievement of performance of the

Companys SR as compared to the Index

In October 2012 the NEOs received MSU awards subject to performance vesting overing target

number of shares of the ompanys common stock equal to 11470 shares If the Companys TSR over

the three year vesting period matches the median neturn for the Index the target number of shares of the

Companys common stock would be issued to the NEOs the actual number of shaies to be issued will be

from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares depending upon the Companys SR as compared to the

return for the Index

RSU and MSU award amounts for fiscal year 2013 varied among the NEOs based on labor market

compensation practices specific to the region of employment relative achievement of individual

performance measures and goals established for each NEO as well as Company performance for fiscal

year 2012 in areas over which each NEO had direct influence

For fiscal years prior to 2013 the NEOs received annual performance share unit PSU awards

providing for the issuance of shares of the Companys common stock following two year performance

vesting penod based on relative levels of achievement of target levels for the Gompanys revenue and

gross margin For PSU awaids to the NEOs in Oc ober 2011 having performance measuremn nt period

ending as of August 31 2013 each NEO received 8015% of the target number of shares as result of

relative achievement of the performance measures applicable to the PSU awards Agqregato Revenue

Growth and Gross Margin over the twu year measurement period Aggregate Revenue Growth over the

two year measurement period was 104% which was greater than the minimum pentorrriance goal of 10%

and was less than the target performance goal of 15% resulting in 540% of the target number of shares

for this performance measures portion of the PSU award being earned Gross Margin ovei the two year

measurement period was 50 3% which was greater than the minimum performance goal of 48% and was

greater than the target performance goal of 50% resulting in 10/ 5% of the target number of shares for

this performance measures portion of the PSU award being earned The resultant overall percentage

achievement was 8075% 01 tne target number of shares foi the PSU waid being eaiiitd by eacJi NE

or more complete description of the MSU awards rerer to the xecutive Officcr Compensation Ocr acions oction below

under tie heading Market Share Unit Awards

For more complete description of the PSU award pertormance measures and caicuistion of the number of shares issued

to each NEO with respect to their fiscal year 2012 PSU awards refer to the Executive Offices Conpensation Dcisions

section below under the headings Performance Share Unit Awards and Performance Share Unit Award Vesting for Fiscal

Year 2013 Performance Achievement
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mix of RSU and MSU awards for our executive officers has boen onsidered by the Committee to be

appropriate as compared to RSU awards alone or stock options for the following reasons MSU awards

provided more direct performancebased incentcie ii RSU awards have greater perceived value to

recipients than stock options iii RSU dOd MSU owards the aggregite have lower compensation

expense impact on the Companys financial result3 iv RSU and MSU awards have less dilutive impact

on share count basis and the issuance of shares of the ompanys common stock upon vesting

encourages longterm stock ownership and facilitates the achievement of the Companys stock ownership

guidelines which have been met by all NEOs as described below in the Other Compensation Policies

section under the heading Executive OThcer Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Board recognizes the potentially dilutive impact of equity awards The Companys equity award

practices are designed to balance the impact of dilut on and the Companys ed to remain competitive by

recruiting retaining and providing incentives for highperforming employees

Restrictod Stock Unit Awards

RSU awards provide for the issuance of shares of the Companys common stock to the award recipient

upon vesting provided that the recipient remains err ployed with the Company through each vesting date

Shares of the Companys common stock equal to the portion of the RSU award that has ye ted are ssued

promptly upon the vesting date RSU awards provide for vesting over period of three ye rs from the gront

date 34% of the RSU award will vest on the first vesting date and 33% of the PSU award will vest on each

of the second and third vesting dates The vestinq date each year is the third business day following the

Companys public release of its annual earnings for the preceding fiscal year but not later than

November 15 of the vesting year Payme it of required withholding taxes due with respect to the vesting of

the RSU awards if any will be covered through withholding of shares by thc Company The Co irpany will

issue net number of shares to the recipient for vested RSU award after withholding vhares having

value as of the vosting date equal to the required tax withholding obligation

Market Share Unit Awards

MSU awards granted to the NEOs for fiscal year 2013 provide for perforrnancebasrd vesting over

performance measurement period of three fiscal years ending August 31 2015 the Moe urement Period

The recipient must remain employed with the Company for vesting purposes until the date on which the

Committee certifies achievement of the requisite performance provided for in the MSU Award Agreement

number of shares of the Companys common stock equal to an Applicable Perccntae the target

MSU awards provide for performance based vesting over performance measurement period of three

fiscal years ending on August 31st of the third calendar year tied to the Company TSR rather than other

performance measures used previously for PSU awards and that have hktorically provided the basis for

non equity borus compensation and

2O13PoxySt ornent 24
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PERFORMANCE bHARE UN AWARD VESTING FOR HSCAL YEAR 2013 PERFORMANCE
AeHIEVEMEr4T

Otober 013 err mrttce certrfcd achievsri ont of the Aggregate Rcvenue Growth and Gross

Marg oerforman rsu for thc porte manc ireasurament period ended August 31 2013 for

rpcis cal ating the vo ccl nu irb shares of the Companys common stock for PSU awards

irtel tie NL ctob 2011 Ihc following abl3 sets forth the calculated Aggregate Revonue

owt and os Mare th measur rient pc nc ended ugust 31 2013 and Apphcable Percentage

ach pr or nar or mcai and Sc Aolicnbls Porcontage of tho Target Number of shares underlymg

tF 5Uwd
Caiculaced Appiicabic

Pertormance Measure Percentage

Aj Recraa ravS 104%

a03% 10/5%

Aeplicable Per entage of Target Number of Shares 80 75%

tc jr ito NEOs ir Octobor 2011 thc NEOs were thus ehgible to roceive 80 /5%

tic oge Nun be si re thc or p3nyv corn no stock undorlying the PSU award the fol owing

Gb ets odE th Jarg Number and vitod number of shires underlying the ESU award grantod to

it NiGi cr20

cu Off cr rarget Nu Tiber Vested iares

03 Ridge 7158 /80

yW Pembot 2147 1734

itichaI Irwin 1432 1156

14 1134

______I 432

BENEFITS AND PERQUIS fES

It ca wit ct Dc ar employees the NF03 are provided with stand 3rd hea th snd welfare

fits fur
ity

to rt cip9te in the WD 40 Compa iy Profit Shar ng/401 Plan thc

Ic rv do iu vec utive officers including the NE0s with lax advantaged

me inc 3ddi oh core per en of eve rail or ipen cation Employees have thr right to ir vest

th rpanys rEu Elan in Company Stock Fund invested in shards of the Compaiy
or ir ft ic iv other ir vest nent cho ces available under the lan

Ihe 5cr it hi iii taii ii dvdu Scpperienal Death Benefit PUn agreements with each of the NEOs

in Mr Nob Co pa upplorr ontal Death Bencfit Plan agreemer oF llgatio are funded

nur cc lcic cwnol thc Cornohry

ipa iy ov do so hic to ts xccutive officers arid private health insurant for

Fl in xc it erige avail ib to other Co npany employees in the United Kingdom ihe co

soc 31 rqi Cit ir oth personai benefits provided to the NEOs ire included in the

urr ia ri nsatior aM low an ey ar separa ely identified in the footnot lisolosure of such

rqu ite id oth ocr onal its icluded with the Summary Compe nscrtion Table

it Ce rirnittee in ido the os of the to egeing hoe Ith arid welfare benefits and rq isites in cennectior

ti priv cf Fr foCI conpensation for ef our NEC All such costs re coiisideied approp iate

so mittec bj ctivc attractnq retaining high quality executive offic rs because

hey om rr cor ipe isation fc enior executives nd are expected by uch execut yes when

ci ilerco ipctnoccrniei atioi ckigs



POSTEMPLOYMbNT OBUGATIONS

fhe Company has change of control severance agrc ements with each of the NE Os hr spaudic to ms of

the agreements are described in detail below under the heading Change of Control Sever3no

Agreements he agreements were entered into with our executive officers after extens ye review by the

Committee and the Board of Directors and neqotir tion with the executive officers to replace previously

existing employment agreement Consideration was given to possible inclusion of soveiance compensation

to be paid to the executive officers in the event of the termination of eniployrnent without cause or for good

rrason without regard to the existence of changc of control of the Company No such provCion re

included irid severance compensation payable only following termination of err plovrnenf without

cause or for good reason within two years following change of control of the ompany as the quoted

termr are defined in the severance agreements

The Committee believes that the ctiange ontrol swernce agreements help ensure the best intr rests of

stockhold rs by fostering continuous employment of key management personnel As is the cae in many

public companies the possibility of an unsolicited change of control exists The uncertainty among

mariagemeirt that ri arise from possible change of control can result in the uritir iely departure or

distraction of key executive officers Reasonable change of control severance aqrcements rr inforc

continued atten ion and dedication of executive officers to their assigned duties and support the

Committees objective of retaining high quality executives

OVERALL REASONABLENESS OF COMPENSATION

lh Commntte believe that the Company is ach eying it compensation objectives and in particular

reward xerutive officers for driving oper tional suc ess and stockholder value creation Based or reviews

of tally cheots and pay for performance analysis by the Committee arnd in light of the Comparys

compensc tion objectives the Committee and the Board of Directors believe that the pay iix and target pay

position relative to ni arket for ear Ii of the NLOs are reasonable and appropriate The payfor performance

analysis includes review of the individual compon ants of executive officer compensation that are tied to

Company performance as mea urod by identified performance metrics as well the price of the

rnpany common stock In particular the Comm ttee rcviews executive ofhc or ho iu co Tipensation

determine whether it appropriately rewards individu efforts directed toward the achir vement of specific

target levels of Company performance and does not otherwise provide rewards in the absence of

reasonable measures of individual and Company cuccess Similarly with respect to equity awards the

Committee considers the effectiveness of such awards ir providing reasonable incentive to the executive

officers to pursue the achievement of performance targets for increasing evenues gross marg and

profitability without in ppropri ately rewarding the executive oflicems if performance targets are riot actiievc

over the long term

Ihe following table sets forth the total compensahcn for each of our NEOs as reportrd based on cash

compensation received as base salary and performance incentive bonus p1cm the grant Ac fair value of

equity awards for fiscal year 2013 toqether with the relative market percentile for each NE

Annual Grant Vaiu of otal otai Comp
Excutrve fficcr Base Salary Bonus rrned Stock Awards Compensation Received vs Maket

Carry Ridge $601147 $571815 $546039 $1719601 55 percentile

JayW Rernbolt $275010 $1 56 110 $113691 545411 50111 percertile

MichaelJ Irwin $312090 $11238 9o992 Slh42f 4flttpereertrle

Michael ieeman $310 600 $176 918 $136489 623 907 551 percentile

William Noble $325284 $185462 95 533 606219 80th percentile

Stock Awards arc reported at their grant datr far Sues information corrccrriin rich iwards for fiscal year 20 13 ix set forth

bc ow the table und thr hcadrng iran of P/sir Based Awards Fiscal Ye ii 20

Mr NoSes sa ory and bonus amount have been onverted from rx rinds sterling ot air average annuai exchange rate for

fiscal yrar 20 of $1 bOSS per pound

IaJ Proxy te nen
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PART

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the safe harbor provisions of the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 All statements other than those that are purely historical are

forward-looking statements which reflect the Companys current views with respect to future events and financial

performance

These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties The words aim believe

expect anticipate intend estimate and other expressions that indicate future events and trends identify

forward-looking statements These statements include but are not limited to references to the near-term growth

expectations for multi-purpose maintenance products and homecare and cleaning products the impact of changes in

product distribution competition for shelf space the impact of competition on product pricing the level of

promotional and advertising spending plans for and success of product innovation the impact of new product

introductions on the growth of sales the impact of customer mix and costs of raw materials components and

finished goods costs on gross margins the impact of promotional programs on sales the rate of sales growth in the

Asia-Pacific segment direct European countries and Eastern and Northern Europe foreign currency exchange rates

and fluctuations in those rates the impact of changes in inventory management the effect of future income tax

provisions and audit outcomes on tax rates and the effects of and changes in worldwide economic conditions and

legal proceedings and other risk factors identified in Item IA of this report The Company undertakes no obligation

to revise or update any forward-looking statements

As used in this report the terms we our us and the Company refer to WD-40 Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise Amounts and percents in tables and discussions may not

total due to rounding

Item Business

Overview

WD-40 Company is global consumer products company dedicated to delivering unique high value and easy-to-

use solutions for wide variety of maintenance needs of doer and on-the-job users by leveraging and building

the brand fortress of the Company The Company was founded in 1953 and its headquarters are located in San

Diego California For more than four decades the Company sold only one product WD40 multi-purpose

maintenance product which acts as lubricant rust preventative penetrant cleaner and moisture displacer Over the

years the Company has further developed the WD-40 brand and acquired several brands worldwide many of which

have been homecare and cleaning product brands in order to build fortress of brands that deliver unique high

value to end users In addition some of these brand acquisitions have provided the Company with access to existing

distribution channels for other of its existing brands and have also provided the Company with economies of scale in

areas such as sales manufacturing and administration The Companys acquisitions include the following

3INONE brand of general purpose
and specialty maintenance products in fiscal year 1996

Lava brand of heavy-duty hand cleaners in fiscal year 1999

2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl cleaners X14 automatic toilet bowl cleaners and Carpet
Fresh

rug

and room deodorizers all of which were associated with the Global Household Brands acquisition and

Solvol brand of heavy-duty hand cleaners in Australia in fiscal year 2001

Spot
Shot brand whose primary product was carpet stain remover in fiscal year 2002 and

tOOl line of carpet and household cleaners in the United Kingdom U.K in fiscal year 2004

The Company is focused on and committed to innovation and renovation of its products The Company sees

innovation and renovation as important factors to the long-term growth of its brands and it intends to continue to

work on future product packaging and promotional innovations and renovations The Company is also focused on

expanding its current brands in existing markets with new product development The Companys product

development team supports new product development and current product improvement for the Companys brands

Over the years the Companys research and development team has made an innovation impact on most of the

Companys brands Key innovations for the Companys products include but are not limited to WD-40 Smart

Straw WD-40 Trigger Pro 3-IN-ONE Professional Garage Door LubeTM Spot Shot Pet CleanTM which is non

aerosol Spot Shot trigger product Blue Works product line and mildew stain remover under the X- 14 brand In

addition the Company launched new WD-40 Specialist product line which consists of certain specialty



maintenance products aimed at an expanded group of end users that currently uses WD-40 multi-use product during

fiscal year 2012 The Company also formed WD-40 Bike Company LLC new business unit focused on the

development of comprehensive line of bicycle maintenance products for cyclists and mechanics during the fourth

quarter of fiscal year 2012 The Company launched the WD-40 BikeTM product line in the United States U.S
during fiscal year 2013

The Companys core strategic initiatives and the areas where it will continue to focus its time talent and resources

in future periods include maximizing the WD-40 brand through geographic expansion and market penetration

ii leveraging the WD-40 brand to develop new products and categories within the Companys prioritized

platforms iii expanding product and revenue base iv attracting developing and retaining people and

operating with excellence

The Companys brands are sold in various locations around the world Multi-purpose maintenance products are sold

worldwide in markets throughout North Central and South America Asia Australia and the Pacific Rim Europe

the Middle East and Africa Homecare and cleaning products are sold primarily in North America the U.K and

Australia

Financial Information about Operating Segments

The Companys operating segments are determined consistent with the way management organizes and evaluates

financial information internally for making operating decisions and assessing performance The Company is

organized on the basis of geographical area into the following three segments

Americas segment consists of the U.S Canada and Latin America

Europe Middle East and Africa EMEA segment consists of countries in Europe the Middle East and

Africa and

Asia-Pacific segment consists of Australia China and other countries in the Asia region

The Companys management reviews product performance on the basis of sales which comes from its two product

groups multi-purpose maintenance products and homecare and cleaning products The Company sells its products

primarily through mass retail and home center stores warehouse club stores grocery stores hardware stores

automotive parts outlets sport retailers independent bike dealers and industrial distributors and suppliers The

financial information required by this item is included in Note 16 Business Segments and Foreign Operations of

the Companys consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 of this report and in Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in Item of this report

Products

Multi-Purpose Maintenance Products

The WD-40 brand is market leader among multi-purpose maintenance products and is sold as an aerosol spray

non-aerosol trigger spray
and in liquid form through mass retail stores hardware stores warehouse club stores

automotive parts outlets and industrial distributors and suppliers WD-40 products are sold worldwide in markets

such as North Central and South America Asia Australia and the Pacific Rim Europe the Middle East and Africa

WD-40 products have wide variety of consumer uses in for example household marine automotive

construction repair sporting goods and gardening applications in addition to numerous industrial applications

The 3-IN-ONE brand consists of multi-purpose drip oil and spray lubricant products as well as other specialty

maintenance products The drip oil is an entry-level lubricant with unique spout options that allow precise

applications for small mechanisms and assemblies tool maintenance and threads on screws and bolts 3-IN-ONE Oil

is the market share leader among drip oils for household consumers It also has wide industrial applications in such

areas as locksmithing HVAC marine farming construction and jewelry manufacturing In addition to the drip oil

line of products the 3-IN-ONE brand also includes professional line of products known as 3-IN-ONE

Professional which is line of high quality great value multi-purpose maintenance products The high quality of

the 3-IN-ONE brand and its established distribution network have enabled these products to gain international

acceptance 3-IN-ONE products are sold primarily in the U.S Europe Canada Latin America Australia and Asia

The Blue Works brand consists of line of industrial grade specialty maintenance products that include lubricants

penetrants degreasers and cleaners designed specifically for the needs of industrial users Blue Works products were



launched in the U.S during the second quarter of fiscal year 2010 and in selected markets in Europe in early fiscal

year
2011 Since sales of the Blue Works products have not been material since its launch the Company started to

discontinue sales of this brand in the U.S in fiscal year 2013 The Company expects to phase out sales of the Blue

Works products in most locations in the near term Due to the phasing out of the Blue Works brand discussions of

this brand will not be included in the Companys future reports

WD-40 Specialist consists of line of best-in-class performing specialty problem solving products that include

penetrants water resistant silicone sprays
corrosion inhibitors and rust removers that are aimed at an expanded

group
of end users that currently uses the WD-40 multi-use product The Company launched the WD-40 Specialist

product line in the U.S during the first quarter of fiscal year 2012 and in Canada and select countries in Latin

America Asia and Europe throughout fiscal years 2012 and 2013 The launch of this product line has used the same

established distribution channels where the Company currently sells its existing products

WD-40 Bike Company LLC is business unit that the Company formed as part of its focus on global innovation and

product development The WD-40 Bike product line consists of comprehensive line of bicycle maintenance

products that include wet and dry chain lubricants heavy-duty degreasers foaming bike wash and frame protectants

that are designed specifically for the avid cyclist bike enthusiasts and mechanics The Company started to launch

certain products in this line in the U.S during the first quarter of fiscal year 2013 but the focus for such sales has

been to smaller independent bike dealers rather than larger retailers As result of this initial sales have been

immaterial and sales are expected to remain immaterial in the near term

Homecare and Cleaning Products

The X-14 brand is line of quality products designed for unique cleaning needs X-14 is sold as liquid mildew

stain remover and two types of automatic toilet bowl cleaners X-14 is sold primarily in the U.S through grocery

and mass retail channels

The 2000 Flushes brand is line of long-lasting automatic toilet bowl cleaners which includes variety of formulas

2000 Flushes is sold primarily in the U.S and Canada through grocery
and mass retail channels

The Carpet Fresh brand is line of room and
rug

deodorizers sold as powder aerosol foam and trigger spray

products Carpet Fresh is sold primarily through grocery
and mass retail channels in the U.S U.K and Australia In

the U.K Carpet Fresh is sold under the 1001 brand name In Australia Carpet Fresh is sold under the No Vac brand

name

The Spot Shot brand is sold as an aerosol carpet stain remover and liquid trigger carpet stain and odor eliminator

The brand also includes environmentally friendly products such as Spot Shot Instant Carpet Stain Odor

EliminatorTM and Spot Shot Pet Clean which are non-toxic and biodegradable Spot Shot products are sold

primarily through grocery and mass retail channels warehouse club stores and hardware and home center stores in

the U.S and Canada Spot Shot products are also sold in the U.K under the 1001 brand name

The 1001 brand includes carpet and household cleaners and
rug

and room deodorizers which are sold primarily

through mass retail grocery and home center stores in the U.K The brand was acquired to introduce the Companys

other homecare and cleaning product formulations under the 1001 brand in order to expand the Companys

homecare and cleaning products business into the U.K market

The Lava and Solvol brands consist of heavy-duty hand cleaner products which are sold in bar soap
and liquid form

through hardware grocery industrial automotive and mass retail channels Lava is sold primarily in the U.S while

Solvol is sold exclusively in Australia

The homecare and cleaning products are considered harvest brands providing positive returns to the Company but

they are becoming smaller part of the business as the multi-purpose maintenance products sales grow as the

Company executes its core strategic initiatives The Company began to evaluate the strategic alternatives for certain

of its homecare and cleaning products during the third quarter of fiscal year
2013 To date no decisions have been

made relative to the future strategic plans for these brands

Financial information about operating segments and product lines is included in Note 16 Business Segments and

Foreign Operations of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 of this report



Sales and Marketing

The Companys sales do not reflect any significant degree of seasonality However it is common for the Companys

sales to fluctuate from period to period or year to year due to various factors including but not limited to new or lost

distribution the number of product offerings carried by customer and the level of promotional activities and

programs being run at customer locations New or lost distribution occurs when the Company gains or loses

customers it gains or loses store count for customer or its products are added to new locations within store or

removed from existing locations From time to time as part of new product offering launches the Company may

gain access to entirely new distribution channels The number of product offerings refers to the number of brands

and/or the number of products within each of those brands that the Companys customers offer for sale to end user

customers The level of promotional activities and programs relates to the number of events or volumes of purchases

by customers in support of off-shelf or promotional display activities Changes in any one of these three factors or

combination of them can cause the Companys sales levels to increase or decrease from period to period It is also

common and/or possible that the Company could lose distribution or product offerings and experience decrease in

promotional activities and programs in one period and subsequently regain this business in future period The

Company is accustomed to such fluctuations and manages this as part of its normal business activities

Sources and Availability of Components and Raw Materials

The Company relies on limited number of suppliers including single or sole suppliers for certain of its raw

materials packaging product components and other necessary supplies The Companys primary components and

raw materials include aerosol cans and petroleum-based products which are manufactured from commodities that

are subject to volatile price changes The availability of these components and raw materials is affected by variety

of supply and demand factors including global market trends plant capacity decisions and natural disasters The

Company expects these components and raw materials to continue to be readily available in the future although the

Company will continue to be exposed to volatile price changes

Research and Development

The Company recognizes the importance of innovation and renovation to its long-term success and is focused on

and committed to research and new product development activities The Companys product development team

engages
in consumer research product development including those associated with the WD-40 Bike business unit

current product improvement and testing activities The product development team also leverages its development

capabilities by partnering with network of outside resources including the Companys current and prospective

outsource suppliers In addition the research and development team engages
in activities and product development

efforts which are necessary to ensure that the Company meets all regulatory requirements for the formulation of its

products The Company incurred research and development expenses
of $7.2 million $5.1 million and $5.5 million

in fiscal years 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively None of this research and development activity was customer-

sponsored

Manufacturing

The Company outsources directly or through its marketing distributors the manufacturing of its finished products to

various third-party contract manufacturers The Company or its marketing distributors use contract manufacturers in

the United States Canada Mexico Brazil Argentina Columbia the U.K Italy Australia Japan China South

Korea and India Although the Company does not typically have definitive minimum purchase obligations included

in the contract terms with its contract manufacturers when such obligations have been included they have been

immaterial to date Supply needs are communicated by the Company to its contract manufacturers and the

Company is committed to purchase the products manufactured based on orders and short-term projections ranging

from two to five months provided to the contract manufacturers The Company also formulates and manufactures

concentrate used in its WD-40 products at its own facilities and at third-party contract manufacturers

In addition to the commitments to purchase products from contract manufacturers described above the Company

may also enter into commitments with other manufacturers from time to time to purchase finished goods and

components to support innovation initiatives and/or supply chain initiatives



Order Backlog

Order backlog is not significant factor in the Companys business

Competition

The markets for the Companys products particularly those related to its homecare and cleaning products are

highly competitive The Companys products compete both within their own product classes as well as within

product distribution channels competing with many other products for store placement and shelf space

Competition in international markets varies by country The Company is aware of many competing products some

of which sell for lower prices or are produced and marketed by companies with greater financial resources than

those of the Company The Company relies on the awareness of its brands among consumers the value offered by

those brands as perceived by consumers product innovation and renovation and its multiple channel distributions as

its primary strategies New products typically encounter intense competition which may require advertising and

promotional support and activities When or if new product achieves consumer acceptance ongoing advertising

and promotional support may be required in order to maintain its relative market position

Trademarks and Patents

The Company owns numerous patents but relies primarily upon its established trademarks brand names and

marketing efforts including advertising and sales promotion to compete effectively The WD-40 brand 3-IN-ONE

Blue Works Lava Solvol X-14 2000 Flushes Carpet Fresh and No Vac Spot Shot and 1001 trademarks are

registered or have pending registration in various countries throughout the world

Employees

At August 31 2013 the Company employed 369 people worldwide 154 by the United States parent corporation

by the Malaysia subsidiary by the Canada subsidiary 134 by the U.K subsidiary including 59 in the U.K 26 in

Germany 25 in France 16 in Spain and in Italy 17 by the Australia subsidiary 45 by the China subsidiary by

WD-40 Bike Company and by WD-40 Manufacturing Company the Companys manufacturing subsidiary

Financial Information about Foreign and Domestic Operations

For detailed information about the Companys foreign and domestic operations including net sales by reportable

segment and long-lived assets by geography refer to Note 16 Business Segments and Foreign Operations of the

consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 of this report

Access to SEC Filings

The Companys Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K

and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended are available through the Investors section of the Companys website at

www.wd40company.com These reports can be accessed free of charge from the Companys website as soon as

reasonably practicable after the Company electronically files such materials with or furnishes them to the Securities

and Exchange Commission SEC Information contained on the Companys website is not included as part of

or incorporated by reference into this report

Interested readers may also read and copy any materials that the Company files at the SEC Public Reference Room

at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 Readers may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains an internet site www.sec.gov

that contains the Companys reports

Item 1A Risk Factors

The following risks and uncertainties as well as other factors described elsewhere in this report or in other SEC

filings by the Company could adversely affect the Companys business financial condition and results of

operations



The Companys financial results could suffrr if the Company is unable to implement and successfully manage its

core strategic initiatives or if the Companys core strategic initiatives do not achieve the intended results

There is no assurance that the Company will be able to implement and successfully manage its core strategic

initiatives including its five major strategic initiatives or that the core strategic initiatives will achieve the intended

results which include sales volume growth The Companys five major strategic initiatives include maximizing

the WD-40 brand through geographic expansion and market penetration ii leveraging the WD-40 brand to develop

new products and categories within the Companys prioritized platforms iii expanding product and revenue base

iv attracting developing and retaining people and operating with excellence If the Company is unable to

implement and successfully manage its core strategic initiatives in accordance with its business plans the

Companys business and financial results could be adversely affected Moreover the Company cannot be certain

that implementation of its core strategic initiatives will necessarily advance its business or financial results as

intended

Cost increases in finished goods components raw materials transportation and other necessary supplies or

services could harm the Company sfinancial condition and results of operations

Increases in the cost of finished goods components and raw materials and increases in the cost of transportation and

other necessary supplies or services may harm the Companys financial condition and results of operations

Petroleum-based products and aerosol cans which constitute significant portion of the costs for many of the

Companys products have experienced significant price volatility in the past and may continue to do so in the

future Fluctuations in oil and diesel fuel prices have also impacted the Companys cost of transporting its products

As component and raw material costs are the principal contributors to the cost of goods sold for all of the

Companys products any significant fluctuation in the costs of components and raw materials could have material

impact on the gross margins realized on the Companys products Specifically the costs of petroleum-based

materials which are included in many of the Companys products are exposed to fluctuations resulting from the

increase in the cost of petroleum and there has been significant volatility in such costs in recent years In the event

there is significant volatility in the Companys cost of goods or increases in raw material and/or component costs or

the costs of transportation and other necessary supplies or services the Company may not be able to maintain its

gross margins if it chooses not to raise its product sales prices Should the Company choose to increase product sales

prices to offset cost increases such increases may adversely affect demand and unit sales Sustained increases in the

cost of raw materials components transportation and other
necessary supplies or services or significant volatility in

such costs could have material adverse effect on the Companys financial condition and results of operations

Reliance on limited base of third-party contract manufacturers logistics providers and suppliers of raw

materials and components may result in disruption to the Companys business and this could adversely afftct the

Companys financial condition and results of operations

The Company relies on limited number of third-party contract manufacturers logistics providers and suppliers

including single or sole source suppliers for certain of its raw materials packaging product components and other

necessary supplies The Company does not have direct control over the management or business of these third

parties except indirectly through terms negotiated in service or supply contracts Should the terms of doing business

with the Companys primary third-party contract manuflicturers suppliers and/or logistics providers change or

should the Company have disagreement with or be unable to maintain relationships with such third parties or

should such third parties experience financial difficulties the Companys business may be disrupted In addition if

the Company is unable to contract with third-party manufacturers or suppliers for the quantity and quality levels

needed for its business the Company could experience disruptions in production and its financial results could be

adversely affected

Global economic conditions may negatively impact the Company sfinancial condition and results of operations

general weakening or decline in the global economy or reduction in business or consumer spending or

confidence could delay or significantly decrease purchases of the Companys products by its customers including

mass retail and home center stores warehouse club stores grocery stores hardware stores automotive parts outlets

and industrial distributors and suppliers Consumer purchases of discretionary items which could include the

Companys multi-purpose maintenance products and homecare and cleaning products may decline during periods

where disposable income is reduced or there is economic uncertainty and this may negatively impact the

Companys financial condition and results of operations During unfavorable or uncertain economic times

consumers may also increase purchases of lower-priced or non-branded products and the Companys competitors



may increase their level of promotional activities to maintain sales volumes both of which may negatively impact

the Companys financial condition and results of operations In addition adverse global economic conditions could

result in lower level of manufacturing and industrial activities particularly in areas such as China where the

Company primarily sells its products through the industrial channel

The Companys sales and operating results may be affected by uncertain or changing economic and market

conditions including inflation deflation prolonged weak consumer demand or other changes which may affect the

principal markets in which the Company conducts its business If economic or market conditions in the United

States or other key global markets deteriorate the Company may experience material adverse effects on its business

financial condition and results of operations In recent years the banking system and financial markets have

experienced disruptions including among other things bank failures and consolidations diminished liquidity and

credit availability and rating downgrades In addition global markets have continued to experience adverse

conditions in recent periods particularly in Europe where there are ongoing concerns regarding
the increased

sovereign debt levels in several countries and the inability of some of those countries to meet future financial

obligations and the associated overall volatility of the Euro currency Although these factors are outside of the

Companys control they directly affect its business The slow pace of economic recovery or any new economic

downturn or recession could cause the Companys customers to delay or significantly decrease their purchases

which could reduce the Companys future sales and negatively impact its results of operations and cash flows

Adverse economic and market conditions could also harm the Companys business by negatively affecting the

parties with whom it does business including its customers retailers distributors and wholesalers and third-party

contract manufacturers and suppliers These conditions could impair the ability of the Companys customers to pay

for products they have purchased from the Company As result allowances for doubtful accounts and write-offs of

accounts receivable from the Companys customers may increase In addition the Companys third-party contract

manufacturers and its suppliers may experience financial difficulties that could negatively affect their operations and

their ability to supply the Company with finished goods and the raw materials packaging and components required

for the Companys products

Sales volume growth may be difficult to achieve

The Companys ability to achieve sales volume growth will depend on its ability to execute its core strategic

initiatives ii drive growth within its existing markets through innovation renovation and enhanced merchandising

and marketing of its established brands iii introduce its products to new users and iv capture market share from

its competitors It is more difficult for the Company to achieve sales volume growth in mature markets where the

Companys products are widely used as compared to in developing markets where the Companys products have

been newly introduced or are not well known by consumers In order to protect the Companys existing market share

or capture additional market share from its competitors the Company may need to increase its expenditures related

to promotions and advertising or introduce and establish new products or product lines In past periods the

Company has also increased sales prices on certain of its products in response to increased costs for components and

raw materials Sales price increases may slow sales volume growth or create declines in volume in the short term as

customers adjust to sales price increases In addition change in the strategies of the Companys existing

customers including shelf simplification the discontinuation of certain product offerings or the shift in shelf space

to competitors products could reduce the Companys sales and potentially offset sales volume increases achieved as

result of other sales growth initiatives If the Company is unable to increase market share in its existing product

lines by developing product improvements investing adequately in its existing brands building usage among new

customers developing acquiring or successfully launching new products or product line extensions or successfully

penetrating new and developing markets globally the Company may not achieve its sales volume growth objectives

The Company faces significant competition in its markets which could lead to reduced profitability

The Company faces significant competition from other consumer products companies both in the U.S and in other

global markets Many of the Companys products particularly its homecare and cleaning products compete with

other widely advertised brands within each product category and with private label brands and generic non-

branded products of the Companys customers in certain categories which are typically sold at lower prices The

Company also encounters competition from similar and alternative products many of which are produced and

marketed by major national or multinational companies In addition from time to time the Company discovers

products in the marketplace that are counterfeit reproductions of its products The availability of counterfeits of the

Companys products particularly in China and Russia could adversely impact the Companys sales and potentially

damage the value and reputation of its brands
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The Companys products generally compete on the basis of product performance brand recognition price quality

or other benefits to consumers and meeting end users needs Advertising promotions merchandising and packaging

also have significant impact on consumer purchasing decisions newly introduced consumer product whether

improved or recently developed usually encounters intense competition requiring substantial expenditures for

advertising sales and consumer promotion If product gains consumer acceptance it normally requires continued

advertising promotional support and product improvements in order to maintain its relative market position

Some of the Companys competitors are larger and have financial resources greater than those of the Company

These competitors may be able to spend more aggressively on advertising and promotional activities introduce

competing products more quickly and respond more effectively to changing business and economic conditions than

the Company In addition the Companys competitors may attempt to gain market share and shelf space by offering

products at sales prices at or below those typically offered by the Company

Competitive activity may require the Company to increase its investment in marketing or reduce its sales prices and

this may lead to reduced profit margins loss of market share or loss of distribution each of which could have

material adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition and results of operations There can be no

assurance that the Company will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors or that

competitive pressures
faced by the Company will not have material adverse effect on its business financial

condition and results of operations

Global operations outside the U.S expose the Company to uncertain conditions foreign currency exchange rate

risk and other risks in international markets

The Companys sales outside of the U.S were approximately 61% of consolidated net sales in fiscal year 2013 and

one of its core strategic initiatives includes maximizing the WD-40 brand through geographic expansion and market

penetration As result the Company currently faces and will continue to face substantial risks associated with

having increased global operations outside the U.S including

economic or political instability in the Companys international markets including Latin America the

Middle East parts of Asia Russia Eastern Europe and the Eurozone countries

restrictions on or costs relating to the repatriation of foreign profits to the U.S including possible taxes

or withholding obligations on any repatriations

challenges associated with conducting business in foreign jurisdictions

increasing complexity associated with operating in multiple international tax jurisdictions

dispersed employee base and compliance with employment regulations and other labor issues including

unionization and minimum wages in countries outside the U.S and

the imposition of tariffs or trade restrictions and costs burdens and restrictions associated with other

governmental actions

These risks could have significant impact on the Companys ability to sell its products on competitive basis in

global markets outside the U.S and could have material adverse effect on the Companys business financial

condition and results of operations

The Company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to its sales expenses profits

assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S dollar Although the Company uses instruments

to hedge certain foreign currency risks primarily those associated with its U.K subsidiary it is not fully protected

against foreign currency
fluctuations and therefore the Companys reported earnings may be affected by changes in

foreign currency exchange rates Moreover any favorable impacts to profit margins or financial results from

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates are likely to be unsustainable over time Also the current and

ongoing European financial restructuring efforts may cause the value of the European currencies particularly the

Euro to further deteriorate thus reducing the purchasing power of certain European customers which could have

material adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition and results of operations

Additionally the Companys global operations outside the U.S are subject to risks relating to appropriate

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements in local jurisdictions potential difficulties in staffing and

managing local operations potentially higher incidence of fraud or corruption credit risk of local customers and

distributors and potentially adverse tax consequences Also as the Company further develops and grows its business

operations outside the U.S the Company may be exposed to additional complexities and risks particularly in

emerging markets such as China In many foreign countries particularly in those with developing economies it may
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be local custom for company which operates in such countries to engage in business practices that are prohibited

by the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act FCPA the U.K Bribery Act or other applicable laws and regulations

Although the Company has adopted policies and contract terms to mandate compliance with these laws there can

be no assurance that all of its employees contractors and agents will comply with the Companys requirements

Violations of these laws could be costly and disrupt the Companys business which could have material adverse

effect on its business financial condition and results of operations

Dependence on key customers could adversely affect the Companys business financial condition and results of

operations

The Company sells its products through network of domestic and international mass retail and consumer retailers

as well as industrial distributors and suppliers The retail industry has historically been the subject of consolidation

due to economic events and as result the development of large chain stores has taken place Today the retail

channel in the U.S is comprised of several of these large chain stores that capture the bulk of the market share

Since many of the Companys customers have been part of the consolidation in the retail industry these limited

customers account for large percentage of the Companys net sales The Company expects that significant

portion of its revenues will continue to be derived from this limited number of customers As result changes in the

strategies of the Companys largest customers including shelf simplification reduction in the number of brands

they carry or shift in shelf space to private label or competitors products may harm the Companys sales The

loss of or reduction in orders from any of the Companys most significant customers could have material adverse

effect on the Companys brand values business financial condition and results of operations Large customers may
seek price reductions added support or promotional concessions If the Company agrees to such customer demands

and/or requests it could negatively impact the Companys ability to maintain existing profit margins

In addition the Companys business is based primarily upon individual sales orders and the Company typically

does not enter into long-term contracts with its customers Accordingly these customers could reduce their

purchasing levels or cease buying products from the Company at any time and for any reason The Company is also

subject to changes in customer purchasing patterns or the level of promotional activities These types of changes

may result from changes in the manner in which customers purchase and manage inventory levels or display and

promote products within their stores Other potential factors such as customer disputes regarding shipments fees

merchandise condition or related matters may also impact operating results If the Company ceases doing business

with significant customer or if sales of its products to significant customer materially decrease the Companys

business financial condition and results of operations may be harmed

Government regulations and environmental laws and regulations could result in material costs or otherwise

adversely affrct the Company sfinancial condition and results of operations

The manufacturing chemical composition packaging storage distribution and labeling of the Companys products

and the manner in which the Companys business operations are conducted must comply with extensive federal

state and foreign laws and regulations such as the California Air Resources Board CARB regulations and the

California Transparency in Supply Chains Act as well as many others in the United States In addition the

Companys international operations are subject to regulations in each of the foreign jurisdictions in which it

manufactures distributes and sells its products If the Company is not successful in complying with the requirements

of all such regulations or changes to existing regulations it could be fined or other actions could he taken against the

Company by the governing body and this could adversely affect the Companys financial condition and results of

operations It is also possible that governments will increase regulation of the transportation storage or use of

certain chemicals to enhance homeland security or protect the environment and such regulation could negatively

impact the Companys ability to obtain raw materials components and/or finished goods or could result in increased

costs In the event that such regulations result in increased product costs the Company may not be in position to

raise selling prices and therefore an increase in costs could have material adverse effect on the Companys

business financial condition and results of operations

Some of the Companys products have chemical compositions that are controlled by various state federal and

international laws and regulations The Company is required to comply with these laws and regulations and it seeks

to anticipate regulatory developments that could impact the Companys ability to continue to produce and market its

products The Company invests in research and development to maintain product formulations that comply with

such laws and regulations There can be no assurance that the Company will not be required to alter the chemical

composition of one or more of the Companys products in way that will have an adverse effect upon the products

efficacy or marketability delay or other inability of the Company to complete product research and development
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and successfully reformulate its products in response to any such regulatory requirements could have material

adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition and results of operations

The Company is subject to new SEC rule mandated by Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act and this rule will require management to conduct due diligence and disclose and report on

whether certain minerals and metals known as conflict minerals are contained in the Companys products and

whether they originate from the Democratic Republic of Congo DRC and adjoining countries Among other

things the implementation of this rule could adversely affect the sourcing availability and pricing of such materials

if they are found to be used in the manufacture of the Companys products and this in turn could affect the costs

associated with the Companys products In addition there will be ongoing costs associated with the compliance and

disclosures for this new rule Since the Companys supply chain structure is complex management may have

difficulty verifying the origin of these materials and if they exist within the Companys products and as result the

Company may be unable to certify that its products are DRC conflict mineral free

The Company is also subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations that impose various environmental

controls on its business operations including among other things the discharge of pollutants into the air and water

the handling use treatment storage and clean-up of solid and hazardous wastes and the investigation and

remediation of soil and groundwater affected by hazardous substances Such laws and regulations may otherwise

relate to various health and safety matters that impose burdens upon the Companys operations These laws and

regulations govern
actions that may have adverse environmental effects and also require compliance with certain

practices when handling and disposing of hazardous wastes These laws and regulations also impose strict

retroactive and joint and several liability for the costs of and damages resulting from cleaning up current sites past

spills disposals and other releases of hazardous substances The Company believes that its expenditures related to

environmental matters have not had and are not currently expected to have material adverse effect on its financial

condition results of operations or cash flows However the environmental laws under which the Company operates

are complicated often become increasingly more stringent and may be applied retroactively Accordingly there can

be no assurance that the Company will not be required to incur additional expenditures to remain in or to achieve

compliance with environmental laws in the future or that any such additional expenditures will not have material

adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition or results of operations

If the success and reputation of one or more of the Companys leading brands erodes its business financial

condition and results of operations could be negatively impacted

The financial success of the Company is directly dependent on the success and reputation of its brands particularly

its WD-40 brand The success and reputation of the Companys brands can suffer if marketing plans or product

development and improvement initiatives do not have the desired impact on the brands image or do not attract

customers as intended The Companys brands can also be adversely impacted due to the activities and pressures

placed on them by the Companys competitors Further the Companys business financial condition and results of

operations could be negatively impacted if one of its leading brands suffers damage to its reputation due to real or

perceived quality or safety issues Quality issues which can lead to large scale recalls of the Companys products

can be due to items such as product contamination packaging errors and incorrect ingredients in the Companys

product Although the Company makes every effort to prevent brand erosion and preserve its reputation and the

reputation of its brands there can be no assurance that such efforts will be successful

The Company may not successfully develop introduce and/or establish new products and line extensions

The Companys future performance and growth depend in part on its ability to successfully develop introduce

and/or establish new products as both brand extensions and/or line extensions The Company cannot be certain that

it will successfully achieve those goals The Company competes in several product categories where there are

frequent introductions of new products and line extensions and such product introductions often require significant

investment and support The ability of the Company to understand consumer preferences is key to maintaining and

improving the competitiveness of its product offerings The development and introduction of new products as well

as the renovation of current products and product lines require substantial and effective research development and

marketing expenditures which the Company may be unable to recoup if the new or renovated products do not gain

widespread market acceptance There are inherent risks associated with new product development and marketing

efforts including product development or launch delays product performance issues during development changing

regulatory frameworks that affect the new products in development and the availability of key raw materials

included in such products These inherent risks could result in the failure of new products and product line

extensions to achieve anticipated levels of market acceptance additional costs resulting from failed product
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introductions and the Company not being first to market As the Company continues to focus on innovation and

renovation the Companys business financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected in the

event that the Company is not able to effectively develop and introduce new or renovated products and line or brand

extensions

Goodwill and intangible assets are subject to impairment risk

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on goodwill intangibles and other the Company assesses the potential

impairment of its existing goodwill during the second fiscal quarter of each fiscal year and otherwise when there is

evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment condition may exist The Company
also assesses its definite-lived intangible assets for potential impairment when events and circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable andlor its remaining useful life may no longer be

appropriate Indicators such as underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results changes

in the Companys strategy for its overall business or use of acquired assets unexpected negative industry or

economic trends decline in the Companys stock price for sustained period decreased market capitalization

relative to net book values unanticipated technological change or competitive activities loss of key distribution

change in consumer demand loss of key personnel and acts by governments and courts may signal that an asset has

become impaired

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 as part of the Companys ongoing evaluation of potential strategic

alternatives for certain of its homecare and cleaning products the Company determined based on its review of

events and circumstances that there were indicators of impairment for the Carpet Fresh and 2000 Flushes trade

names Management accordingly performed the Step recoverability test for these two trade names and based on

the results of this analysis it was determined that the total of the undiscounted cash flows significantly exceeded the

carrying value for the Carpet Fresh asset group and that no impairment existed for this trade name as of August 31
2013 However the Step analysis indicated that the carrying value of the asset group for the 2000 Flushes

exceeded its undiscounted future cash flows and consequently second phase of the impairment test Step was

performed specific to the 2000 Flushes trade name to determine whether this trade name is impaired Based on the

results of this Step analysis the 2000 Flushes asset groups estimated fair value was determined to be lower than

its carrying value Consequently the Company recorded non-cash before tax impairment charge of $1.1 million in

the fourth quarter of fiscal
year

2013 to reduce the carrying value of the 2000 Flushes asset to its fair value

An intangible asset valuation is dependent on number of significant estimates and assumptions including

macroeconomic conditions overall category growth rates sales growth rates cost containment and margin

expansion and expense levels for advertising and promotions and general overhead all of which must be developed

from market participant standpoint While the Company believes that the estimates and assumptions used in such

analyses are reasonable actual events and results could differ substantially from those included in the valuation In

the event that business conditions change in the future the Company may be required to reassess and update its

forecasts and estimates used in subsequent impairment analyses If the results of these future analyses are lower than

current estimates an additional impairment charge may result at that time For additional information refer to the

information set forth in Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets of the consolidated financial statements

included in Item 15 of this report

The Companys business development activities may not be successful

The Company seeks to increase growth through business development activities such as acquisitions joint ventures

licensing and/or other strategic partnerships in the United States and internationally However if the Company is not

able to identify acquire and successfully integrate acquired products or companies or successfully manage joint

ventures or other strategic partnerships the Company may not be able to maximize these opportunities The failure

to properly manage business development activities because of difficulties in the assimilation of operations and

products the diversion of managements attention from other business concerns the loss of key employees or other

factors could materially adversely affect the Companys business financial condition and results of operations In

addition there can be no assurance that the Companys business development activities will be profitable at their

inception or that they will achieve sales levels and profitability that justify the investments made

Future acquisitions joint ventures or strategic partnerships could also result in the incurrence of debt potentially

dilutive issuances of equity securities contingent liabilities amortization expenses related to certain intangible

assets and/or increased operating expenses all of which could adversely affect the Companys results of operations

and financial condition In addition to the extent that the economic benefits associated with any of the Companys
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business development activities diminish in the future the Company may be required to record impairments to

goodwill intangible assets or other assets associated with such activities which could also adversely affect the

Companys business financial condition and results of operations

The Companys operating results and financial performance may not meet expectations which could adversely

affrct the Companys stock price

The Company cannot be sure that its operating results and financial performance which include sales growth net

income earnings per common share gross margin and cash flows will meet expectations If the Companys

assumptions and estimates are incorrect or do not come to fruition or if the Company does not achieve all of its key

goals or core strategic initiatives then the Companys actual performance could vary materially from its internal

expectations and those of the market Failure to meet or exceed these expectations could cause the market price of

the Companys stock to decline The Companys operating results and financial performance may be negatively

influenced by number of factors many of which are discussed in this Item Risk Factors

In addition sales volume growth whether due to acquisitions or internal growth can place burdens on management

resources and financial controls that in turn can have negative impact on operating results and financial condition

of the Company To some extent the Company plans its expense levels in anticipation of future revenues If actual

revenues fall short of these expectations operating results may be adversely affected by reduced operating margins

due to actual expense levels that are higher than might otherwise have been appropriate

Failure to maximize or to successfully assert the Companys intellectual property rights or infringement by the

Company on the intellectual property rights of others could impact its competitiveness or otherwise adversely

affrct the Companys financial condition and results of operations

The Company relies on trademark trade secret patent and copyright laws to protect its intellectual property rights

Although the Company has established global enforcement program to protect its intellectual property rights there

can be no assurance that these intellectual property rights will be maximized or that they can be successfully

asserted There is risk that the Company will not be able to obtain and perfect its own intellectual property rights

or where appropriate license intellectual property rights necessary to support new product introductions The

Company cannot be certain that these rights if obtained will not be invalidated circumvented or challenged in the

future and the Company could incur significant costs in connection with legal actions to defend its intellectual

property rights In addition even if such rights are obtained in the United States it may be that the laws of some of

the other countries in which the Companys products are or may be sold do not protect intellectual property rights to

the same extent as the laws of the United States or they may be difficult to enforce If other companies infringe the

Companys intellectual property rights or take part in counterfeiting activities they may dilute the value of the

Companys brands in the marketplace which could diminish the value that consumers associate with the Companys

brands and harm its sales The failure of the Company to protect or successfully assert its intellectual property rights

or to protect its other proprietary information could make the Company less competitive and could have material

adverse effect on its business financial condition and results of operations

If the Company is found to have violated the trademark trade secret copyright patent or other intellectual property

rights of others such finding could result in the need to cease the use of trademark trade secret copyrighted

work or patented invention in the Companys business and an obligation to pay substantial amount for past

infringement It could also be necessary to pay substantial amount in the future if the holders of such rights are

willing to permit the Company to continue to use the intellectual property rights Either having to cease use or pay

such amounts could make the Company less competitive and could have material adverse impact on its business

financial condition and results of operations

Changes in marketing distributor relationships that are not managed successfully by the Company could result in

disruption in the affected markets

The Company distributes its products throughout the world in one of two ways the Direct Distribution model in

which products are sold directly by the Company to wholesalers and retailers in the U.S Canada Australia China

the U.K and number of other countries throughout Europe and the Marketing Distributor model in which

products are sold to marketing distributors who in turn sell to wholesalers and retailers The Marketing Distributor

model is generally used in certain countries where the Company does not have direct Company-owned operations

Instead the Company partners with local companies who perform the sales marketing and distribution functions

The Company invests time and resources in these relationships Should the Companys relationship with
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marketing distributor change or terminate the Companys sales within such marketing distributors territory could

be adversely impacted until such time as suitable replacement could be found and the Companys key marketing

strategies implemented There is risk that changes in such marketing distributor relationships including changes in

key marketing distributor personnel that are not managed successfully could result in disruption in the affected

markets and that such disruption could have material adverse effect on the Companys business financial

condition and results of operations Additionally in some countries local laws may require substantial payments to

terminate existing marketing distributor relationships which could also have material adverse effect on the

Companys business financial condition and results of operations

Resolution of income tax matters may impact the Company sfinancial condition and results of operations

Significant judgment is required in determining the Companys effective income tax rate and in evaluating tax

positions particularly those related to uncertain tax positions The Company provides for uncertain tax positions

when such tax positions do not meet the recognition thresholds or measurement standards prescribed by the

accounting standard for uncertain tax positions Changes in uncertain tax positions or other adjustments resulting

from tax audits and settlements with taxing authorities including related interest and penalties impact the

Companys effective tax rate When particular tax matters arise number of years may elapse before such matters

are audited and finally resolved Favorable resolution of such matters could be recognized as reduction to the

Companys effective tax rate in the
year

of resolution Unfavorable resolution of any tax matter could increase the

Companys effective tax rate Any resolution of tax matter may require the adjustment of tax assets or tax

liabilities or the use of cash in the
year

of resolution For additional information refer to the information set forth in

Note 13 Income Taxes of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 of this report

Product liability claims and other litigation and/or regulatory action could adversely afftct the Companys sales

and operating results

While the Company makes every effort to ensure that the products it develops and markets are safe for consumers

the use of the Companys products may expose the Company to liability claims resulting from such use Claims

could be based on allegations that among other things the Companys products contain contaminants provide

inadequate instructions regarding their use or inadequate warnings concerning their use or interactions with other

substances Product liability claims could result in negative publicity that could harm the Companys sales and

operating results The Company maintains product liability insurance that it believes will be adequate to protect the

Company from material loss attributable to such claims but the extent of such loss could exceed available limits of

insurance or could arise out of circumstances under which such insurance
coverage would be unavailable Other

business activities of the Company may also expose the Company to litigation risks including risks that may not be

covered by insurance such as contract disputes If successful claims are asserted by third parties against the

Company for uninsured liabilities or liabilities in excess of applicable limits of insurance coverage the Companys
business financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected In addition if one of the

Companys products were determined to be defective the Company could be required to recall the product which

could result in adverse publicity and significant expenses

Additionally the Companys products may be associated with competitor products or other products in the same

category which may be alleged to have caused harm to consumers As result of this association the Company may
be named in unwarranted legal actions The potential costs to defend such claims may materially affect the

Companys business financial condition and results of operations

The Company may experience djfficulties with or malfunctions of the critical information systems that it uses for

the daily operations of its business and this could adversely affect the Companys business financial condition

and results of operations

The Company relies extensively on information technology systems networks and services some of which are

managed hosted and provided by third-party service providers to conduct its business System failure malfunction

or loss of data which is housed in the Companys critical information systems could disrupt its ability to timely and

accurately process transactions and produce key financial reports including information on the Companys

operating results financial position and cash flows In addition information technology security threats and more

sophisticated computer crime
pose potential risk to the security of the Companys information technology systems

and networks as well as to the confidentiality availability and integrity of the Companys data The Companys
information systems could be damaged or cease to function properly due to number of reasons including

catastrophic events power outages and security breaches Although the Company has certain business continuity
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plans in place to address such service interruptions there is no guarantee that these business continuity plans will

provide alternative processes in timely manner As result the Company may experience interruptions in its

ability to manage its daily operations and this could adversely affect the Companys business financial condition

and results of operations

The information system that the U.S office uses for its business operations is market specific application which is

not widely used by other companies The company that owns and supports this application may not be able to

provide the same level of support as that of companies which own larger more widely spread information systems

If the company that supports this application in the U.S were to cease its operations or were unable to provide

continued support for this application it could adversely affect the Companys daily operations or its business

financial condition and results of operations

In addition the Companys U.K subsidiary is currently in the process of implementing major upgrade to its

critical information system This information system is used by the U.K subsidiary to process all of the daily

transactions for the U.K subsidiary and its branch offices located in Europe and to produce key financial reports for

the European operations If the U.K subsidiary experiences difficulties in implementing or going live with this

upgraded information system at its various locations the Company may experience interruptions in its ability to

manage its daily operations and report financial results and this could adversely affect the Companys business

financial condition and results of operations

The Company may not have sufficient cash to service its indebtedness or to pay cash dividends

The Companys current debt consists of revolving credit facility and management has used the proceeds of this

revolving credit facility primarily for stock repurchases In order to service such debt the Company is required to

use its income from operations to make interest and principal payments required by the terms of the loan

agreements In addition the Companys loan agreements typically include covenants to maintain certain financial

ratios and to comply with other financial terms conditions and covenants Also the Company has historically paid

out large part of its earnings to stockholders in the form of regular quarterly cash dividends In December 2012

the Board of Directors declared 7% increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend increasing it from $0.29 per

share to $0.31 per share

The Company may incur substantial debt in the future for acquisitions or other business development activities In

addition the Company may continue to use available cash balances to execute share repurchases under approved

share buy-back plans To the extent that the Company is required to seek additional financing to support certain of

these activities such financing may not be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to the Company If

the Company is unable to obtain such financing or to service its existing or future debt with its operating income or

if available cash balances are affected by future business performance liquidity capital needs alternative

investment opportunities or debt covenants the Company could be required to reduce suspend or eliminate its

dividend payments to its stockholders

Compliance with changing regulations and standards for accounting corporate governance and public

disclosure may result in additional expenses and this could negatively impact the Companys business financial

condition and results of operations

Changing laws regulations and standards relating to accounting and financial reporting corporate governance and

public disclosure including new SEC regulations such as those required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act new NASDAQ Stock Market rules new accounting requirements including any that

result from the joint convergence projects of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the International

Accounting Standards Board and the potential future requirement to transition to international financial reporting

standards may create uncertainty and additional burdens and complexities for the Company To maintain high

standards of accounting and financial reporting corporate governance and public disclosure the Company intends to

invest all reasonably necessary resources to comply with all such evolving standards and requirements These

investments may result in increased general and administrative expenses and diversion of management time and

attention from strategic revenue generating and cost management activities either of which could negatively impact

the Companys business financial condition and results of operations
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The operations of the Company and its third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers of raw materials and

components are subject to disruption by events beyond the Companys controL

Operations of the Company and the operations of its third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers of raw

materials and components are subject to disruption for variety of reasons including work stoppages acts of war

terrorism pandemics fire earthquakes hurricanes flooding or other natural disasters If major disruption were to

occur it could result in harm to people or the natural environment temporary loss of access to critical data delays in

shipments of products to customers supply chain disruptions increased costs for finished goods components and/or

raw materials or suspension of operations any of which could have material adverse effect on the Companys
business financial condition and results of operations Although the Company has certain business continuity plans

in place to respond to such events there is no assurance that such plans are adequate or would be successfully

implemented

The Companys continued growth and expansion could adversely afftct its internal control over financial

reporting which could harm its business andfinancial condition

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting per the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Internal control over financial reporting is process to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with

accounting standards generally accepted in the United States Internal control over financial reporting includes

maintaining records in reasonable detail such that they accurately and fairly reflect the Companys transactions

providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are made in accordance with managements

authorization policies and procedures and providing reasonable assurance that the unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements would be prevented

or detected in timely manner The Companys continued growth and expansion particularly in global markets will

place additional
pressure and risk on the Companys system of internal control over financial reporting Any failure

by the Company to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting associated with such

growth and expansion could limit the Companys ability to report its financial results accurately and on timely

basis or to detect and prevent fraud

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item Properties

Americas

The Company owns and occupies an office and plant facility consisting of office plant and storage space which is

located at 1061 Cudahy Place San Diego California 92110 The Company also leases additional office and storage

space
in San Diego The Company leases regional sales office in Miami Florida research and development

office in Summit New Jersey and office
space

in Toronto Ontario Canada

EMEA

The Company owns and occupies an office and plant facility consisting of office plant and storage space located in

Milton Keynes United Kingdom In addition the Company leases space for its branch offices in Germany France

Italy Spain Portugal and the Netherlands

Asia-Pacific

The Company leases office
space

in Epping New South Wales Australia Shanghai China and Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
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Item Legal Proceedings

The Company is party to various claims legal actions and complaints including product liability litigation arising

in the ordinary course of business

On May 31 2012 legal action was filed against the Company in the United States District Court Southern District

of Texas Houston Division IQ Products Company WD-40 Company IQ Products Company Texas

corporation IQPC or an affiliate or predecessor of IQPC has provided contract manufacturing services to the

Company for many years The allegations of IQPCs complaint arose out of pending termination of this business

relationship In 2011 the Company requested proposals for manufacturing services from all of its domestic contract

manufacturers in conjunction with project to redesign the Companys supply chain architecture in North America

IQPC submitted proposal as requested and the Company tentatively awarded IQPC new contract based on the

information and pricing included in that proposal IQPC subsequently sought to materially increase the quoted price

for such manufacturing services As result the Company chose to terminate its business relationship with IQPC

IQPC also raised alleged safety concerns regarding long-standing manufacturing specification related to the

Companys products The Company believes that IQPCs safety concerns are unfounded

In its complaint IQPC asserts that the Company is obligated to indemnif IQPC for claims and losses based on

1993 indemnity agreement and pursuant to common law IQPC also asserts that it has been harmed by the

Companys allegedly retaliatory conduct in seeking to terminate its relationship with IQPC allegedly in response to

the safety concerns identified by IQPC IQPC seeks declaratory relief to establish that it is entitled to

indemnification and also to establish that the Company is responsible for reporting the alleged safety concerns to the

United States Consumer Products Safety Commission and to the United States Department of Transportation The

complaint also seeks damages for alleged economic losses in excess of $40.0 million attorneys fees and punitive

damages based on alleged misrepresentations and false promises The Company believes the case is without merit

and will vigorously defend this matter At this stage in the litigation the Company does not believe that loss is

probable and management is unable to reasonably estimate possible loss or range of possible loss

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names ages year elected to current position and current titles of the executive

officers of the Company as of August 31 2013

Name Age and Year Elected to Current Position Title

Garry Ridge 57 1997 President and Chief Executive Officer

Jay Rembolt 62 2008 Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Michael Irwin 50 2008 Executive Vice President Global Business Development Group

Graham Milner 59 2002 Executive Vice President Global Business Development Group

Michael Freeman 60 2002 Division President The Americas

Geoffrey Holdsworth 51 1997 Managing Director Asia-Pacific

William Noble 55 1996 Managing Director WD-40 Company Ltd U.K

Mr Ridge joined the Companys Australian subsidiary WD-40 Company Australia Pty Limited in 1987 as

Managing Director He held several senior management positions prior to his election as Chief Executive Officer in

1997

Mr Rembolt joined the Company in 1997 as Manager of Financial Services He was promoted to Controller in 1999

and to Vice President Finance/Controller in 2001 He was then named Vice President Finance and Chief Financial

Officer in 2008

Mr Irwin joined the Company in 1995 as Director of U.S Marketing and he was subsequently promoted to

Director of Marketing The Americas He was named Vice President Marketing The Americas in 1998 Senior Vice

President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 2001 Executive Vice President in 2002 and Executive Vice

President Strategic Development in 2008 In 2013 he was appointed to his current position of Executive Vice
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President Global Business Development Group and has been supporting the activities associated with the WD-40

Bike business unit since its formation

Mr Mimer joined the Company in 1992 as International Director He was named Vice President Sales and

Marketing The Americas in 1997 Senior Vice President The Americas in 1998 and Executive Vice President

Global Innovation and Chief Branding Officer in 2002 He was then appointed to his current position of Executive

Vice President Global Business Development Group in 2013 and has been supporting the activities associated with

the WD-40 Bike business unit since its formation

Mr Freeman joined the Company in 1990 as Director of Marketing and was promoted to Director of Operations in

1994 He became Vice President Administration and Chief Information Officer in 1996 and was named Senior

Vice President Operations in 2001 and Division President The Americas in 2002

Mr Holdsworth joined the Companys Australia subsidiary WD-40 Company Australia Pty Limited in 1996 as

General Manager and was promoted to his current position of Managing Director Asia-Pacific in 1997

Mr Noble joined the Companys Australia subsidiary WD-40 Company Australia Pty Limited in 1993 as

International Marketing Manager for the Asia Region He was then promoted to his current position of Managing

Director WD-40 Company Ltd U.K in 1996

All executive officers hold office at the discretion of the Board of Directors
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PART II

Item Market For Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Information

The Companys common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market The following table sets forth the

high and low sales prices per share of the Companys common stock for each of the quarterly periods indicated as

reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market

Fiscal Year 2013 Fiscal Year 2012

High Low Dividend
--

Hih Low Dividend

First Quarter 54.42 45.12 0.29 47.29 35.37 0.27

Second Quarter 55.18 45.59 0.31 45.05 39.25 0.29

Third Quarter 57.50 51.31 0.31 47.50 41.47 0.29

Fourth Quarter 64.23 53.35 0.31 51.81 45.88 0.29

On October 17 2013 the last reported sales price of the Companys common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select

Market was $66.50 per share and there were 15261492 shares of common stock outstanding held by

approximately 867 holders of record

Dividends

The Company has historically paid regular quarterly cash dividends on its common stock In December 2012 the

Board of Directors declared 7% increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend increasing it from $0.29 per
share

to $0.31 per share On October 2013 the Companys Board of Directors declared cash dividend of $0.31 per

share payable on October 31 2013 to shareholders of record on October 21 2013

The Board of Directors of the Company presently intends to continue the payment of regular quarterly cash

dividends on the Companys common stock The Companys ability to pay dividends could be affected by future

business performance liquidity capital needs alternative investment opportunities and debt covenants

Purchases of Equity Securities By the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

On December 13 2011 the Companys Board of Directors approved share buy-back plan Under the plan which

was in effect through December 12 2013 the Company was authorized to acquire up to $50.0 million of its

outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer or

Chief Financial Officer and in compliance with all laws and regulations applicable thereto During the period from

December 14 2011 through July 31 2013 the Company repurchased 1013400 shares at total cost of $50.0

million As result the Company has utilized the entire authorized amount and completed the repurchases under

this share buy-back plan

On June 18 2013 the Companys Board of Directors approved new share buy-back plan Under the plan which is

in effect from August 2013 through August 31 2015 the Company is authorized to acquire up to $60.0 million of

its outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer

or Chief Financial Officer and subject to present loan covenants and in compliance with all laws and regulations

applicable thereto During the period from August 2013 through August 31 2013 the Company repurchased

45633 shares at total cost of $2.7 million

The following table provides information with respect to all purchases made by the Company during the three

months ended August 31 2013 All purchases listed below were made in the open market at prevailing market

prices Purchase transactions between June 2013 and June 28 2013 and between August 16 2013 and August 26

2013 were executed pursuant to trading plans adopted by the Company pursuant to Rule 0b5- under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934
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Total Number Maximum

of Shares Dollar Value of

Total Purchased as Part Shares that May

Number of Average of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans

Purchased Per Share or Programs orProgams

Period

June June 30 90293 55.35 90293 1467365

JuIyl-Jtily3l 25167 58.28 25167

August 1-August31 45633 58.62 45633 57324196

Total 161093 56.74 161093

Item Selected Financial Data

The following data has been derived from the Companys audited consolidated financial statements The data should

be read in conjunction with such consolidated financial statements and other financial information included

elsewhere in this report in thousands except per share amounts

As of and for the Fiscal Year Ended Auust 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net sales 368548 342784 336409 321516 292002

Cost of products sold 179385 174302 168297 156210 147469

Grossprofit 189163 168482 168112 165306 144533

Operating expenses 132526 116753 113980 110108 104688

Income from operations 56637 51729 54132 55198 39845

Interest and other income expense net 230 816 601 1641 1521
Income before income taxes 56867 50913 53531 53557 38324

Provision for income taxes 17054 15428 17098 17462 12037

Net income 39813 35485 36433 36095 26287

Earnings per common share

Basic 2.55 2.22 2.16 2.17 1.59

Diluted 2.54 2.20 2.14 2.15 1.58

Dividends
per

share 1.22 1.14 1.08 1.00 1.00

Weighted-average shares outstanding

diluted 15619 16046 16982 16725 16656

Total assets 323064 300870 279777 289108 262617

Long-term obligations 25912 25963 24321 32764 41456

Long-term obligations include long-term debt long-term deferred tax liabilities net and deferred and other long-term liabilities
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations MDA is designed to

provide the reader of the Companys financial statements with narrative from the perspective of management on

the Companys financial condition results of operations liquidity and certain other factors that may affect future

results This MDA includes the following sections Overview Highlights Results of Operations Performance

Measures and Non-GAAP Reconciliations Liquidity and Capital Resources Critical Accounting Policies Recently

Issued Accounting Standards and Related Parties The MDA is provided as supplement to and should be read in

conjunction with the Companys audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 15

of this report

In order to show the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our results of operations we have

included constant currency disclosures where necessary in the Overview and Results of Operations sections which

follow Constant currency
disclosures represent the translation of our current fiscal

year revenues and expenses from

the functional currencies of our subsidiaries to U.S dollars using the exchange rates in effect for the corresponding

period of the prior fiscal year We use results on constant currency basis as one of the measures to understand our

operating results and evaluate our performance in comparison to prior periods Results on constant currency basis

are not in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America non-GAAP
and should be considered in addition to not as substitute for results prepared in accordance with GAAP

Overview

The Company

WD-40 Company based in San Diego California is global consumer products company dedicated to delivering

unique high value and easy-to-use solutions for wide variety of maintenance needs of doer and on-the-job

users by leveraging and building upon the Companys fortress of brands Our vision is to create positive lasting

memories by solving problems in the homes and factories around the world We market multi-purpose maintenance

products under the WD-40 3-IN-ONE and BLUE WORKS brand names Currently included in the WD-40

brand are the WD-40 multi-use product and the WD-40 Specialist and WD-40 BikeTM product lines In the fourth

quarter of fiscal
year 2012 we developed the WD-40 Bike product line which is focused on comprehensive line of

bicycle maintenance products that include wet and dry chain lubricants heavy-duty degreasers foaming bike wash

and frame protectants that are designed specifically for the avid cyclist bike enthusiasts and mechanics We

launched the WD-40 Bike product line in the U.S during fiscal year 2013 We also market the following homecare

and cleaning brands X- mildew stain remover and automatic toilet bowl cleaners 2000 Flushes automatic

toilet bowl cleaners Carpet Fresh and No Vac
rug and room deodorizers Spot Shot aerosol and liquid carpet

stain removers 1001 household cleaners and rug and room deodorizers and Lava and Solvol heavy-duty hand

cleaners

Our brands are sold in various locations around the world Multi-purpose maintenance products are sold worldwide

in markets throughout North Central and South America Asia Australia and the Pacific Rim Europe the Middle

East and Africa Homecare and cleaning products are sold primarily in North America the U.K and Australia We

sell our products primarily through mass retail and home center stores warehouse club stores grocery stores

hardware stores automotive parts outlets sport retailers independent bike dealers and industrial distributors and

suppliers

Highlights

The following summarizes the financial and operational highlights for our business during the fiscal
year

ended

August 31 2013

Consolidated net sales increased $25.7 million or 8% for fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior fiscal

year Changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact of $2.0 million on

consolidated net sales for fiscal year 2013 Thus on constant currency basis net sales would have

increased by $27.7 millionfor fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Multi-purpose maintenance products sales which include the WD-40 3-IN-ONE and BLUE

WORKS brands were $320.9 million up 12% from the prior fiscal year
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Homecare and cleaning products sales which include all other brands were $47.6 million down

15% from the prior fiscal year

Americas segment sales were $180.5 million up 2% compared to the prior fiscal year EMEA segment

sales were $136.0 million up 16% compared to the prior fiscal year Asia-Pafic segment sales were

$52.0 million up 7% compared to the prior fiscal year

Gross profit as percentage of net sales increased to 51.3% for fiscal year 2013 compared to 49.2% for

the prior fiscal year

Consolidated net income increased $4.3 million or 12% for fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior

fiscal year Changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact of $0.2 million on

consolidated net income for fiscal year 2013 Thus on constant currency basis net income would have

increased by $4.5 millionfor fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Diluted earnings per common share for fiscal year 2013 were $2.54 versus $2.20 in the prior fiscal year

period

Progress continues to be made on the development and launch of new multi-purpose maintenance

products The Company launched the WD-40 Specialist product line in the US during the first quarter

offiscal year 2012 and continued to launch the product line in Canada and select countries in Latin

America Asia and Europe throughout fiscal years 2012 and 2013

Share repurchases have been executed under both our $50.0 million and $60.0 million approved share

buy-back plans The $50.0 million plan has been fully utilized and all remaining authorized purchases

under the plan were completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 To date through August 31

2013 the Company had repurchased 45633 shares at an average price of $58.62 per share for total

cost of $2.7 million under the new $60.0 million plan which was approved by the Companys Board of

Directors in June 2013

The project which we started in early fiscal year 2012 to redesign our supply chain architecture in North

America was completed at the end offiscal year 2013 Although we incurred additional costs during the

transition phases of this project and our overall inventory has increased from historical levels as result

of this new architecture we have realized manufacturing cost savings in recent periods and have

improved service to our customers

Our core strategic initiatives and the areas where we will continue to focus our time talent and resources in future

periods include maximizing the WD-40 brand through geographic expansion and market penetration ii

leveraging the WD-40 brand to develop new products and categories within the Companys prioritized platforms

iii expanding product and revenue base iv attracting developing and retaining people and operating with

excellence
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2012

Operating Items

The following table summarizes operating data for our consolidated operations in thousands except percentages

and per share amounts

FiscalYearEndedAugust3l

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Net sales

Multi-purpose maintenance products 320883 286480 34403 12%

Homecare and cleaning products
--

47665 56304 8639 15%
Total net sales 368548 342784 25764 8%

Cost of products sold 179385 74302 5083 3%

Gross profit 189163 168482 20681 12%

Operating expenses 132526 116753
--

15773 14%

Income from operations 56637 51729 4908 9%

Net income 39813 35485 4328 12%

Earnings per common share diluted 2.54 2.20 0.34 15%

Net Sales by Segment

The following table summarizes net sales by segment in thousands except percentages

FiscalYearEndedAugust3l
--

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Americas 180544 177394 3150 2%

EMEA 135984 116936 19048 16%

Asia-Pacific 52020 48454 3566 7%

Total 368548 342784 25764 8%

Americas

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the Americas segment in thousands except

percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 147312 136105 11207 8%

Homecare and cleaning products 33232 41289 8057 20%
Total 180544 177394 3150 2%

of consolidated net sales _______49% 52%

Sales in the Americas segment which includes the U.S Canada and Latin America increased to $180.5 million up

$3.1 million or 2% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year Changes in foreign
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currency exchange rates did not have material impact on sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared

to the prior fiscal year

Sales of multi-purpose maintenance products in the Americas segment increased $11.2 million or 8% for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year This sales increase was driven by higher sales of WD

40 multi-purpose maintenance products in the U.S and Latin America each of which were up 9% year over year

The sales increase in the U.S was in part due to higher overall level of promotional activities for the WD-40 multi-

use products that were conducted throughout fiscal year 2013 as compared to the prior fiscal year The increase in

Latin America was primarily due to improved business conditions and more stable economic environment

throughout most of the Latin America countries in fiscal year 2013 as compared to fiscal year 2012 Also

contributing to the overall sales increase of the multi-purpose maintenance products in the Americas segment was

the sales increase of the WD-40 Specialist product line from period to period due to new distribution and product

offerings in the U.S and the launch of this product line in Canada and Latin America during fiscal year 2013 As

result of fluctuations in the promotional patterns with certain of our key customers particularly those in the mass

retail home center and warehouse club channels in the U.S it is common for our sales to vary period over period

and
year over year

Sales of homecare and cleaning products in the Americas segment decreased $8.1 million or 20% for the fiscal year

ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year This sales decrease was driven primarily by lower sales of

the Carpet Fresh and Spot Shot products and the 2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl cleaners which were down

41% 28% and 13% respectively in the U.S for fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year While each of

our homecare and cleaning products continue to generate positive cash flows we have continued to experience

decreased sales for these products primarily due to lost distribution reduced product offerings competition

category declines and the volatility of orders from and promotional programs with certain of our customers

particularly those in the warehouse club and mass retail channels In the second half of fiscal year 2013

management started to evaluate the strategic alternatives for certain of the Companys homecare and cleaning

products To date no decisions have been made relative to the future strategic plans for these brands

For the Americas segment 81% of sales came from the U.S and 19% of sales came from Canada and Latin America

combined for each of the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and 2012

EMEA

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the EMEA segment in thousands except percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 128740 109115 19625 18%

Homecare and cleaning products 7244 7821 577 7%
Total 135984 116936 19048 16%

of consolidated net sales 37% 34%

Sales in the EMEA segment which includes Europe the Middle East and Africa increased to $136.0 million up

$19.1 million or 16% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year Changes in

foreign currency exchange rates for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year had an

unfavorable impact on sales Sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 translated at the exchange rates in

effect for the prior fiscal year would have been $137.7 million in the EMEA segment Thus on constant currency

basis sales would have increased by $20.8 million or 18% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to

the prior fiscal year

The countries in Europe where we sell through direct sales force include the U.K Italy France Iberia which

includes Spain and Portugal and the Germanics sales region which includes Germany Austria Denmark

Switzerland and the Netherlands Overall sales from direct markets increased $13.1 million or 18% for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year We experienced sales increases throughout the

Europe direct markets for the fiscal year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year with percentage
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increases in sales as follows the Germanics sales region 26% Italy 22% France 15% the U.K 12% and Iberia

10%

The sales increase in the direct markets was primarily due to new distribution continued growth of the base business

and the positive impacts of sales price increases which were implemented in certain locations and markets

throughout Europe during the second and third quarters of fiscal year 2013 Although sales in the direct markets

increased significantly year over year sales in these markets were negatively impacted throughout fiscal
year

2012

primarily due to the particularly adverse economic conditions which existed in Europe during this time period

During our fiscal
year 2013 the Europe economy started to stabilize and this has positively impacted our sales

levels but it is still uncertain whether this stability will continue into future periods Sales from direct markets

accounted for 64% of the EMEA segments sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to 63% of the

EMEA segments sales for the prior fiscal year

The regions in the EMEA segment where we sell through local distributors include the Middle East Africa Eastern

and Northern Europe Sales in the distributor markets increased $6.0 million or 14% for the fiscal year ended

August 31 2013 compared to fiscal year 2012 primarily due to increased sales of WD-40 multi-use products and

initial sales of the WD-40 Specialist product line throughout the distributor markets The sales increase from period

to period was primarily due to the continued growth of the base business in key markets particularly those in the

Middle East and Eastern Europe In general the markets in which we sell through local distributors have remained

more stable in recent years
from an economic standpoint than other countries in Europe The distributor markets

accounted for 36% of the total EMEA segment sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to 37% for

the prior fiscal year

Asia-PacifIc

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the Asia-Pacific segment in thousands except

percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 44831 41260 3571 9%

Homecare and cleaning products 7189 7194

Total 52020 48454 3566 7%

of consolidated net sales 14% 14%

Sales in the Asia-Pacific segment which includes Australia China and other countries in the Asia region increased

to $52.0 million up $3.5 million or 7% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have material impact on sales for the fiscal year ended August

31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Sales in Asia which represented 66% of the total sales in the Asia-Pacific segment increased $3.6 million or 12%
for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year primarily due to the stable economic

conditions which existed throughout most of the Asia region during fiscal
year

2013 and increased promotional

activities from year to year The distributor markets in the Asia region experienced sales increase of $2.7 million

or 13% for the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year primarily due to the success of

certain promotional programs which were conducted in fiscal year 2013 throughout most of the Asia countries and

the continued growth of the WD-40 multi-use products throughout the distributor markets including those in

Malaysia South Korea and Taiwan Sales in China increased $0.9 million or 9% for the fiscal year ended August

31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year primarily due to higher level of sales which resulted from significant

promotional program that was conducted in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 Although the overall sales in

China increased year over year China has generally experienced lower rate of growth for sales over the last

several quarters due to adverse economic conditions and the lower level of industrial activities that have existed

throughout China in recent periods

Sales in Australia slightly decreased by $0.1 million or 1% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to

the prior fiscal year primarily due to the unfavorable impacts of changes in foreign currency exchange rates from
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period to period On constant currency basis sales would have increased $0.3 million or 2% for the fiscal year

ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased to $189.2 million for the fiscal year
ended August 31 2013 compared to $168.5 million for

the prior fiscal year As percentage of net sales gross profit increased to 51.3% for the fiscal
year

ended August

31 2013 compared to 49.2% for the prior fiscal year

Gross margin was positively impacted by 1.1 percentage points from period to period due to sales price increases

which were implemented in certain locations and markets throughout most of fiscal year
2013 and 2012 There was

also decrease in discounts that were given to our customers which positively impacted gross margin by 0.4

percentage points year over year This decrease in such discounts was due to lower percentage of sales

particularly those for our homecare and cleaning products in the Americas segment being subject to promotional

allowances during the year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year Advertising promotional and

other discounts that are given to our customers are recorded as reduction to sales whereas advertising and sales

promotional costs associated with promotional activites that we pay to third parties are recorded as advertising and

sales promotional expenses In addition gross margin was positively impacted by 0.3 percentage points from period

to period due to our North American supply chain restructure project As result of this restructure project we were

able to realize lower manufacturing fees from our third-party contract manufacturers in fiscal year 2013 compared to

the prior fiscal year These decreased costs were partially offset by higher warehousing costs handling fees and in

bound freight costs all of which are associated with the storage and movement of our product between our third-

party contract manufacturers and distribution centers which we incurred during much of fiscal
year

2013 compared

to the prior fiscal year Gross margin was positively impacted by 0.2 percentage points due to the combined effects

of changes in the costs of petroleum-based materials and aerosol cans from period to period the majority of which

came from decrease in costs associated with petroleum-based materials There is often delay of one quarter or

more before changes in raw material costs impact cost of products sold due to production and inventory life cycles

We expect that petroleum-based material costs will continue to be volatile and that volatility will impact our cost of

products sold in future periods Lower manufacturing costs in our Asia-Pacific segment also positively impacted

gross margin by 0.2 percentage points from period to period

We incurred higher costs associated with raw materials related to our homecare and cleaning products as well as

increased manufacturing costs in our EMEA segment which when combined negatively impacted gross margin by

0.1 percentage points from period to period

Note that our gross profit and
gross margin may not be comparable to those of other consumer product companies

since some of these companies include all costs related to distribution of their products in cost of products sold

whereas we exclude the portion associated with amounts paid to third parties for shipment to our customers from our

distribution centers and contract manufacturers and include these costs in selling general and administrative

expenses These costs totaled $15.7 million and $15.4 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and 2012

respectively

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses
for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 increased $15.5

million or 17% to $104.4 million from $88.9 million for the prior fiscal year As percentage of net sales SGA

expenses increased to 28.3% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 from 26.0% for the prior fiscal year The

increase in SGA expenses was largely attributable to higher employee-related costs higher level of expenses

associated with travel and meetings and increased freight costs Employee-related costs which include salaries

bonuses profit sharing stock-based compensation and other fringe benefits increased $14.8 million for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year the majority of which was due to higher bonus

expense Based on our results for fiscal year 2013 we achieved high level of the profit performance metrics at

both the segment level and globally required to trigger payout of bonuses and as result bonus
expense

and the

related fringe benefit expense were significantly higher in fiscal year 2013 as compared to the prior fiscal year Also

contributing to the increase in employee-related costs was higher annual compensation increases and increased

headcount from period to period Travel and meeting expenses increased $0.9 million due to higher level of travel

expenses
associated with various sales meetings and activities in support of our strategic initiatives Freight costs

increased $0.4 million primarily due to higher sales volumes particularly in the EMEA segment for the fiscal year
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ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year Other miscellaneous expenses which primarily include

broker sales commissions office overhead and bad debt expenses increased by $0.3 million period over period

The increases in SGA expenses described above were slightly offset by decrease in expenses associated with

new product exploration from period to period The decrease in new product exploration expenses within research

and development of $0.3 million was primarily due to the increased level of spending in this area during fiscal year

2012 related to the development of new product lines within the WD-40 brand which were launched in fiscal year

2013 Professional service costs decreased by $0.2 million and changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased

SGA expenses by $0.4 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

We continued our research and development investment the majority of which is associated with our multi-purpose

maintenance products in support of our focus on innovation and renovation of our products Research and

development costs for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and 2012 were $7.2 million and $5.1 million

respectively Our research and development team engages in consumer research product development current

product improvement and testing activities This team leverages its development capabilities by partnering with

network of outside resources including our current and prospective outsource suppliers The level and types of

expenses incurred within research and development can vary or offset each other from period to period depending

upon the types of activities being performed

Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses

Advertising and sales promotion expenses
for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 decreased $0.9 million or 3%

to $24.8 million from $25.7 million for the prior fiscal year As percentage of net sales these expenses decreased

to 6.7% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 from 7.5% for the prior fiscal year The decrease in advertising

and sales promotion expenses was primarily due to lower costs associated with promotional programs conducted in

the Americas segment particularly those for our homecare and cleaning products from period to period This

decrease was partially offset by higher level of promotional activities in the EMEA and Asia-Pacific segments

from period to period Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have material impact on advertising

and sales promotion expenses for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

Investment in global advertising and sales promotion expenses
for fiscal

year
2014 is expected to be in the

range
of

6.5% to 7.5% of net sales

As percentage of net sales advertising and sales promotion expenses may fluctuate period to period based upon

the type of marketing activities we employ and the period in which the costs are incurred Total promotional costs

recorded as reduction to sales were $17.7 million and $20.1 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and

2012 respectively Therefore our total investment in advertising and sales promotion activities totaled $42.5 million

and $45.8 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

Amortization of Definite-lived Intangible Assets Expense

Amortization of our definite-lived intangible assets remained relatively constant at $2.3 million and $2.1 million for

the fiscal
years

ended August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

Impairment of Definite-lived Intangible Assets Expense

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 we determined that indicators of impairment existed related to the

2000 Flushes trade name primarily due to managements most current expectations for future growth and

profitability for the 2000 Flushes trade name As result we performed second phase of the impairment test

specific to the 2000 Flushes trade name and concluded that it was impaired by $1.1 million Consequently we

recorded non-cash before tax impairment charge of $1.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 to reduce

the carrying value of the 2000 Flushes asset to its fair value For additional information refer to the information set

forth in Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets No such impairments to our long-lived assets were

identified during fiscal year 2012

Income from Operations by Segment

The Company has updated the financial information previously reported for the business segments to separate out

the unallocated corporate expenses These amounts were included within the Americas segment in the Companys
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previously reported business segment information The following table summarizes income from operations by

segment in thousands except percentages

FiscalYearEndedAqgust3l

Change from

Prior Year

2013 2012 Dollars Percent

Americas 39383 39455 72

EMEA 31213 23524 7689 33%

Asia-Pacific 9308 8458 850 10%

Unallocated corporate 23267 9708 3559 18%

56637 51729 4908 9%

Unallocated corporate expenses are general corporate overhead expenses not directly attributable to any one of the operating

segments These expenses are reported separate from the Companys identified segments and are included in Selling General and

Administrative expenses on the Companys consolidated statements of operations

Americas

Income from operations for the Americas segment remained relatively constant year over year As percentage of

net sales gross profit for the Americas segment increased from 48.8% in fiscal year 2012 to 51.2% in fiscal
year

2013 This increase in the gross margin from period to period was primarily due to the positive impact of sales price

increases lower level of discounts offered to our customers and the net lower costs associated with the restructure

of our North American supply chain all of which were partially offset by the negative impacts of sales mix changes

and higher costs associated with raw materials related to our homecare and cleaning products The higher level of

sales in the Americas segment from period to period was accompanied by $6.0 million increase in total operating

expenses the majority of which relates to increased bonus expense from period to period Operating income as

percentage of net sales decreased from 22.3% to 21.8% year over year

EMEA

Income from operations for the EMEA segment increased to $31.2 million up $7.7 million or 33% for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year primarily due to an increase in sales of $19.1 million

and higher gross margin As percentage of net sales gross profit for the EMEA segment increased from 51.3% to

53.3% year over year primarily due to the favorable impacts of sales price increases sales mix changes within our

distributor markets and decreased costs of petroleum-based materials in the EMEA segment all of which were

slightly offset by the unfavorable impact of higher costs associated with raw materials related to our homecare and

cleaning products The higher level of sales for the EMEA segment from period to period was accompanied by an

increase in total operating expenses
of $4.8 million the majority of which was attributable to higher bonus expense

from period to period Operating income as percentage of net sales increased from 20.1% to 23.0% year over year

Asia-Pacific

Income from operations for the Asia-Pacific segment increased to $9.3 million up $0.8 million or 10% for the

fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year primarily due to an increase in sales of $3.5

million and higher gross margin As percentage of net sales gross profit for the Asia-Pacific segment increased

from 45.3% to 46.7% year over year primarily due to the combined effects of sales price increases lower

manufacturing costs and decreased costs of aerosol cans in the Asia-Pacific segment which were partially offset by

higher level of discounts offered to certain customers and unfavorable sales mix changes Operating income as

percentage of net sales remained relatively constant at 17.9% and 17.5% for the years ended August 31 2013 and

2012 respectively
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Non-Operating Items

The following table summarizes non-operating income and expenses for our consolidated operations in thousands

FiscalYearEndedAugust3l

2013 2012 Chane

Interest income 506 261 245

Interest expense 693 729 36
Other income expense net 417 348 765

Provision for income taxes 17054 15428 1626

Interest Income

Interest income increased $0.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year

primarily due to increased cash balances at our U.K subsidiary which are being held in higher yielding accounts and

short-term investments

Interest Expense

Interest expense
remained relatively constant for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2013 compared to the prior fiscal

year

Other Income Expense Net

Other income expense net changed by $0.8 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 compared to the

prior fiscal year primarily due to net foreign currency exchange gains which were recorded for the fiscal year ended

August 31 2013 compared to net foreign currency exchange losses which were recorded in the prior fiscal year

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was 30.0% of income before income taxes for the fiscal year ended August 31 2013

compared to 30.3% for the prior fiscal year This slight decrease in the effective income tax rate was primarily

driven by increasing foreign earnings generated in lower tax jurisdictions which were offset by an increase in state

taxes

Net Income

Net income was $39.8 million or $2.54 per common share on fully diluted basis for fiscal year 2013 compared to

$35.5 million or $2.20 per common share on fully diluted basis for the prior fiscal year Changes in foreign

currency exchange rates year over year had an unfavorable impact of $0.2 million on net income for fiscal year

2013 Thus on constant currency basis net income for fiscal year 2013 would have been $40.0 million
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Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2012 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2011

Operating Items

The following table summarizes operating data for our consolidated operations in thousands except percentages

and per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Net sales

Multi-purpose maintenance products 286480 278763 7717 3%

Homecare and cleaning products 56304 57646 1342 2%
Total net sales 342784 336409 6375 2%

Cost of products sold 174302 168297 6005 4%

Grossprofit 168482 168112 370

Operating expenses 116753 ii398O 2773 2%

Income from operations 51729 54132 24 4%
Net income 35485 36433 948 3%
Earnings per common share diluted 2.20 2.14 0.06 3%

Net Sales by Segment

The following table summarizes net sales by segment in thousands except percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Americas 177394 169881 7513 4%

EMEA 116936 125400 8464 7%
Asia-Pacific 48454 41128 7326 18%

Total 342784 336409 6375 2%

Americas

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the Americas segment in thousands except

percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 136105 127507 8598 7%

Homecare and cleaning products 41289 42374 1085 3%
Total 177394 169881 7513 4%

of consolidated net sales 52% 51%

Sales in the Americas segment which includes the U.S Canada and Latin America increased to $177.4 million up

$7.5 million or 4% for the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 Changes in foreign

currency exchange rates did not have material impact on sales for the fiscal year
ended August 31 2012 compared

to fiscal
year

2011
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Sales of multi-purpose maintenance products in the Americas segment increased $8.6 million or 7% for the fiscal

year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 This sales increase was driven by higher sales of WD-40

multi-purpose maintenance products in the U.S which were up 10% primarily due to new distribution within the

mass retail channel regained distribution within the home center channel and the impact of promotional activities

for the WD-40 multi-use products during fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 The increased sales of WD
40 products in the U.S were slightly offset by lower sales of these same products in Latin America which were

down by 7% primarily due to new trade restrictions and the unstable economic and political conditions particularly

in Argentina and Mexico In addition the overall sales increase of the multi-purpose maintenance products in the

Americas segment was also attributable to the successful launch of the WD-40 Specialist product line which began

shipping during fiscal year 2012 in the U.S and Canada and realized positive sales results as compared to the initial

forecasted sales for both regions

Sales of homecare and cleaning products in the Americas segment decreased $1.1 million or 3% for the fiscal year

ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year 2011 Although sales of the homecare and cleaning products in the

U.S which is where the majority of such sales originate decreased from period to period sales of Spot Shot

products increased 9% in the U.S for fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 This increase was primarily

due to new distribution and significant promotional display activities that were conducted during fiscal year 2012

but not in fiscal year 2011 This increase was more than offset by lower sales of Carpet Fresh and our automatic

toilet bowl cleaners in the U.S due to lost distribution competitive factors and category declines

For the Americas segment 81% of sales came from the U.S and 19% of sales came from Canada and Latin America

combined for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to the distribution for the fiscal year ended August

31 2011 when 79% of sales came from the U.S and 21% of sales came from Canada and Latin America combined

EMEA

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the EMEA segment in thousands except percentages

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 109115 116461 7346 6%
Homecare and cleaning products 7821 8939 1118 13%

Total 116936 125400 8464 7%
of consolidated net sales 34% 37%

Sales in the EMEA segment which includes Europe the Middle East and Africa decreased to $116.9 million down

$8.5 million or 7% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 Changes in foreign

currency exchange rates did not have material impact on sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared

to fiscal
year 2011

The countries in Europe where we sell through direct sales force include the U.K Italy France Iberia which
includes Spain and Portugal and the Germanics sales region which includes Germany Austria Denmark

Switzerland and the Netherlands Overall sales from direct markets decreased $10.6 million or 13% for the fiscal

year
ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 We experienced sales decreases throughout the Europe

direct markets for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year 2011 with percentage decreases in

sales as follows the Germanics sales region 21% Italy 13% U.K 11% Iberia 5% and France 4%

The sales decline in the direct markets was primarily due to the adverse economic conditions which have existed

throughout Europe since the beginning of our fiscal year 2012 and which worsened during the second half of the

year as well as the increased level of competition Sales from direct markets accounted for 63% of the EMEA
segments sales for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to 68% of the EMEA segments sales for fiscal

year 2011

The regions in the EMEA segment where we sell through local distributors include the Middle East Africa Eastern

and Northern Europe Sales in the distributor markets increased $2.1 million or 5% for the fiscal year ended August
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31 2012 compared to fiscal
year

2011 primarily due to increased sales of WD-40 multi-use products in Eastern

Europe and the Middle East Overall sales in the distributor markets were increased from year to year primarily due

to the continued growth of the base business in key markets particularly those in Eastern Europe In general the

markets in which we sell through local distributors have remained more stable from an economic standpoint than

other countries in Europe The distributor markets accounted for 37% of the total EMEA segment sales for the fiscal

year ended August 31 2012 compared to 32% for fiscal year 2011

Asia-Pacific

The following table summarizes net sales by product line for the Asia-Pacific segment in thousands except

percentages

--
Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Multi-purpose maintenance products 41260 34795 6465 19%

Homecare and cleaning products 7194 6333 861 14%

Total 48454 41128 7326 18%

of consolidated net sales 14% 12%

Sales in the Asia-Pacific segment which includes Australia China and other countries in the Asia region increased

to $48.5 million up $7.3 million or 18% for the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year

2011

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

had favorable impact on sales Sales for the fiscal year
ended August 31 2012 translated at the exchange rates in

effect for fiscal year 2011 would have been $47.9 million in the Asia-Pacific segment Thus on constant currency

basis sales would have increased by $6.7 million or 16% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to

fiscal year 2011

Sales in Asia which represented 63% of the total sales in the Asia-Pacific segment increased $5.3 million or 21%

for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 primarily due to the stable economic

conditions which existed for much of the Asia region during most of fiscal
year

2012 The distributor markets in the

Asia region experienced sales increase of $3.9 million or 24% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012

compared to fiscal year 2011 primarily due to the continued growth of the WD-40 multi-use products throughout

the distributor markets including those in Indonesia South Korea and the Philippines Sales in China increased $1.4

million or 15% for the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year

2011 due to the ongoing growth

of our base business and the higher level of orders placed by our customers during promotional programs that were

conducted in the first and third quarters of fiscal
year

2012 In addition sales in China were positively impacted by

the timing of customer orders specifically the higher level of such orders which were placed in advance of price

increases that became effective at the beginning of the first quarter of fiscal year 2013 Foreign currency exchange

rates also had favorable impact on sales results in China from year to year On constant currency basis sales

would have increased $1.0 million or 11% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

Although sales in China increased year over year the rate of growth slowed significantly in the second half of fiscal

year 2012 due to the adverse economic conditions and the slowing of industrial activities in China

Sales in Australia increased $2.0 million or 13% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year

2011 primarily due to significant promotional program that was conducted during the third quarter of fiscal
year

2012 new product offering which was sold to certain of our customers during the second half of fiscal year 2012

and the ongoing growth of our base business Although retail spending slowed in Australia in the second half of

fiscal year 2012 demand for our products in Australia continued at steady pace Foreign currency exchange rates

also had favorable impact on sales results from year to year On constant currency basis sales would have

increased $1.8 million or 11% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased to $168.5 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to $168.1 million for

fiscal year 2011 As percentage of net sales gross profit decreased to 49.2% for the fiscal year ended August 31
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2012 compared to 50.0% for fiscal year 2011

Gross margin was negatively impacted by 1.1 percentage points due to the combined effects of changes in the costs

of petroleum-based materials and aerosol cans from period to period There is often delay of one quarter or more

before changes in raw material costs impact cost of products sold due to production and inventory life cycles The

majority of this combined negative impact to gross margin from period to period was due to the increase in costs

associated with petroleum-based material

In addition gross margin was negatively impacted by 0.6 percentage points from period to period due to our North

American supply chain restructure project As result of this project we incurred higher warehousing handling fees

and freight costs which were all partially offset by lower manufacturing fees from our third-party contract

manufacturers during fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 large portion of these additional costs

resulted from us moving inventory between our various third-party contract manufacturers and distribution centers

in support of the redesign of our North American supply chain architecture The activities related to this redesign

project started in the first quarter of fiscal
year 2012 and included consolidation of our third-party contract

manufacturers and the restructuring of our distribution center network

We also incurred higher costs associated with raw materials related to our homecare and cleaning products as well

as increased manufacturing costs in our EMEA segment which when combined negatively impacted gross margin

by 0.6 percentage points from period to period Sales mix changes negatively impacted gross margin by 0.8

percentage points for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 primarily due to the

higher sales mix in the distributor market in our EMEA segment year over year In addition changes in foreign

currency exchange rates negatively impacted gross margin by 0.2 percentage points

The aforementioned unfavorable impacts to gross margin were significantly offset by the sales price increases

which positively affected gross margin by 2.2 percentage points for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared

to fiscal
year 2011 These sales price increases were implemented in certain locations and markets throughout most

of fiscal year 2012 and in the second half of fiscal year 2011 Lower manufacturing costs in our Asia-Pacific

segment also positively affected gross margin by 0.3 percentage points from period to period

Note that our gross profit and gross margin may not be comparable to those of other consumer product companies

since some of these companies include all costs related to distribution of their products in cost of products sold

whereas we exclude the portion associated with amounts paid to third parties for shipment to our customers from our

distribution centers and contract manufacturers and include these costs in selling general and administrative

expenses These costs totaled $15.4 million and $15.0 million for the fiscal
years

ended August 31 2012 and 2011

respectively

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative
expenses

for the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2012 increased $1.6 million or

2% to $88.9 million from $87.3 million for fiscal year 2011 As percentage of net sales SGA
expenses

remained constant at 26.0% for the fiscal
years

ended August 31 2012 and 2011 The increase in SGA expenses

was largely attributable to higher employee-related costs higher professional services costs and increased freight

costs Employee-related costs which include salaries bonuses profit sharing stock-based compensation and other

fringe benefits increased $0.8 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year

2011

primarily due to annual compensation increases and higher staffing levels in all segments This increase in

compensation costs was partially offset by lower bonus and stock-based compensation expenses from period to

period Although we started to experience some reduction in our freight costs in the third quarter of fiscal year 2012

as result of our North American supply chain restructure freight costs increased overall by $0.5 million year over

year primarily due to increased diesel costs and reduced truckload sizes as result of smaller more frequent orders

being placed by our customers during the first half of the fiscal
year 2012 Professional services costs increased $0.6

million due primarily to higher legal fees Other miscellaneous expenses which primarily include broker sales

commissions meeting expenses office overhead expenses and software support expenses and fees increased by

$0.2 million period over period

The increases in SGA expenses described above were partially offset by decrease in
expenses associated with

new product exploration from period to period The decrease in new product exploration expenses within research

and development of $0.3 million was primarily due to the increased level of spending in this area during fiscal
year

2011 related to the development of the WD-40 Specialist product line which was launched in the first quarter of
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fiscal year 2012 Changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased SGA expenses by $0.2 million for the

fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

We continued our research and development investment the majority of which is associated with our multi-purpose

maintenance products in support of our focus on innovation and renovation of our products Research and

development costs for the fiscal years
ended August 31 2012 and 2011 were $5.1 million and $5.5 million

respectively Our research and development team engages
in consumer research product development current

product improvement and testing activities This team leverages its development capabilities by partnering with

network of outside resources including our current and prospective outsource suppliers The level and types of

expenses
incurred within research and development can vary or offset each other from period to period depending

upon the types of activities being performed

Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses

Advertising and sales promotion expenses for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 increased $0.6 million or 2%
to $25.7 million from $25.1 million for fiscal

year
2011 As percentage of net sales these expenses remained

constant at 7.5% for the fiscal years ended August 31 2012 and 2011 The increase in advertising and sales

promotion expenses was due to higher level of advertising and promotional activities period over period primarily

in our Asia-Pacific segment Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have material impact on

advertising and sales promotion expenses for the fiscal year
ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

As percentage of net sales advertising and sales promotion expenses may fluctuate period to period based upon

the type of marketing activities we employ and the period in which the costs are incurred Total promotional costs

recorded as reduction to sales were $20.1 million and $18.8 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2012 and

2011 respectively Therefore our total investment in advertising and sales promotion activities totaled $45.8 million

and $43.9 million for the fiscal years
ended August 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Amortization of Definite-lived Intangible Assets Expense

Amortization of our definite-lived intangible assets was $2.1 million and $1.5 million for the fiscal years ended

August 31 2012 and 2011 respectively The increase in amortization for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 was

related to the additional amortization expense of 2000 Flushes Spot Shot and 1001 trade names starting March

2011 as these intangible assets were changed to definite-lived from indefinite-lived intangible assets at February 28

2011 The amortization for the fiscal year ended August 31 2011 related only to the Carpet Fresh and X-l4 trade

names and certain non-contractual customer relationships from the acquisition of the 1001 line of products in fiscal

year 2004

Income from Operations by Segment

The Company has updated the financial information previously reported for the business segments to separate out

the unallocated corporate expenses These amounts were included within the Americas segment in the Companys

previously reported business segment information The following table summarizes income from operations by

segment in thousands except percentages

--

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

Change from

Prior Year

2012 2011 Dollars Percent

Americas 39455 39085 370

EMEA 23524 27846 4322 16%

Asia-Pacific 8458 6509 1949 30%

Unallocated corporate 19708 19308 400 2%

51729 54132 2403 4%

Unallocated corporate expenses are general corporate overhead expenses not directly
attributable to any one of the operating

segments These expenses are reported separate from the Companys identified segments and are included in Selling General and

Administrative expenses on the Companys consolidated statements of operations
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Americas

Income from operations for the Americas segment remained relatively constant year over year Although sales in the

Americas segment increased $7.5 million for the fiscal
year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011

gross profit as percentage of net sales decreased from 50.4% to 48.8% This decrease in the gross margin from

year to year was primarily due to increased costs of petroleum-based materials and higher warehousing and freight

costs in connection with our North American supply chain restructure project which were partially offset by the

positive impact of sales price increases year over year The higher level of sales for the Americas segment from year

to year was accompanied by an increase in total operating expenses of $1.0 million Operating income as

percentage of net sales remained relatively constant at 22.3% for fiscal
year

2012 compared to 23.2% for fiscal year

2011

EMEA

Income from operations for the EMEA segment decreased to $23.5 million down $4.3 million or 16% for the

fiscal
year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 primarily due to decrease in sales of $8.5 million

As percentage of net sales gross profit for the EMEA segment decreased slightly to 51.3% for the fiscal year

ended August 31 2012 compared to 51.5% for fiscal year 2011 Although total operating expenses decreased $0.3

million from year to year operating income as percentage of net sales decreased from 22.2% for the fiscal year

ended August 31 2011 to 20.1% for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012

Asia-PacifIc

Income from operations for the Asia-Pacific segment increased to $8.5 million up $1.9 million or 30% for the

fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 The increase in the income from operations for our

Asia-Pacific segment was primarily due to an increase in sales of $7.3 million and an increase in the
gross profit as

percentage of net sales from 43.8% to 45.3% year over year Gross margin for the Asia-Pacific segment increased

from year to year primarily due to the combined effects of lower manufacturing costs and price increases in the

Asia-Pacific region which were partially offset by increased costs of petroleum-based materials The higher level of

sales for the Asia-Pacific segment from
year to year was accompanied by an increase in total operating expenses of

$1.9 million As percentage of net sales operating income increased from 15.8% for the fiscal year ended August

312011 to 17.5%forthefiscalyearendedAugust3l2012

Non-Operating Items

The following table summarizes non-operating income and
expenses

for our consolidated operations in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2012 2011 Change

Interest income 261 228 33

Interest expense 729 1076 347
Other expense income net 348 247 595
Provision for income taxes 15428 17098 1670

Interest Income

Interest income remained relatively constant for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year 2011

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $0.3 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
year 2011 due

to lower interest rates on the outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility as compared to the interest rate on

the remaining balance on the term loan The final principal payment of $10.7 million on the term loan was made in

October 2011

Other Expense Income Net

Other expense income net changed by $0.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012 compared to fiscal
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year 2011 primarily due to net foreign currency exchange losses which were recorded for the fiscal year
ended

August 31 2012 compared to net foreign currency exchange gains which were recorded in fiscal year
2011

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was 30.3% of income before income taxes for the fiscal year ended August 31 2012

compared to 31.9% for fiscal
year

2011 The decrease in the effective income tax rate from period to period was

primarily due to reduction in the state effective tax rate as result of recent California tax law change The

decrease from period to period was also attributable to the benefit from certain foreign earnings generated in lower

tax rate jurisdictions favorable net change in liability for uncertain tax positions and the increased benefit from the

deduction for qualified domestic production activities

Net Income

Net income was $35.5 million or $2.20 per common share on filly diluted basis for fiscal year
2012 compared to

$36.4 million or $2.14 per common share on fully diluted basis for fiscal year 2011 Changes in foreign currency

exchange rates year over year had an unfavorable impact of $0.2 million on net income for fiscal year 2012 Thus

on constant currency basis net income for fiscal year
2012 would have been $35.7 million

Performance Measures and Non-GAAP Reconciliations

In managing our business operations and assessing our financial performance we supplement the information

provided by our financial statements with certain non-GAAP performance measures These performance measures

are part of our 50/30/20 rule which includes gross margin cost of doing business and EBITDA the latter two of

which are non-GAAP performance measures Cost of doing business is defined as total operating expenses less

amortization of definite-lived intangible assets impairment of definite-lived intangible assets and depreciation in

operating departments and EBITDA is defined as net income loss before interest income taxes depreciation and

amortization We target our gross margin to be at or above 50% of net sales our cost of doing business to be at or

below 30% of net sales and our EBITDA to be at or above 20% of net sales Although our results for these

performance measures may vary
from period to period depending on various factors including economic conditions

and our level of investment in activities for the future we continue to focus on and work towards achievement of our

50/30/20 targets over the long-term

The following table summarizes the results of these performance measures

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Gross margin 51% 49% 50%

Cost of doing business as

percentage of net sales 35% 33% 33%

EBITDA as percentage of net sales 17% 16% 17%

We use the performance measures above to establish financial goals and to gain an understanding of the comparative

performance of the Company from period to period We believe that these measures provide our shareholders with

additional insights into the Companys results of operations
and how we run our business The non-GAAP financial

measures are supplemental in nature and should not be considered in isolation or as alternatives to net income

income from operations or other financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP as indicators of the

Companys performance or operations Reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures to our financial

statements as prepared in accordance with GAAP are as follows
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Cost of Doing Business in thousands except percentages

Total operating expenses GAAP
Amortization of definite-lived

intangible assets

Impairment of definite-lived

intangible assets

Depreciation in operating departments

Cost of doing business

Net sales

Cost of doing business as percentage of net sales

EBITDA in thousands except percentages

1077
J1851

127338

368548

35%

Net income GAAP
Provision for income taxes

Interest income

Interest expense

Amortization of definite-lived

intangible assets

Depreciation

EBITDA

Net sales

EBITDA as percentage of net sales

2013

39813

17054

506
693

2260

3099

62413

368548

17%

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2012

35485

15428

261
729

2133

2736

56250

342784

16%

2011

36433

17098

228
1076

1537

2849

58765

336409

17%

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

The Companys financial condition and liquidity remain strong Net cash provided by operations was $51.5 million

for fiscal
year

2013 compared to $34.2 million for fiscal year 2012 We believe we continue to be well positioned to

weather any uncertainty in the capital markets and global economy due to our strong balance sheet and efficient

business model along with our growing and diversified global revenues We continue to manage all aspects of our

business including but not limited to monitoring the financial health of our customers suppliers and other third-

party relationships implementing gross margin enhancement strategies and developing new opportunities for

growth

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash and cash equivalents short-term investments cash generated

from operations and cash available from our existing $125.0 million revolving credit facility with Bank of America

N.A Bank of America To date we have used the proceeds of the revolving credit facility for our stock

repurchases and plan to continue using such proceeds for our general working capital needs and stock repurchases

under any existing board approved share buy-back plans During the fiscal
year ended August 31 2013 we

borrowed an additional $18.0 million U.S dollars under the revolving credit facility We regularly convert existing

draws on our line of credit to new draws with new maturity dates and interest rates however the balance on these

draws has remained within short-term classification as result of these conversions As of August 31 2013 we
had $63.0 million outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility The revolving credit facility agreement

requires us to maintain minimum consolidated earnings before interest income taxes depreciation and amortization

EBITDA of $40.0 million measured on trailing twelve month basis at each reporting period At August 31

2013 we were in compliance with all debt covenants as required by the revolving credit facility and believe it is

unlikely we will fail to meet any of these covenants in the foreseeable future We would need to have significant

decrease in sales and/or significant increase in expenses in order for us to not meet the debt covenants

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

132526 116753 113980

2260 2133

1597
113023

342784

33%

1537

1637
110806

336409

33%
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At August 31 2013 we had total of $53.4 million in cash and cash equivalents Of this balance $36.5 million was

held in Europe Australia and China in foreign currencies It is our intention to indefinitely reinvest all current and

future foreign earnings at these locations in order to ensure sufficient working capital expand operations and fund

foreign acquisitions in these locations We believe that our future cash from domestic operations together with our

access to funds available under our unsecured revolving credit facility will provide adequate resources to fund both

short-term and long-term operating requirements capital expenditures share repurchases dividend payments

acquisitions and new business development activities in the United States Although we hold significant amount of

cash outside of the United States and the draws on the credit facility to date have been made by our entity in the

United States we do not foresee any issues with repaying or refinancing these loans with domestically generated

funds since we closely monitor the use of this credit facility In the event that management elects for any reason in

the future to repatriate some or all of the foreign earnings that were previously deemed to be indefinitely reinvested

outside of the United States we would incur additional tax expense upon such repatriation As of August 31 2013

we have not provided for U.S federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on $84.7 million of

undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries since these earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested

outside of the United States

We believe that our existing consolidated cash and cash equivalents at August 31 2013 the liquidity provided by

our $125.0 million revolving credit facility and our anticipated cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet

our projected consolidated operating and capital requirements for at least the next twelve months We consider

various factors when reviewing liquidity needs and plans for available cash on hand including future debt principal

and interest payments future capital expenditure requirements future share repurchases future dividend payments

which are determined on quarterly basis by the Companys Board of Directors alternative investment

opportunities debt covenants and any other relevant considerations currently facing our business

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows by category for the periods presented in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Net cash provided by operating activities 51569 34249 30009

Net cash used in investing activities 39534 3113 3220

Net cash used in financing activities 26840 16082 48933

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1480 1728 2609

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 16285 13326 19535

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $17.3 million to $51.5 million for fiscal year 2013 from $34.2

million for fiscal year 2012 This increase from period to period was due to higher net income and changes in

operating assets and liabilities the most significant of which were changes in accrued payroll and related expenses

trade accounts receivable inventories and accounts payable and accrued liabilities Accrued payroll and related

expenses
increased from period to period primarily due to significantly higher bonus accruals in fiscal year 2013

Based on our results for fiscal year 2013 we achieved high level of the profit performance
metrics at both the

segment level and globally required to trigger payout of bonuses and as result bonus expense and the related

fringe benefit expense were significantly higher in fiscal year 2013 as compared to the prior fiscal year Trade

accounts receivable balances increased for fiscal year 2013 whereas the balances decreased for fiscal year 2012

primarily due to increased sales and the timing of payments received from customers from period to period

Although inventory levels increased during both the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 and 2012 the increase was

much more significant during fiscal year 2012 when we started our North American supply chain restructure project

The significant increase in inventory during fiscal
year

2012 was primarily attributable to increased purchases of

product that we chose to make from our third-party contract manufacturers in support of this redesign of our supply

chain architecture As result of this new supply chain structure in North America we carry higher levels of

inventory than we have held in periods prior to fiscal year 2012 since we are moving product more quickly into our

third-party distribution centers which is company-owned inventory Inventory balances at August 31 2013 and

2012 included $1.8 million and $3.6 million respectively of product including raw materials components and
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finished products that we are obligated to purchase from one of our third-party contract manufacturers IQ Products

Company in conjunction with the unanticipated termination of our business relationship with them in the fourth

quarter of fiscal year 2012 and which continues to be the subject of pending litigation Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities decreased from fiscal year 2012 to fiscal year 2013 primarily due to the increased inventory levels

in 2012 as result of the supply chain restructure project the termination of the business relationship with IQ

Products Company in 2012 and the timing of payments to suppliers from period to period

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $4.2 million to $34.2 million for fiscal year 2012 from $30.0

million for fiscal year 2011 This increase from period to period was due to changes in operating assets and

liabilities the most significant of which were changes in inventories trade accounts receivable accrued payroll and

related expenses and accounts payable and accrued liabilities The increase in inventories from period to period was

primarily attributable to increased purchases of product that we chose to make from our third-party contract

manufacturers in support of the redesign of our North American supply chain architecture In addition inventories

increased due to $3.6 million of product including raw materials components and finished products that we were

obligated to purchase from one of our third-party contract manufacturers IQ Products Company in conjunction with

the unanticipated termination of our business relationship with them which is the subject of pending litigation Trade

accounts receivable balances decreased for fiscal
year 2012 whereas the balances increased for fiscal year 2011

primarily due to higher sales volumes in the final months of fiscal year 2011 compared to fiscal year 2010 and the

timing of payments received from customers from period to period Accrued payroll and related expenses decreased

from period to period primarily due to the payment of fiscal year 2011 bonuses during the first quarter of fiscal
year

2012 which were significantly lower than those paid in fiscal year 2011 for fiscal year 2010 bonuses and lower

bonus accruals in fiscal year 2012 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased from period to period

primarily due to the increased inventory purchases related to the new supply chain architecture the termination of

the business relationship with IQ Products Company and the timing of payments to suppliers

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $36.4 million to $39.5 million for fiscal
year 2013 from $3.1 million

for fiscal year 2012 primarily due to the purchase of $36.8 million in short-term investments that was made by our

U.K subsidiary during fiscal year 2013 and the lower level of proceeds from the sales of property and equipment

from period to period Proceeds from the sales of property and equipment were unusually high for fiscal year 2012

due to the sale of our warehouse facility that was located in Memphis Tennessee These increases were slightly

offset by decrease of $0.9 million in purchases of property and equipment from period to period In addition there

was $1.5 million increase in cash provided by investing activities due to an increase in the amount of short-term

investments maturing in our Australia subsidiary year over year

Net cash used for investing activities decreased $0.1 million to $3.1 million for fiscal year 2012 from $3.2 million

for fiscal year 2011 due primarily to higher purchases of property and equipment of $0.9 million which were more

than offset by higher proceeds from the sales of property and equipment of $1.0 million the majority of which came

from the sale of our warehouse facility located in Memphis Tennessee during the first quarter of fiscal year 2012

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities increased $10.7 million to $26.8 million for fiscal year 2013 from $16.1 million

for fiscal
year

2012 primarily due to the change in the level of net cash inflows associated with our revolving line of

credit and payments made on our debt balances In fiscal year 2012 we drew $1 14.6 million on our line of credit

and we used $80.3 million of these funds to pay off our term loan and to make repayments on the line of credit In

fiscal year 2013 we only drew $18.0 million on the line of credit and made no such repayments of debt In addition

there was an $8.4 million decrease in treasury stock purchases during fiscal year 2013 compared to the prior fiscal

year and $2.2 million decrease in the proceeds from the issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock

options from year to year

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $32.8 million to $16.1 million for fiscal year 2012 from $48.9

million for fiscal
year

2011 driven in part by the $114.6 million in draws that we executed against our revolving

credit facility with Bank of America during fiscal year 2012 This increase in cash was significantly offset by $69.6

million in repayments made on this revolving credit facility and $13.2 million decrease in proceeds from the

issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock options from year to year In addition there was $1.6

million decrease in treasury stock purchases during fiscal
year 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011
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Effect of Exchange Rate Changes

All of our foreign subsidiaries currently operate in currencies other than the U.S dollar and significant portion of

our consolidated cash balance is denominated in these foreign currencies particularly at our U.K subsidiary which

operates in Pound Sterling As result our cash and cash equivalents balances are subject to the effects of the

fluctuations in these currencies against the U.S dollars at the end of each reporting period The net effect of

exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents when expressed in U.S Dollar terms was decrease in cash of

$1.5 million for fiscal year 2013 decrease in cash of $1.7 million for fiscal year 2012 and an increase in cash of

$2.6 million for fiscal year 2011 These changes from period to period are primarily due to the significant

fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates for the Pound Sterling against the U.S Dollar and lower Pound

Sterling cash and cash equivalent balances from period to period The Pound Sterling to U.S Dollar exchange rate

decreased from 1.5824 to 1.5516 during fiscal year 2013 decreased from 1.6352 to 1.5824 during fiscal year
2012

and increased from 1.5514 to 1.6352 during fiscal year 2011

Share Repurchase Plans

On December 13 2011 the Companys Board of Directors approved share buy-back plan Under the plan which

was in effect through December 12 2013 the Company was authorized to acquire up to $50.0 million of its

outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer or

Chief Financial Officer and in compliance with all laws and regulations applicable thereto During the period from

December 14 2011 through July 31 2013 the Company repurchased 1013400 shares at total cost of $50.0

million As result the Company has utilized the entire authorized amount and completed the repurchases under

this share buy-back plan

On June 18 2013 the Companys Board of Directors approved new share buy-back plan Under the plan which is

in effect from August 2013 through August 31 2015 the Company is authorized to acquire up to $60.0 million of

its outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer

or Chief Financial Officer and subject to present
loan covenants and in compliance with all laws and regulations

applicable thereto During the period from August 2013 through August 31 2013 the Company repurchased

45633 shares at total cost of $2.7 million

Dividends

The Company has historically paid regular quarterly cash dividends on its common stock In December 2012 the

Board of Directors declared 7% increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend increasing it from $0.29 per share

to $0.31 per share On October 2013 the Companys Board of Directors declared cash dividend of $0.31 per

share payable on October 31 2013 to shareholders of record on October 21 2013 Our ability to pay dividends

could be affected by future business performance liquidity capital needs alternative investment opportunities and

loan covenants

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item 303a4ii of Regulation S-K

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our best estimates as to the amounts and timing of minimum contractual payments for

our most significant contractual obligations and commitments as of August 31 2013 for the next five years
and

thereafter in thousands Future events could cause actual payments to differ significantly from these amounts

Total year 2-3 years
4-5 years Thereafter

Operating leases 5486 1775 2420 915 376
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The following summarizes other commitments which are excluded from the contractual obligations table above as

of August31 2013

We have ongoing relationships with various suppliers contract manufacturers who manufacture our

products The contract manufacturers maintain title and control of certain raw materials and components

materials utilized in finished products and of the finished products themselves until shipment to our

customers or third-party distribution centers in accordance with agreed upon shipment terms Although

we typically do not have definitive minimum purchase obligations included in the contract terms with our

contract manufacturers when such obligations have been included they have been immaterial In the

ordinary course of business supply needs are communicated by us to our contract manufacturers based on

orders and short-term projections ranging from two to five months We are committed to purchase the

products produced by the contract manufacturers based on the projections provided Upon the termination

of contracts with contract manufacturers we obtain certain inventory control rights and are obligated to

work with the contract manufacturer to sell through all product held by or manufactured by the contract

manufacturer on our behalf during the termination notification period If any inventory remains at the

contract manufacturer at the termination date we are obligated to purchase such inventory which may
include raw materials components and finished goods Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal

year 2012
amounts for inventory purchased under termination commitments have been immaterial As result of the

unanticipated termination of the IQ Products Company contract manufacturing agreement in the fourth

quarter of fiscal year 2012 we are currently obligated to purchase $1.8 million of inventory which is

included in inventories in the Companys consolidated balance sheet as of August 31 2013

Under the terms of the credit facility agreement with Bank of America we may borrow funds in U.S

dollars or in foreign currencies from time to time during the five-year period commencing January

2013 through January 2018 As of August 31 2013 we had $63.0 million outstanding on this credit

facility Based on our most recent cash projection and anticipated business activities we expect to borrow

additional amounts against this credit facility ranging from $12.0 million to $17.0 million in fiscal year

2014 We estimate that the interest associated with these borrowings will be approximately $0.3 million

for fiscal year 2014 based on the applicable interest rates and the expected payment dates of such

borrowings

At August 31 2013 the liability recorded for uncertain tax positions excluding associated interest and

penalties was approximately $1.0 million We have estimated that up to $0.2 million of unrecognized tax

benefits related to income tax positions may be affected by the resolution of tax examinations or expiring

statutes of limitation within the next twelve months

Critical Accounting Policies

Our results of operations and financial condition as reflected in our consolidated financial statements have been

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Preparation

of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of assets

liabilities revenues and
expenses

and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities We use historical

experience and other relevant factors when developing estimates and assumptions and these estimates and

assumptions are continually evaluated Note to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 of this

report includes discussion of the Companys significant accounting policies The accounting policies discussed

below are the ones we consider to be most critical to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements

because their application places the most significant demands on our judgment Our financial results may have

varied from those reported had different assumptions been used or other conditions prevailed Our critical

accounting policies have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Revenue Recognition and Sales Incentives

Sales are recognized as revenue at the time of delivery to our customer when risks of loss and title have passed

Sales are recorded net of allowances for damaged goods and other sales returns sales incentives trade promotions

and cash discounts We must make judgments and certain assumptions in order to determine when delivery has

occurred Through an analysis of end-of-period shipments we determine an average time of transit of product to our

customers and this is used to estimate the time of delivery and whether revenue should be recognized during the

current reporting period for such shipments Differences in judgments or estimates related to the lengthening or
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shortening of the estimated delivery time used could result in material differences in the timing of revenue

recognition

Sales incentives are also recorded as reduction of sales in our consolidated statements of operations Sales

incentives include on-going trade promotion programs with customers and consumer coupon programs that require

us to estimate and accrue for the expected costs of such programs These programs include cooperative marketing

programs shelf price reductions coupons rebates consideration and allowances given to retailers for shelf
space

and/or favorable display positions in their stores and other promotional activities Costs related to these sales

incentive programs with the exception of coupon costs are recorded as reduction to sales upon delivery of

products to customers Coupon costs are based upon historical redemption rates and are recorded as reduction to

sales as incurred which is when the coupons are circulated

Sales incentives are calculated based primarily on historical rates and consideration of recent promotional activities

The determination of sales incentive costs and the related liabilities require us to use judgment for estimates that

include current and past trade promotion spending patterns status of trade promotion activities and the interpretation

of historical spending trends by customer and category We review our assumptions and adjust our reserves

accordingly on quarterly basis Our consolidated financial statements could be materially impacted if the actual

promotion rates are different from the estimated rates If our accrual estimates for sales incentives at August

2013 were to differ by 10% the impact on net sales would be approximately $0.7 million

Allowance for Doubiful Accounts

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions related to the

collectability of our accounts receivable balances We specifically analyze historical bad debts customer credit

worthiness current economic trends and conditions and changes in our customer payment terms when evaluating the

adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts We review our accounts receivable balances and our assumptions

used to determine their collectability on periodic basis and adjust our allowance for doubtful accounts accordingly

on quarterly basis

Accounting for Income Taxes

Current income tax expense
is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year deferred

income tax liability or asset is established for the expected future tax consequences resulting from the differences in

financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities valuation allowance is provided if it is more likely than

not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized In addition to valuation allowances we provide for

uncertain tax positions when such tax positions do not meet the recognition thresholds or measurement standards

prescribed by the authoritative guidance on income taxes Amounts for uncertain tax positions are adjusted in

periods when new information becomes available or when positions are effectively settled We recognize accrued

interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as component of income tax expense

U.S federal income tax expense
is provided on remittances of foreign earnings and on unremitted foreign earnings

that are not indefinitely reinvested U.S federal income taxes and foreign withholding taxes are riot provided when

foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested We determine whether our foreign subsidiaries will invest their

undistributed earnings indefinitely based on the capital needs of the foreign subsidiaries We reassess this

determination each reporting period Changes to this determination may be warranted based on our experience as

well as plans regarding future international operations and expected remittances

Valuation

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for possible impairment in accordance with the authoritative guidance on

goodwill intangibles and other We assess for possible impairments to goodwill at least annually during our second

fiscal quarter and otherwise when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that an

impairment condition may exist

Under current authoritative guidance we are permitted to perform qualitative assessment to dete mine whether it is

necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test if we conclude based on this qualitative

assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount we

perform the first step of the goodwill impairment test and then if needed the second step to determine whether

goodwill is impaired However if it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is more than its
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carrying amount we do not need to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test The first step of the

impairment test involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting units with their carrying values

including goodwill We determine the fair values of our reporting units using the income valuation approach or other

generally accepted valuation methodologies If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds the reporting units

fair value we perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test The second step of the goodwill impairment

test involves comparing the implied fair value of the affected reporting units goodwill with the carrying value of

that goodwill The amount by which the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value if any is

recognized as an impairment loss Any impairment losses are recorded as reduction in the carrying amount of the

related asset and charged to results of operations

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2013 we performed qualitative assessment of each of our reporting units

to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount

In performing this qualitative assessment we assessed relevant events and circumstances that may impact the fair

value and the carrying amount of each of our reporting units Factors that were considered included but were not

limited to the following macroeconomic conditions industry and market conditions overall financial

performance and expected financial performance other entity specific events such as changes in management or

key personnel and events affecting the Companys reporting units such as change in the composition of net

assets or any expected dispositions Based on the results of this qualitative assessment we determined that it is more

likely than not that the carrying value of each of our reporting units is less than its fair value and thus the two-step

quantitative analysis was not required As result we concluded that no impairment of our goodwill existed as of

February 28 2013 We also did not identify or record any impairment losses related to our goodwill during our

annual impairment tests performed in fiscal
years 2012 and 2011

In addition there were no indicators of impairment identified as result of our review of events and circumstances

related to our goodwill subsequent to February 28 2013

Impairment ofDejlnite-Lived Intangible Assets

We assess for potential impairments to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and/or its remaining useful life

may no longer be appropriate Any required impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the assets

carrying amount exceeds its fair value which is the amount at which the asset could be bought or sold in current

transaction between willing market participants and would be recorded as reduction in the carrying amount of the

related asset and charge to results of operations An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the

expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset

In April 2013 we determined based on our review of events and circumstances that there were indicators that the

carrying values of our 2000 Flushes Spot Shot Carpet Fresh and X-14 definite-lived trade name intangible assets

may not be fully recoverable The specific event which existed for each of the trade names was related to

managements evaluation work which it started in late April 2013 and was an outcome of discussions with the Board

of Directors in March 2013 to explore the strategic alternatives for these homecare and cleaning products in the

Americas segment As result of this work being performed by management starting in late April 2013 it was

determined that there was likelihood of more than 50% that these trade names in certain locations will be sold or

otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of their previously estimated useful lives As result

management performed the Step recoverability test under Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-35

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets for each of these trade names In performing the Step recoverability

test we compared the carrying value of each asset group which was determined to be at the trade name level to the

total of the undiscounted cash flows expected to be received over the remaining useful life of each trade name asset

group Based on the results of this recoverability test we determined that the total of the undiscounted cash flows

exceeded the carrying value for each of these asset groups and that no impairment existed for any of these trade

names as of May 31 2013 In addition in conjunction with performing this recoverability analysis we also

performed an evaluation of the remaining useful life for each of these trade names to determine if they were still

appropriate as of May 31 2013 Based on the results of this evaluation we also determined that it was appropriate to

reduce the remaining useful life of the 2000 Flushes trade name from fourteen years and ten months to seven years

effective on May 2013 Consequently we began to amortize this trade name on straight-line basis over its new

remaining useful life effective on May 2013 We determined that no reduction of the remaining useful lives for

the Spot Shot Carpet Fresh X-14 and 1001 trade names were warranted as result of this evaluation
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 as part of managements ongoing evaluation of potential strategic

alternatives for certain of the Companys homecare and cleaning products we further determined based on our

review of events and circumstances that there were indicators of impairment for the Carpet Fresh and 2000 Flushes

trade names Management accordingly performed the Step recoverability test for these two trade names and based

on the results of this analysis it was determined that the total of the undiscounted cash flows significantly exceeded

the carrying value for the Carpet Fresh asset group and that no impairment existed for this trade name as of August

31 2013 However the Step analysis indicated that the carrying value of the asset group for the 2000 Flushes

exceeded its undiscounted future cash flows and consequently second phase of the impairment test Step was

performed specific to the 2000 Flushes trade name to determine whether this trade name is impaired The 2000

Flushes trade name failed Step in the fourth quarter analysis primarily driven by changes in managements current

expectations for future growth and profitability for the 2000 Flushes trade name as compared to those used in the

previous Step analysis In performing the Step analysis we determined the fair value of the asset group utilizing

the income approach which is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows The calculation that is

prepared in order to determine the estimated fair value of an asset group requires management to make assumptions

about key inputs in the estimated cash flows including long-term forecasts discount rates and terminal growth rates

In estimating the fair value of the 2000 Flushes trade name the Company applied discount rate of 11.3% annual

revenue growth rates ranging from negative 13.6% to positive 1.5% and long-term terminal growth rate of 1.5%

Cash flow projections used were based on managements estimates of revenue growth rates contribution margins

and earnings before income taxes depreciation and amortization EBITDA The discount rate used was based on

the weighted-average cost of capital We also considered the fair value concepts of market participant and thus all

amounts included in the long-term forecast reflect managements best estimate of what market participant could

realize over the projection period After taking all of these factors into consideration the estimated fair value of the

asset group was then compared to the carrying value of the 2000 Flushes trade name asset group to determine the

amount of the impairment Based on the results of this Step analysis the 2000 Flushes asset groups estimated fair

value was determined to be lower than its carrying value Consequently we recorded non-cash before tax

impairment charge of $1.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year

2013 to reduce the carrying value of the 2000

Flushes asset to its fair value of $7.9 million

An intangible asset valuation is dependent on number of significant estimates and assumptions including

macroeconomic conditions overall category growth rates sales growth rates cost containment and margin

expansion and expense levels for advertising and promotions and general overhead all of which must be developed

from market participant standpoint While we believe that the estimates and assumptions used in our analysis are

reasonable actual events and results could differ substantially from those included in the valuation In the event that

business conditions change in the future we may be required to reassess and update our forecasts and estimates used

in subsequent impairment analyses If the results of these future analyses are lower than current estimates an

additional impairment charge may result at that time

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2013 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued ASU No 2013-11 Presentation of an

Unrecognized Tax Benefit When Net Operating Loss Carryforward Similar Tax Loss or Tax Credit

Carryforward Exists which is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after

December 15 2013 The new rules require companies to present in the financial statements an unrecognized tax

benefit as reduction to deferred tax asset for net operating loss carryforward similar tax loss or tax credit

carryforward except to the extent such items are not available or not intended to be used at the reporting date to

settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of tax position In such instances the

unrecognized tax benefit is required to be presented in the financial statements as liability and not be combined

with deferred tax assets The Company is currently evaluating this updated authoritative guidance but it does not

expect the adoption of this guidance to have material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related

disclosures

In December 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-11 Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 2013 and interim periods within

those annual periods This authoritative guidance was issued to enhance disclosure requirements on offsetting

financial assets and liabilities The new rules require companies to disclose both
gross

and net information about

instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial position as well as instruments and

transactions subject to netting arrangement In January 2013 the FASB further issued ASU No 2013-01

Clar/jing the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities to address implementation issues

surrounding the scope of ASU No 2011-11 and to clarify the scope
of the offsetting disclosures and address any

46



unintended consequences The Company has evaluated this updated authoritative guidance and it does not expect

the adoption of this guidance to have material impact on its consolidated financial statement disclosures

Related Parties

On October 11 2011 the Companys Board of Directors elected Mr Gregory Sandfort as director of WD-40

Company Mr Sandfort is President and Chief Executive Officer of Tractor Supply Company Tractor Supply
which is WD-40 Company customer that acquires products from the Company in the ordinary course of business

The consolidated financial statements include sales to Tractor Supply of $0.8 million and $0.6 million for fiscal

years
2013 and 2012 respectively Accounts receivable from Tractor Supply were $0.1 million as of August 31

2013

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company is exposed to variety of risks including foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations In the normal

course of business the Company employs established policies and procedures to manage its exposure to fluctuations

in foreign currency values

All of the Companys international subsidiaries operate in functional currencies other than the U.S dollar As

result the Company is exposed to foreign currency
related risk when the financial statements of its international

subsidiaries are translated for consolidation purposes from functional currencies to U.S dollars This foreign

currency risk can affect sales expenses and profits as well as assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies

other than the U.S dollar The Company does not enter into any hedging activities to mitigate this foreign currency

translation risk

The Companys U.K subsidiary whose functional currency is Pound Sterling utilizes foreign currency forward

contracts to limit its
exposure

in converting forecasted cash balances denominated in non-functional currencies The

principal currency affected is the Euro The Company regularly monitors its foreign exchange exposures to ensure

the overall effectiveness of its foreign currency hedge positions While the Company engages in foreign currency

hedging activity to reduce its risk for accounting purposes none of its foreign currency forward contracts are

designated as hedges

The Company has performed sensitivity analysis related to its foreign currency
forward contracts outstanding at

August 31 2013 If the foreign currency exchange rates relevant to those contracts were to change unfavorably by

10% the Company would incur loss of approximately $1.0 million

Interest Rate Risk

As of August 31 2013 the Company had $63.0 million outstanding balance on its existing $125.0 million

revolving credit facility agreement with Bank of America N.A Bank of America This $125.0 million revolving

credit facility is subject to interest rate fluctuations Under the terms of the credit facility agreement the Company

may borrow loans in U.S dollars or in foreign currencies from time to time until Januaury 2018 All loans

denominated in U.S dollars will accrue interest at the banks Prime rate or at LIBOR plus margin of 0.85 percent

together with any applicable mandatory liquid asset costs imposed by non-U.S banking regulatory authorities All

loans denominated in foreign currencies will accrue interest at LIBOR plus 0.85 percent Any significant increase in

the banks Prime rate and/or LIBOR rate could have material effect on interest expense incurred on any

borrowings outstanding under the credit facility

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Companys consolidated financial statements at August 31 2013 and 2012 and for each of the three fiscal years

in the period ended August 31 2013 and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are

included in Item 15 of this report
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Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data in thousands except per share

data

Fiscal Year Ended August31 2013

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total

Net sales 95264 86712 93103 93469 368548

Gross profit 47727 44126 47784 49526 189163

Net income 10944 10461 10267 8141 39813

Diluted earnings per common share 0.69 0.66 0.66 0.53 2.54

Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2012

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total

Net sales 84945 85966 87022 84851 342784

Gross profit 41338 42143 43082 41919 168482

Net income 6792 10584 9136 8973 35485

Diluted earnings per common share 0.42 0.65 0.57 0.56 2.20

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term disclosure controls and procedures is defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e promulgated under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Exchange Act The term disclosure controls and procedures means controls

and other procedures of Company that are designed to ensure the information required to be disclosed by the

Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within

the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without

limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Company in the

reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Companys

management including its principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar

functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures The Companys Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures as of August 31 2013 the end of the period covered by this report the Evaluation Date and they have

concluded that as of the Evaluation Date such controls and procedures were effective at ensuring that required

information will be disclosed on timely basis in the Companys reports filed under the Exchange Act Although

management believes the Companys existing disclosure controls and procedures are adequate to enable the

Company to comply with its disclosure obligations management continues to review and update such controls and

procedures The Company has disclosure committee which consists of certain members of the Companys senior

management

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule l3a-15D Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its

internal control over financial reporting based upon the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 1992 Based on that

evaluation management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting is effective as of August 31

2013
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Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP independent registered public accounting firm who audited and reported on the

consolidated financial statements of WD-40 Company included in Item 15 of this report has audited the

effectiveness of WD-40 Companys internal control over financial reporting as of August 31 2013 as stated in their

report included in Item 15 of this report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

For the quarter ended August 31 2013 there were no significant changes to the Companys internal control over

financial reporting that materially affected or would be reasonably likely to materially affect its internal control

over financial reporting

Item 911 Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by this item is set forth under the headings Security Ownership of Directors and

Executive Officers Nominees for Election as Directors Audit Committee and Section 16a Beneficial

Ownership Reporting Compliance in the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission in connection with the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on December 10 2013 Proxy

Statement which information is incorporated by reference herein Additional information concerning executive

officers of the Registrant required by this item is included in this report following Item of Part under the heading

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Registrant has financial reporting code of ethics applicable to its principal executive officer principal

financial officer principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar functions copy of the

financial reporting code of ethics applicable to such persons may be found on the Registrants internet website on

the Officers and Directors link from the Investors page at www.wd40company.com

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings Board of

Directors Compensation Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation Compensation

Discussion and Analysis Compensation Committee Report Executive Compensation Supplemental Death

Benefit Plans and Supplemental Insurance Benefits and Change of Control Severance Agreements

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Certain information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings

Principal Security Holders and Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information regarding shares of the Companys common stock authorized for issuance

under equity compensation plans as of August 31 2013

Number of securities

remaining available for

Number of securities to future issuance under

be issued upon exercise Weighted-average exercise equity compensation plans

of outstanding options price of outstanding options excluding securities

warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column

Plan cateorv

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 36l730 33.132 1987876

Equity compensation plans not

approvedbysecurityholders n/a n/a n/a

3617301 33.132 1987876

Includes 168591 securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options 151728 securities to be issued pursuant to outstanding

restricted stock units 17180 securities to be issued pursuant to outstanding performance share units PSUs based on 100% of the target

number of PSU shares to be issued upon achievement of the applicable performance measures specified for such PSUs and 24231 securities

to be issued pursuant to outstanding market share units MSUs based on 100% of the target number of MSU shares to be issued upon

achievement of the applicable performance measure specified for such MSUs

Weighted average exercise price only applies to stock options outstanding of 168591 which is included as component of the number of

securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options warrants and rights
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings Director

Independence Audit Committee and Related Party Transactions Review and Oversight

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading

Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

51



PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Page

Documents filed as part of this report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-I

Consolidated Balance Sheets F-2

Consolidated Statements of Operations
F-3

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income F-4

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity
F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

Financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the

consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

Exhibit

No Description

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

3a Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 22 2012

Exhibit 3a thereto

3b Amended and Restated Bylaws of WD-40 Company incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 8-K

filed June 25 2012 Exhibit 3b thereto

Material Contracts

Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements Exhibits 10a through 10o are management contracts and

compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits pursuant to Item 15b

10a WD-40 Company 2007 Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed

October 22 2012 Exhibit 10a thereto

10b Fourth Amended and Restated WD-40 Company 1990 Incentive Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference

from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 16 2009 Exhibit 10a thereto

10c WD-40 Directors Compensation Policy and Election Plan dated October 15 2013

10d Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Registrant and its executive officers and directors

10e Form of Market Share Unit Award Agreement incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 8-K filed

October 25 2012 Exhibit 10a thereto

10f Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement for 2011 awards to executive officers under the WD-40

Company 2007 Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October

22 2012 Exhibit 10e thereto

10g Amended and Restated of WD-40 Companys Performance Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by

reference from the Registrants Proxy Statement filed November 2012 Appendix thereto

10h Form of WD-40 Company Supplemental Death Benefit Plan applicable to certain executive officers of the

Registrant incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 18 2010 Exhibit 10f

thereto

10i Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Garry Ridge dated February 14

2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 201 Exhibit 10h thereto

10j Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Michael Irwin dated February 14

2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 2011 Exhibit 10i thereto

10k Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Michael Freeman dated February 14

2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 2011 Exhibit 10j thereto
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101 Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Geoffrey Holdsworth dated February

14 2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 2011 Exhibit 10h

thereto

10m Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Graham Mimer dated February 14

2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 2011 Exhibit 101 thereto

10n Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and William Noble dated February 14

2006 incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 20 2011 Exhibit 10m thereto

10o Change of Control Severance Agreement between WD-40 Company and Jay Rembolt dated October 16 2008

incorporated by reference from the Registrants Form 10-K filed October 23 2008 Exhibit 10m thereto

10p Credit Agreement dated June 17 2011 among \VD-40 Company and Bank of America N.A incorporated by

reference from the Registrants Form 8-K filed June 17 2011 Exhibit 10a thereto

10q First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated January 2013 among WD-40 Company and Bank of America

NA incorporated by reference from the Registrantss Form 10-Q filed January 2013 Exhihit 10b thereto

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm dated October 22 2013

1a Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31b Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32a Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32b Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 INS XBRL Instance Document

101 SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101 PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly

caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

WD-40 COMPANY
Registrant

Is JAY REMBOLT
JAY REMBOLT
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Date October 22 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Is GARRY RIDGE

GARRY RIDGE
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Date October 22 2013

Is GILES BATEMAN
GILES BATEMAN Director

Date October 22 2013

Is PETER BEWLEY
PETER BEWLEY Director

Date October 22 2013

Is RICHARD COLLATO
RICHARD COLLATO Director

Date October 22 2013

Is MARIO CRIVELLO
MARIO CRIVELLO Director

Date October 22 2013

Is LINDA LANG
LINDA LANG Director
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Date October 22 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of WD-40 Company

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations

of comprehensive income of shareholders equity and of cash flows present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of WD-40 Company and its subsidiaries at August 31 2013 and August 31 2012 and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31 2013 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion the

Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31

2013 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in 1992 The Companys management is

responsible for these financial statements for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on

these financial statements and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated

audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Diego CA

October 22 2013
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WD-40 COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except share and per share amounts

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 53434 69719

Short-term investments 37516 1033

Trade accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful

accounts of $540 and $391 at August 31 2013

and 2012 respectively 56878 55491

Inventories 32433 29797

Current deferred tax assets net 5672 5551

Other current assets 6210 4526
Total current assets 192143 166117

Property and equipment net 8535 9063
Goodwill 95236 95318
Other intangible assets net 24292 27685

Other assets 2858 2687
Total assets 323064 300870

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 19693 21242
Accrued liabilities 16562 16492

Revolving credit facility 63000 45000
Accrued payroll and related

expenses 17244 5904
Income taxes payable 1146 807

Total current liabilities 117645 89445

Long-term deferred tax liabilities net 24011 24007
Deferred and other long-term liabilities 1901 1956

Total liabilities 143557 115408

Shareholders equity

Common stock authorized 36000000 shares $0.00 par value

19392979 and 19208845 shares issued at August 31 2013 and 2012

respectively and 15285536 and 15697534 shares outstanding at

August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively 19 19

Additional paid-in capital 133239 126210

Retained earnings 214034 193265

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 5043 2727
Common stock held in treasury at cost 4107443 and 3511311

shares at August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively 162742 131305
Total shareholders equity 179507 185462

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 323064 300870

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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WD-40 COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Net sales 368548 342784 336409

Cost of products sold 179385 174302 168297

Gross profit 189163 168482 168112

Operating expenses

Selling general and administrative 104378 88918 87311

Advertising and sales promotion 24811 25702 25132

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 2260 2133 1537

Impairment of definite-lived intangible assets 1077

Total operating expenses 132526 116753 113980

Income from operations 56637 51729 54132

Other income expense

Interest income 506 261 228

Interest expense 693 729 1076
Other income expense net 417 348 247

Income before income taxes 56867 50913 53531

Provision for income taxes 17054 15428 17098

Net income 39813 35485 36433

Earnings per common share

Basic 2.55 2.22 2.16

Diluted 2.54 2.20 2.14

Shares used in
per

share calculations

Basic 15517 15914 16803

Diluted 15619 16046 16982

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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WD-40 COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Net income 39813 35485 36433

Other comprehensive loss income

Foreign currency translation adjustment 2316 2369 3976

Total comprehensive income 37497 33116 40409

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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WD-40 COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

In thousands except share and per share amounts

Accumulated

Balance at August 31 2010

Issuance of common stock upon

settlements of stock-based equity awards

Stock-based compensation

Tax benefits from settlements of

stock-based equity awards

Cash dividends $1.08 per share

Acquisition of treasury stock

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net income

Balance at August 31 2011

Issuance of common stock upon

settlements of stock-based equity awards

Stock-based compensation

Tax benefits from settlements of

stock-based equity awards

Cash dividends $1.14 per share

Acquisition of treasury stock

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net income

Balance at August 31 2012

Issuance of common stock upon

settlements of stock-based equity awards

Stock-based compensation

Tax benefits from settlements of

stock based equity awards

Cash dividends $1.22 per share

Acquisition of treasury stock

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net income

Balance at August 31 2013

Additional

Paid-in

CaJtal

18 93101

Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stock Shareholders

Earnins Income Loss Shares Amount Equity

157805 4334 1563498 50066 196524

19523 19524

30333033

1365

18230 18230

1017457 41399 41399

3976 3976

36433 36433

176008 358 2580955 91465 201226

5710 5.710

2769 2769

709 709

18228 18228

930356 39840 39840

2.3691 2369

35485 35485

193265 2727 3511311 131305 185462

3685 3685

2453 2453

891 891

19044 19044

596132 31437 31437

2316 2316

39813
19813

214034 5043 4107443 162742 179507

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Common Stock

Shares Amount

18251142

697726

Other Total

1365

18948868 19 117022

259977

19208845 19 126210

184134

19392979 19 133239
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WD-40 COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Operating activities

Net income 39813 35485 36433

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 5359 4869 4386

Impairment of definite-lived intangible assets 1077

Net losses on sales and disposals of property and equipment 67 154

Deferred income tax 1004 367 2831

Excess tax benefits from settlements of stock-based equity awards 850 671 1195
Stock-based compensation 2453 2769 3033

Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses net 1113 2112 469

Provision for bad debts 511 157 162

Changes in assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 3800 226 9776
Inventories 2829 12347 2654
Other assets 1998 64 2795

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 886 3206 657

Accrued payroll and related
expenses 10362 2794 7802

Income taxes payable 2284 1412 2661

Deferred and other long-term liabilities 39 545 2145
Net cash provided by operating activities 51569 34249 30009

Investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 2854 3765 2875
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 158 1167 170

Purchases of short-term investments 38838 1029 515
Maturities of short-term investments 2000 514

Net cash used in investing activities 39534 3113 3220

Financing activities

Repayments of long-term debt 10715 10714

Proceeds from revolving credit facility 18000 114550 5000

Repayments of revolving credit facility 69550 5000
Dividends paid 19044 18228 18230
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 4791 7030 20215

Treasury stock purchases 31437 39840 41399
Excess tax benefits from settlements of stock-based equity awards 850 671 1195

Net cash used in financing activities 26840 16082 48933
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1480 1728 2609

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 16285 13326 19535
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 69719 56393 75928

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 53434 69719 56393

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for

Interest 698 642 986

Income taxes net of tax refunds received 16614 13240 11424

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-6



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note The Company

WD-40 Company the Company based in San Diego California is global consumer products company

dedicated to delivering unique high value and easy-to-use solutions for wide variety of maintenance needs of

doer and on-the-job users by leveraging and building upon the Companys fortress of brands The Company

markets multi-purpose maintenance products under the WD-40 3-IN-ONE and BLUE WORKS brand names

Currently included in the WD-40 brand are the WD-40 multi-use product and the WD-40 Specialist and WD-40

BikeTM product lines The Company launched the Specialist product line in the United States U.S
during the first quarter

of fiscal
year

2012 and continued to launch the product line in Canada and select countries in

Latin America Asia and Europe throughout fiscal years
2012 and 2013 The WD-40 Specialist product line has

contributed to sales of the multi-purpose maintenance products since its initial launch In the fourth quarter of fiscal

year 2012 the Company developed the WD-40 Bike product line which is focused on comprehensive line of

bicycle maintenance products that include wet and dry chain lubricants heavy-duty degreasers foaming bike wash

and frame protectants that are designed specifically for the avid cyclist bike enthusiasts and mechanics The

Company also markets the following homecare and cleaning brands Xl4 mildew stain remover and automatic

toilet bowl cleaners 2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl cleaners Carpet
Fresh and No Vac

rug and room

deodorizers Spot Shot aerosol and liquid carpet stain removers lOOl household cleaners and
rug

and room

deodorizers and Lava and Solvol heavy-duty hand cleaners

The Companys brands are sold in various locations around the world Multi-purpose maintenance products are sold

worldwide in markets throughout North Central and South America Asia Australia and the Pacific Rim Europe

the Middle East and Africa Homecare and cleaning products are sold primarily in North America the United

Kingdom U.K Australia and the Pacific Rim The Companys products are sold primarily through mass retail

and home center stores warehouse club stores grocery stores hardware stores automotive parts outlets sport

retailers independent bike dealers and industrial distributors and suppliers

Note Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets liabilities revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods Actual results

could differ from those estimates

Supplier Risk

The Company relies on limited number of suppliers including single or sole source suppliers for certain of its raw

materials packaging product components and other necessary supplies Where possible and where it makes

business sense the Company works with secondary or multiple suppliers to qualify additional supply sources To

date the Company has been able to obtain adequate supplies of these materials which are used in the production of

its multipurpose maintenance products and homecare and cleaning products in timely manner from existing

sources

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
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Short-term In vestments

Short-term investments include securities with stated or callable maturities of three to no more than twelve months

The Companys short-term investments consisted of term deposits and callable time deposits with carrying value of

$37.5 million and $1.0 million at August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively These term deposits were subject to

penalty for early redemption before their maturity

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest The allowance for doubtful

accounts is the Companys best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable The

Company detennines the allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical write-off experience and the

identification of specific balances deemed uncollectable Trade accounts receivable are charged off against the

allowance when the Company believes it is probable that the trade accounts receivable will not be recovered The

Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers Allowance for doubtful

accounts related to the Companys trade accounts receivable were not significant at August 31 2013 and 2012

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost as determined based on the average cost method or market When

necessary
the Company adjusts the carrying value of its inventory to the lower of cost or market including any

costs to sell or dispose of such inventory Appropriate consideration is given by the Company to obsolescence

excessive inventory levels product deterioration and other factors when evaluating net realizable value for the

purposes of determining the lower of cost or market

Included in inventories are amounts for certain raw materials and components that the Company has provided to its

third-party contract manufacturers but that remain unpaid to the Company as of the balance sheet date The

Companys contract manufacturers package products to the Companys specifications and upon order from the

Company ship ready-to-sell inventory to either the Companys third-party distribution centers or directly to its

customers The Company transfers certain raw materials and components to these contract manufacturers for use in

the manufacturing process
Contract manufacturers are obligated to pay the Company for these raw materials and

components upon receipt Amounts receivable from the contract manufacturers as of the balance sheet date related

to transfers of these raw materials and components by the Company to its contract manufacturers are considered

product held at third-party contract manufacturers and are included in inventories in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based upon

estimated useful lives of ten to forty years
for buildings and improvements three to fifteen years for machinery and

equipment three to five years for vehicles three to ten years for furniture and fixtures and three to five years for

software and computer equipment Depreciation expense
totaled $3.1 million for fiscal year 2013 and $2.7 million

for each of fiscal years 2012 and 2011 These amounts include factory depreciation expense recognized as cost of

products sold totaling $1.2 million for fiscal year 2013 and $1.1 million for each of fiscal years 2012 and 2011

Software

The Company capitalizes costs related to computer software obtained or developed for internal use Software

obtained for internal use has generally been enterprise-level business and finance software that the Company

customizes to meet its specific operational needs Costs incurred in the application development phase are

capitalized and amortized over their useful lives which are generally three to five years

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for possible impairment in accordance with the authoritative guidance on

goodwill intangibles and other The Company assesses possible impairments to goodwill at least annually during its

second fiscal quarter and otherwise when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that an

impairment condition may exist En performing the annual impairment test of its goodwill the Company considers

the fair value concepts of market participant and the highest and best use for its intangible assets
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In accordance with Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment

companies are permitted to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-

step quantitative goodwill impairment test If after assessing qualitative factors an entity determines it is not more

likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount then performing the two-step

impairment test is unnecessary If deemed necessary two-step quantitative test is performed to identify the

potential impairment and to measure the amount of goodwill impairment if any Any required impairment losses are

recorded as reduction in the carrying amount of the related asset and charged to results of operations In addition to

the annual impairment test goodwill is evaluated each reporting period to determine whether events and

circumstances would more likely than not reduce the fair value of reporting unit below its carrying value

Long-lived Assets

The Companys long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets Long-lived

assets are depreciated or amortized as applicable on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives The

Company assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and/or its remaining useful life

may no longer be appropriate Any required impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the assets

carrying amount exceeds its fair value which is the amount at which the asset could be bought or sold in current

transaction between willing market participants and would be recorded as reduction in the carrying amount of the

related asset and charge to results of operations An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the

expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 the Company recorded non-cash before tax impairment charge of

$1.1 million to reduce the carrying value of the 2000 Flushes trade name intangible asset to its fair value For

additional details refer to the information set forth in Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets No

impairments to its long-lived assets were identified by the Company during fiscal years 2012 or 2011

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents short-term investments trade accounts

receivable accounts payable short-term borrowings and foreign currency exchange contracts The carrying amounts

of these financial instruments approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist

principally of cash and cash equivalents short-term investments and trade accounts receivable The Companys

policy is to place its cash in high credit quality financial institutions in investments that include demand deposits

term deposits and callable time deposits The Companys trade accounts receivable are derived from customers

located in North America South America Asia-Pacific and Europe The Company limits its credit exposure from

trade accounts receivable by performing on-going credit evaluations of customers as well as insuring its trade

accounts receivable in selected markets

insurance Coverage

The Company carries insurance policies to cover insurable risks such as property damage business interruption

product liability workers compensation and other risks with coverage
and other terms that it believes to be

adequate and appropriate These policies may be subject to applicable deductible or retention amounts coverage

limitations and exclusions The Company does not maintain self-insurance with respect to its material risks

therefore the Company has not provided for self-insurance reserves as of August 31 2013 and 2012

Revenue Recognition and Sales Incentives

Sales are recognized as revenue at the time of delivery to the customer when risks of loss and title have passed

Sales are recorded net of allowances for damaged goods and other sales returns sales incentives trade promotions

and cash discounts

The Company records the costs of promotional activities such as sales incentives trade promotions coupon offers

and cash discounts that are given to its customers as reduction of sales in its consolidated statements of operations
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The Company offers on-going trade promotion programs with customers and consumer coupon programs that

require the Company to estimate and accrue the expected costs for such programs Programs include cooperative

marketing programs shelf price reductions coupons rebates consideration and allowances given to retailers for

shelf
space

and/or favorable display positions in their stores and other promotional activities Costs related to

rebates cooperative advertising and other promotional activities are recorded as reduction to sales upon delivery of

the Companys products to its customers Coupon costs are based upon historical redemption rates and are recorded

as reduction to sales as incurred which is when the coupons are circulated

Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold primarily includes the cost of products manufactured on the Companys behalf by its third-

party contract manufacturers net of volume and other rebates Cost of products sold also includes the costs to

manufacture WD-40 concentrate which is done at the Companys own facilities or at third-party contract

manufacturers When the concentrate is manufactured by the Company cost of products sold includes direct labor

direct materials and supplies in-bound freight costs related to purchased raw materials and finished product and

depreciation of machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing process

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses include costs related to selling the Companys products such as the

cost of the sales force and related sales and broker commissions shipping and handling costs paid to third-party

companies to distribute finished goods from the Companys third-party contract manufacturers and distribution

centers to its customers other general and administrative costs related to the Companys business such as general

overhead legal and accounting fees insurance and depreciation and other employee-related costs to support

marketing human resources finance supply chain information technology and research and development activities

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs associated with in-bound freight are generally included in cost of sales whereas

shipping and handling costs associated with out-bound transportation are included in selling general and

administrative expenses and are recorded at the time of shipment of product to the Companys customers Out

bound shipping and handling costs were $15.7 million $15.4 million and $15.0 million for fiscal years 2013 2012

and 2011 respectively

Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses

Advertising and sales promotion expenses are expensed as incurred Advertising and sales promotion expenses

include costs associated with promotional activities that the Company pays to third parties which include costs for

advertising television print media and internet administration of coupon programs consumer promotions product

demonstrations public relations agency costs package design expenses and market research costs

Research and Development

The Company is involved in research and development efforts that include the ongoing development or innovation

of new products and the improvement extension or renovation of existing products or product lines All research

and development costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling general and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses were $7.2 million $5.1 million and $5.5 million in fiscal
years 2013 2012 and

2011 respectively These
expenses

include costs associated with general research and development activities as

well as those associated with internal staff overhead design testing market research and consultants

Income Taxes

Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year deferred

income tax liability or asset is established for the expected future tax consequences resulting from the differences in

financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities valuation allowance is provided if it is more likely than

not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized In addition to valuation allowances the Company

provides for uncertain tax positions when such tax positions do not meet the recognition thresholds or measurement

standards prescribed by the authoritative guidance on income taxes Amounts for uncertain tax positions are adjusted

in periods when new information becomes available or when positions are effectively settled The Company

recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as component of income tax expense
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U.S federal income tax expense
is provided on remittances of foreign earnings and on unremitted foreign earnings

that are not indefinitely reinvested U.S federal income taxes and foreign withholding taxes are not provided when

foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested The Company determines whether its foreign subsidiaries will invest

their undistributed earnings indefinitely based on the capital needs of the foreign subsidiaries and reassesses this

determination each reporting period Changes to the Companys determination may be warranted based on the

Companys experience as well as its plans regarding future international operations and expected remittances

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S dollars at exchange rates in

effect at the balance sheet date Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing

during each reporting period Gains and losses from translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive

income or loss Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency
transactions transactions denominated in currency

other than the entitys functional currency are included as other income expense in the Companys consolidated

statements of operations The Company had $0.4 million of net gains $0.3 million of net losses and $0.2 million of

net gains in foreign currency transactions during fiscal years 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

In the normal course of business the Company employs established policies and procedures to manage its exposure

to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates The Companys U.K subsidiary whose functional currency
is

Pound Sterling utilizes foreign currency forward contracts to limit its exposure in converting forecasted cash

balances denominated in non-functional currencies The principal currency
affected is the Euro The Company

regularly monitors its foreign currency exchange rate exposures to ensure the overall effectiveness of its foreign

currency hedge positions While the Company engages in foreign currency hedging activity to reduce its risk for

accounting purposes none of its foreign currency forward contracts are designated as hedges

Foreign currency
forward contracts are carried at fair value with net realized and unrealized gains and losses

recognized currently in other income expense in the Companys consolidated statements of operations Cash flows

from settlements of foreign currency forward contracts are included in operating activities in the consolidated

statements of cash flows Foreign currency forward contracts in an asset position at the end of the reporting period

are included in other current assets while foreign currency forward contracts in liability position at the end of the

reporting period are included in accrued liabilities in the Companys consolidated balance sheets At August 31

2013 the Company had notional amount of $9.5 million outstanding in foreign currency
forward contracts which

mature from September 2013 through December 2013 Unrealized net gains related to foreign currency forward

contracts were not significant at August 31 2013 and 2012

Earnings per Common Share

Unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents

whether paid or unpaid are participating securities that are required to be included in the computation of earnings

per common share pursuant to the two-class method Accordingly the Companys outstanding unvested if any and

outstanding vested restricted stock units that provide such nonforfeitable rights to dividend equivalents are included

as participating securities in the calculation of earnings per common share EPS pursuant to the two-class

method

The Company calculates EPS using the two-class method which provides for an allocation of net income between

common stock and other participating securities based on their respective participation rights to share in dividends

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income available to common shareholders for the period by the weighted-

average number of common shares outstanding during the period Net income available to common shareholders for

the period includes dividends paid to common shareholders during the period plus proportionate share of

undistributed net income allocable to common shareholders for the period the proportionate share of undistributed

net income allocable to common shareholders for the period is based on the proportionate share of total weighted-

average common shares and participating securities outstanding during the period

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income available to common shareholders for the period by the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding during the period increased by the weighted-average number of

potentially dilutive common shares dilutive securities that were outstanding during the period if the effect is

dilutive Dilutive securities are comprised of stock options restricted stock units performance share units and

market share units granted under the Companys prior stock option plan and current equity incentive plan

F-li



Stock-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based equity awards exchanged for employee and non-employee director services

in accordance with the authoritative guidance for share-based payments Under such guidance stock-based

compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the award and is

recognized as expense net of estimated forfeitures over the requisite service period Compensation expense
is

amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award which is generally the

maximum vesting period of the award

The fair value of stock options is determined using Black-Scholes option pricing model The fair values of

restricted stock unit awards and performance share unit awards are based on the fair value of the Companys

common stock on the date that such awards are granted The fair value of market share unit awards is determined

using Monte Carlo simulation model For the performance share unit awards the Company adjusts the

compensation expense over the service period based upon the expected achievement level of the applicable

performance conditions As the grant date fair value of market share unit awards reflects the probabilities of the

actual number of such awards expected to vest compensation expense
for such awards is not adjusted based on the

expected achievement level of the applicable performance condition An estimated forfeiture rate is applied and

included in the calculation of stock-based compensation expense at the time that the stock-based equity awards are

granted and revised if
necessary

in subsequent periods if actual forfeiture rates differ from those estimates

Compensation expense related to the Companys stock-based equity awards is recorded as selling general and

administrative expenses
in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

The Company calculates its windfall tax benefits additional paid-in capital pool that is available to absorb tax

deficiencies in accordance with the short-cut method provided for by the authoritative guidance for share-based

payments As of August 31 2013 the Company determined that it has remaining pool of windfall tax benefits

Segment Information

The Company discloses certain information about its business segments which are determined consistent with the

way the Companys Chief Operating Decision Maker CODM organizes and evaluates financial information

internally for making operating decisions and assessing performance The Company is organized on the basis of

geographical locations In addition the CODM assesses and measures on revenue based on product groups

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2013 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued ASU No 2013-02 Reporting of

Amounts Reclass/Ied Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income which is effective for reporting periods

beginning after December 15 2012 This authoritative guidance was issued to improve the reporting of

reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income AOCI This guidance requires companies to

provide information about the amounts reclassified out of AOCI either in single note or on the face of the financial

statements Significant amounts reclassified out of AOCI should be presented by the respective line items of net

income but only if the amount reclassified is required under U.S GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net

income in the same reporting period For amounts not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income

cross-reference to other disclosures provided for in accordance with U.S GAAP is required The adoption of this

new authoritative guidance did not have an impact on the Companys consolidated financial statement disclosures

In June 2011 the FASB issued updated authoritative guidance to amend the presentation of comprehensive income

Under these new presentation rules companies have the option to present other comprehensive income in either

single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements The updated

authoritative guidance on comprehensive income is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years

beginning after December 15 2011 with early adoption permitted The amendments in this guidance also require

that reclassifications from other comprehensive income to net income be presented on the face of the consolidated

financial statements but this portion of the guidance was indefinitely deferred in accordance with ASU No 2011-12

which was issued by the FASB in December 2011 In September 2012 the Company adopted this updated

authoritative guidance and elected to present comprehensive income in two separate but consecutive statements as

part of its consolidated financial statements Other than change in presentation the adoption of this new

authoritative guidance did not have an impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2013 the FASB issued ASU No 20 13-11 Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When Net

Operating Loss Carryforward Similar Tax Loss or Tax Credit Carryforward Exists which is effective for

fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15 2013 The new rules require

companies to present in the financial statements an unrecognized tax benefit as reduction to deferred tax asset for

net operating loss carryforward similar tax loss or tax credit carryforward except to the extent such items are

not available or not intended to be used at the reporting date to settle any additional income taxes that would result

from the disallowance of tax position In such instances the unrecognized tax benefit is required to be presented in

the financial statements as liability and not be combined with deferred tax assets The Company is currently

evaluating this updated authoritative guidance but it does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have material

impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures

In December 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-11 Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 2013 and interim periods within

those annual periods This authoritative guidance was issued to enhance disclosure requirements on offsetting

financial assets and liabilities The new rules require companies to disclose both gross and net information about

instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial position as well as instruments and

transactions subject to netting arrangement In January 2013 the FASB further issued ASU No 2013-01

Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities to address implementation issues

surrounding the scope of ASU No 2011-11 and to clarify the
scope

of the offsetting disclosures and address any

unintended consequences The Company has evaluated this updated authoritative guidance and it does not expect

the adoption of this guidance to have material impact on its consolidated financial statement disclosures

Note Fair Value Measurements

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Company categorizes its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into hierarchy that categorizes

fair value measurements into the following three levels based on the types of inputs used in measuring their fair

value

Level Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Observable market-based inputs or observable inputs that are corroborated by market data and

Level Unobservable inputs reflecting the Companys own assumptions

The Companys financial assets are summarized below segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the

fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value in thousands

August31 2013

Total Level Level Level

Assets

Time deposits 17203 17203

Term deposits 894 894

Callable time deposits 36622 36622

Total 54719 54719

August 31 2012

Total Level Level Level

Assets

Money market funds 4025 4025

Term deposits 1033 1033

Total 5058 5058

Money market funds and time deposits are highly liquid investments classified as cash equivalents and term deposits

and callable time deposits are classified as short-term investments in the Companys consolidated balance sheets at

August 31 2013 and 2012
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The carrying values of term deposits time deposits and callable time deposits are recorded at cost which

approximates fair value that is based on third party quotations of similar assets in active markets and are thus

classified as Level within the fair value hierarchy

The carrying values of trade accounts receivable accounts payable and the revolving line of credit approximate their

fair values due to their short-term maturities

Nonfinancial Assets and Liabilities

The Companys nonfinancial assets and liabilities are recognized at fair value subsequent to initial recognition when

they are deemed to be impaired There were no nonfinancial assets and liabilities deemed to be impaired and

measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis as of August 31 2013 and 2012 with the exception of the 2000

Flushes trade name for which an impairment charge of $1.1 million was recorded to in the fourth quarter of fiscal

year 2013 For additional details refer to the information set forth in Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Note Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Product held at third-party contract manufacturers 3790 4142

Raw materials and components 4597 4093

Work-in-process 18 347

Finished goods 24028 21215

Total 32433 29797

Note Property and Equipment

Property and equipment net consisted of the following in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Machinery equipment and vehicles 12035 12517

Buildings and improvements 3781 3574

Computer and office equipment 3389 3270

Software 5997 5530

Furniture and fixtures 1285 1229

Land 283 287

Subtotal 26770 26407

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 18235 17344

Total 8535 9063
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Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by segment in thousands

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total

BalanceasofAugust3l2011 85578 8663 1211 95452

Translation adjustments 20 114- 134
Balance as of August 31 2012 85558 8549 1211 95318

Translation adjustments 13 69 82
Balance as of August 31 2013 85545 8480 1211 95236

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2013 the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test The

annual goodwill impairment test was performed at the reporting unit level as required by the authoritative guidance

Under updated authoritative guidance which was issued by the FASB in September 2011 companies are permitted

to perform qualitative assessment to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative

goodwill impairment test The Company early adopted the provisions of this new guidance in conjunction with its

second quarter of fiscal year 2012 annual goodwill impairment test and it performed qualitative assessment of all

reporting units of whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying

amount In performing this qualitative assessment the Company assessed relevant events and circumstances that

may impact the fair value and the carrying amount of each of its reporting units Factors that were considered

included but were not limited to the following macroeconomic conditions industry and market conditions

overall financial performance and expected financial performance other entity specific events such as

changes in management or key personnel and events affecting the Companys reporting units such as change

in the composition of net assets or any expected dispositions Based on the results of this qualitative assessment the

Company determined that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of each of its reporting units is less than

its fair value and thus the two-step quantitative analysis was not required As result the Company concluded that

no impairment of its goodwill existed as of February 28 2013

In addition there were no indicators of impairment identified as result of the Companys review of events and

circumstances related to its goodwill subsequent to February 28 2013 To date there have been no impairment

losses identified and recorded related to the Companys goodwill

Definite-lived Intangible Assets

The Companys definite-lived intangible assets which include the 2000 Flushes Spot Shot Carpet Fresh X-14 and

1001 trade names are included in other intangible assets net in the Companys consolidated balance sheets The

following table summarizes the definite-lived intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization and

impairment in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Gross carrying amount 34615 34689

Accumulated amortization 9124 6943
Accumulated impairment of intangible assets 1077
Translation adjustments __J2 61

Net carrying amount 24292 27685

In April 2013 the Company determined based on its review of events and circumstances that there were indicators

that the carrying values of its 2000 Flushes Spot Shot Carpet Fresh and X-14 trade name definite-lived intangible

assets may not be fully recoverable The specific event which existed for each of the trade names was related to the

Companys evaluation work which it started in late April 2013 and was an outcome of discussions with the Board of

Directors in March 2013 to explore the strategic alternatives for these homecare and cleaning products in the

Americas segment As result of this work being performed by the Company starting in late April 2013 it was

determined that there was likelihood of more than 50% that these trade names in certain locations will be sold or

otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of their previously estimated useful lives As result

management performed the Step recoverability test under Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-35
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Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets for each of these trade names In performing the Step recoverability

test the Company compared the carrying value of each asset group which was determined to be at the trade name

level to the total of the undiscounted cash flows expected to be received over the remaining useful life of each trade

name asset group Based on the results of this recoverability test the Company determined that the total of the

undiscounted cash flows exceeded the carrying value for each of these asset groups and that no impairment existed

for any of these trade names as of May 31 2013 In addition in conjunction with performing this recoverability

analysis the Company also performed an evaluation of the remaining useful life for each of these trade names to

determine if they were still appropriate as of May 31 2013 Based on the results of this evaluation the Company

also determined that it was appropriate to reduce the remaining useful life of the 2000 Flushes trade name from

fourteen years and ten months to seven years effective on May 2013 Consequently the Company began to

amortize this trade name on straight-line basis over its new remaining useful life effective on May 2013 The

Company determined that no reduction of the remaining useful lives for the Spot Shot Carpet Fresh X-14 and 1001

trade names were warranted as result of this evaluation

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 as part of the Companys ongoing evaluation of potential strategic

alternatives for certain of its homecare and cleaning products the Company further determined based on its review

of events and circumstances that there were indicators of impairment for the Carpet Fresh and 2000 Flushes trade

names Management accordingly performed the Step recoverability test for these two trade names and based on

the results of this analysis it was determined that the total of the undiscounted cash flows significantly exceeded the

carrying value for the Carpet Fresh asset group
and that no impairment existed for this trade name as of August 31

2013 However the Step analysis indicated that the carrying value of the asset group
for the 2000 Flushes

exceeded its undiscounted future cash flows and consequently second phase of the impairment test Step was

performed specific to the 2000 Flushes trade name to determine whether this trade name is impaired The 2000

Flushes trade name failed Step in the fourth quarter analysis primarily driven by changes in managements current

expectations for future growth and profitability for the 2000 Flushes trade name as compared to those used in the

previous Step analysis In performing the Step analysis the Company determined the fair value of the asset

group utilizing the income approach which is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows The

calculation that is prepared in order to determine the estimated fair value of an asset group requires management to

make assumptions about key inputs in the estimated cash flows including long-term forecasts discount rates and

terminal growth rates In estimating the fair value of the 2000 Flushes trade name the Company applied discount

rate of 11.3% annual revenue growth rates ranging from negative 13.6% to positive 1.5% and long-term terminal

growth rate of 1.5% Cash flow projections used were based on managements estimates of revenue growth rates

contribution margins and earnings before income taxes depreciation and amortization EBITDA The discount

rate used was based on the weighted-average cost of capital The Company also considered the fair value concepts

of market participant and thus all amounts included in the long-term forecast reflect managements best estimate of

what market participant could realize over the projection period After taking all of these factors into

consideration the estimated fair value of the asset group was then compared to the carrying value of the 2000

Flushes trade name asset group to determine the amount of the impairment The inputs used in the impairment fair

value analysis fall within Level of the fair value hierarchy due to the significant unobservable inputs used to

determine fair value Based on the results of this Step analysis the 2000 Flushes asset groups estimated fair value

was determined to be lower than its carrying value Consequently the Company recorded non-cash before tax

impairment charge of $1.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 to reduce the carrying value of the 2000

Flushes asset to its fair value of $7.9 million

An intangible asset valuation is dependent on number of significant estimates and assumptions including

macroeconomic conditions overall category growth rates sales growth rates cost containment and margin

expansion and expense levels for advertising and promotions and general overhead all of which must be developed

from market participant standpoint While the Company believes that the estimates and assumptions used in its

analyses are reasonable actual events and results could differ substantially from those included in the valuation In

the event that business conditions change in the future the Company may be required to reassess and update its

forecasts and estimates used in subsequent impairment analyses If the results of these future analyses are lower than

current estimates an additional impairment charge may result at that time

There were no indicators of impairment identified as result of the Companys review of events and circumstances

related to its 1001 trade name intangible asset for the quarter ended August 31 2013 and thus the Step

recoverability test was not performed for this trade name
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Changes in the carrying amounts of definite-lived intangible assets by segment are summarized below in

thousands

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total

Balance as of August 31 2011 26413 3520 29933

Amortization expense 1861 272 2133
Translation adjustments 162 277 115

Balance as of August 31 2012 24714 2971 27685

Amortization expense 2101 159 2260
Impairment of intangible assets 1077 1077
Translation adjustments 56 56

Balance as of August 31 2013 21536 2756 24292

The estimated amortization expense for the Companys definite-lived intangible assets in future fiscal
years

is as

follows in thousands

Trade Names

Fiscal year 2014 2365

Fiscal year 2015 2365

Fiscal year 2016 2365

Fiscal year 2017 2365

Fiscal year 2018 2365

Thereafter 12467

Total 24292

Included in the total estimated future amortization expense is the amortization
expense

for the 1001 trade name

intangible asset which is based on current foreign currency exchange rates and as result amounts in future periods

may differ from those presented due to fluctuations in those rates

Note Accrued and Other Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Accrued advertising and sales promotion expenses 9986 9963

Accrued professional services fees 1358 1006

Accrued sales taxes 1494 839

Accrued other taxes 368 1243

Other 3356 3441

Total 16562 16492

Accrued payroll and related expenses consisted of the following in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Accrued bonuses 9847 1034

Accrued payroll 2048 1802

Accrued profit sharing 2739 1714

Accrued payroll taxes 1991 892

Other 619 462

Total 17244 5904
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Deferred and other long-term liabilities consisted of the following in thousands

August August

2013 2012

Supplemental employee retirement plan benefits liability 548 598

Other income taxes payable 1243 1297

Other 110 61

Total 1901 1956

Note Debt

Revolving Credit Facility

On June 17 2011 the Company entered into an unsecured credit agreement with Bank of America N.A Bank of

America The agreement consisted of $75.0 million three-year revolving credit facility Under the terms of the

credit facility agreement the Company may initiate loans in U.S dollars or in foreign currencies from time to time

during the three-year period which was set to expire on June 17 2014 Per the terms of the agreement all loans

denominated in U.S dollars will accrue interest at the banks Prime rate or at LIBOR plus predetermined margin

and all loans denominated in foreign currencies will accrue interest at LIBOR plus the same predetermined margin

together with any applicable mandatory liquid asset costs imposed by non-U.S banking regulatory authorities

Interest on outstanding loans is due and payable on quarterly basis through the credit facility maturity date The

Company may also borrow against the credit facility through the issuance of standby letters of credit Outstanding

letters of credit are subject to fee equal to predetermined percent per annum applied to amounts available to be

drawn on outstanding letters of credit The Company will also incur commitment fees for the credit facility at

predetermined annual rate which will be applied to the portion of the total credit facility commitment that has not

been borrowed until outstanding loans and letters of credit exceed one half the total amount of the credit facility

On January 2013 the Company entered into first amendment the Amendment to this existing unsecured

credit agreement with Bank of America The Amendment extends the maturity date of the revolving credit facility

for five years and increases the revolving commitment to an amount not to exceed $125.0 million The new

maturity date for the revolving credit facility per the Amendment is January 2018 In addition per
the terms of

the Amendment the LIBOR margin decreased from 0.90 to 0.85 percent the letter of credit fee decreased from 0.90

to 0.85 percent per annum and the commitment fee decreased from an annual rate of 0.15 percent to 0.12 percent

The Company will incur commitment fees applied to the portion of the total credit facility commitment that has not

been borrowed until outstanding loans and letters of credit exceed $62.5 million To date the Company has used the

proceeds of the revolving credit facility for its stock repurchases and plans to continue using such proceeds for its

general working capital needs and stock repurchases under any existing board approved share buy-back plans

The agreement includes representations warranties and covenants customary for credit facilities of this type as well

as customary events of default and remedies The agreement also requires the Company to maintain minimum

consolidated earnings before interest income taxes depreciation and amortization EBITDA of $40.0 million

measured on trailing twelve month basis at each reporting period

During the fiscal
year

ended August 31 2013 the Company borrowed an additional $18.0 million U.S dollars under

the revolving credit facility The Company regularly converts existing draws on its line of credit to new draws with

new maturity dates and interest rates however the balance on these draws has remained within short-term

classification as result of these conversions As of August 31 2013 the Company had $63.0 million outstanding

balance on the revolving credit facility and was in compliance with all debt covenants under this credit facility

Note Share Repurchase Plans

On December 13 2011 the Companys Board of Directors approved share buy-back plan Under the plan which

was in effect through December 12 2013 the Company was authorized to acquire up to $50.0 million of its

outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer or

Chief Financial Officer and in compliance with all laws and regulations applicable thereto During the period from

December 14 2011 through July 31 2013 the Company repurchased 1013400 shares at total cost of $50.0

million As result the Company has utilized the entire authorized amount and completed the repurchases under

this share buy-back plan
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On June 18 2013 the Companys Board of Directors approved new share buy-back plan Under the plan which is

in effect from August 2013 through August 31 2015 the Company is authorized to acquire up to $60.0 million of

its outstanding shares on such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Companys Chief Executive Officer

or Chief Financial Officer and subject to present loan covenants and in compliance with all laws and regulations

applicable thereto During the period from August 2013 through August 31 2013 the Company repurchased

45633 shares at total cost of $2.7 million

Note 10 Earnings per Common Share

The table below reconciles net income to net income available to common shareholders in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Net income 39813 35485 36433

Less Net income allocated to participating securities 196 152 130
Net income available to common shareholders 39617 35333 36303

The table below summarizes the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding included in the

calculation of basic and diluted EPS in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Weighted-average common shares outstanding basic 15517 15914 16803

Weighted-average dilutive securities 102 132 179

Weighted-average common shares outstanding diluted 15619 16046 16982

There were no anti-dilutive stock options outstanding for the fiscal
years

ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011

Note 11 Related Parties

On October 11 2011 the Companys Board of Directors elected Mr Gregory Sandfort as director of WD-40

Company Mr Sandfort is President and Chief Executive Officer of Tractor Supply Company Tractor Supply
which is WD-40 Company customer that acquires products from the Company in the ordinary course of business

The consolidated financial statements include sales to Tractor Supply of $0.8 million and $0.6 million for fiscal

years 2013 and 2012 respectively Accounts receivable from Tractor Supply were $0.1 million as of August 31

2013

Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company was committed under certain non-cancelable operating leases at August 31 2013 which provide for

the following future fiscal year minimum payments in thousands

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter

Operating leases 1775 1485 935 590 325 376

Rent expense was $2.0 million $1.8 million and $1.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and

2011 respectively

Purchase Commitments

The Company has ongoing relationships with various suppliers contract manufacturers who manufacture the

Companys products The contract manufacturers maintain title and control of certain raw materials and

components materials utilized in finished products and of the finished products themselves until shipment to the

Companys customers or third-party distribution centers in accordance with agreed upon shipment terms Although
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the Company typically does not have definitive minimum purchase obligations included in the contract terms with

its contract manufacturers when such obligations have been included they have been immaterial In the ordinary

course of business supply needs are communicated by the Company to its contract manufacturers based on orders

and short-term projections ranging from two to five months The Company is committed to purchase the products

produced by the contract manufacturers based on the projections provided

Upon the termination of contracts with contract manufacturers the Company obtains certain inventory control rights

and is obligated to work with the contract manufacturer to sell through all product held by or manufactured by the

contract manufacturer on behalf of the Company during the termination notification period If any inventory remains

at the contract manufacturer at the termination date the Company is obligated to purchase such inventory which

may include raw materials components and finished goods Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2012 amounts

for inventory purchased under termination commitments have been immaterial As result of the unanticipated

termination of the IQ Products Company contract manufacturing agreement in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2012

the Company is currently obligated to purchase $1.8 million of inventory which is included in inventories in the

Companys consolidated balance sheet as of August 31 2013

In addition to the commitments to purchase products from contract manufacturers described above the Company

may also enter into commitments with other manufacturers to purchase finished goods and components to support

innovation initiatives and/or supply chain initiatives As of August 31 2013 no such commitments were

outstanding

Litigation

The Company is party to various claims legal actions and complaints including product liability litigation arising

in the ordinary course of business

On May 31 2012 legal action was filed against the Company in the United States District Court Southern District

of Texas Houston Division IQ Products Company WD-40 Company IQ Products Company Texas

corporation IQPC or an affiliate or predecessor of IQPC has provided contract manufacturing services to the

Company for many years
The allegations of IQPCs complaint arose out of pending termination of this business

relationship In 2011 the Company requested proposals for manufacturing services from all of its domestic contract

manufacturers in conjunction with project to redesign the Companys supply chain architecture in North America

IQPC submitted proposal as requested and the Company tentatively awarded IQPC new contract based on the

information and pricing included in that proposal IQPC subsequently sought to materially increase the quoted price

for such manufacturing services As result the Company chose to terminate its business relationship with IQPC

IQPC also raised alleged safety concerns regarding long-standing manufacturing specification related to the

Companys products The Company believes that IQPCs safety concerns are unfounded

In its complaint IQPC asserts that the Company is obligated to indemnify IQPC for claims and losses based on

1993 indemnity agreement and pursuant to common law IQPC also asserts that it has been harmed by the

Companys allegedly retaliatory conduct in seeking to terminate its relationship with IQPC allegedly in
response to

the safety concerns identified by IQPC IQPC seeks declaratory relief to establish that it is entitled to

indemnification and also to establish that the Company is responsible for reporting the alleged safety concerns to the

United States Consumer Products Safety Commission and to the United States Department of Transportation The

complaint also seeks damages for alleged economic losses in excess of $40.0 million attorneys fees and punitive

damages based on alleged misrepresentations and false promises The Company believes the case is without merit

and will vigorously defend this matter At this stage in the litigation the Company does not believe that loss is

probable and management is unable to reasonably estimate possible loss or range of possible loss

Indemnfications

As permitted under Delaware law the Company has agreements whereby it indemnifies senior officers and directors

for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was serving at the Companys request in such

capacity The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these

indemnification agreements is unlimited however the Company maintains Director and Officer insurance coverage

that mitigates the Companys exposure with respect to such obligations As result of the Companys insurance

coverage management believes that the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal Thus

no liabilities have been recorded for these agreements as of August 31 2013
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From time to time the Company enters into indemnification agreements with certain contractual parties in the

ordinary course of business including agreements with lenders lessors contract manufacturers marketing

distributors customers and certain vendors All such indemnification agreements are entered into in the context of

the particular agreements and are provided in an attempt to properly allocate risk of loss in connection with the

consummation of the underlying contractual arrangements Although the maximum amount of future payments that

the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited management believes

that the Company maintains adequate levels of insurance
coverage to protect the Company with respect to most

potential claims arising from such agreements and that such agreements do not otherwise have value separate and

apart from the liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of the Companys business Thus no liabilities have been

recorded with respect to such indemnification agreements as of August 31 2013

Note 13 Income Taxes

Income before income taxes consisted of the following in thousands

iscal Year çd_Mgust31
2013 2012 2011

United States 36302 36666 37309

Foreign 20565 14247 16222

Income before income taxes 56867 50913 53531

Included in these amounts are income before income taxes forthe EMEA segment of $17.5 million $11.1 million and $14.5 million

for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Current

Federal 11239 10100 9321

State 886 951

Foreign 4973 3820 4627

Total current 17098 13923 14899

Deferred

United States 157 1449 2162

Foreign 113 56 37

Total deferred 44 1505 2199

Provision for income taxes 17054 15428 17098
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities consisted of the following in thousands

August 31 August 31

2013 2012

Deferred tax assets

Accrued payroll and related expenses
1367 886

Accounts receivable 675 702

Reserves and accruals 2584 2676

Stock-based compensation expense 2023 2121

Uniform capitalization 1623 1156

Tax credit carryforwards 1631 1240

Other 1584 1604

Total gross deferred tax assets 11487 10385

Valuation allowance 1842 1302

Total deferred tax assets 9645 9083

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment net 1023 1163

Amortization of tax goodwill and intangible assets 25331 24708

Investments in partnerships 1506 1471

Other 124 197

Total deferred tax liabilities 27984 27539

Net deferred tax liabilities 18339 184

The Company had state net operating loss NOL carryforwards of $6.2 million and $4.8 million as of August 31

2013 and 2012 which generated net deferred tax asset of $0.3 million and $0.2 million respectively The state

NOL canyforwards for fiscal year ended August 31 2013 will begin to expire in fiscal year 2014 The Company

also had cumulative tax credit carryforwards of $1.6 million as of August 31 2013 and $1.2 million as of August 31

2012 of which $1.5 million and $1.1 million respectively is attributable to U.K tax credit carryforward which

does not expire Future utilization of the tax credit carryforwards
and certain state NOL carryovers

is uncertain and

is dependent upon several factors that may not occur including the generation of future taxable income in certain

jurisdictions At this time management cannot conclude that it is more likely than not that the related deferred tax

assets will be realized Accordingly full valuation allowance has been recorded against the related deferred tax

asset associated with cumulative tax credit carryforwards In addition valuation allowance has been recorded

against the deferred tax asset associated with certain state NOL carryovers in the amount of $0.2 million and $0.1

million as of August 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Companys effective tax rate is as follows in

thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Amount computed at U.S statutory federal tax rate 19904 17820 18736

State income taxes net of federal tax benefits 661 16 734

Effect of foreign operations 2353 1377 1377

Benefit from qualified domestic production deduction 1050 951 798

Research and experimentation credits 82 22 117

Other 26 26 80

Provision for income taxes 17054 15428 17098

As of August 31 2013 the Company has not provided for U.S federal and state income taxes and foreign

withholding taxes on $84.7 million of undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries since these earnings are

considered indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States The amount of unrecognized deferred U.S federal

and state income tax liability net of unrecognized foreign tax credits is estimated to be approximately $6.7 million

as of August 31 2013 This net liability is impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates and as result

will fluctuate with any changes in such rates If management decides to repatriate such foreign earnings in future

periods the Company would incur incremental U.S federal and state income taxes as well as foreign withholding
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taxes However the Companys intent is to keep these funds indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S and its current

plans do not demonstrate need to repatriate them to fund the U.S operations Regarding certain foreign

subsidiaries not indefinitely reinvested the Company has provided for U.S income taxes and foreign withholding

taxes on the undistributed earnings

Reconciliations of the beginning and ending amounts of the Companys gross unrecognized tax benefits excluding

interest and penalties are as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of fiscal year 1023 1374

Gross increases tax positions in prior periods

Gross decreases tax positions in prior periods 67
Gross increases current period tax positions 169 422

Expirations of statute of limitations for assessment 173 406
Settlements 39

Unrecognized tax benefits end of fiscal year 980 1023

There were no material interest or penalties included in income tax expense for the fiscal years ended August 31
2013 and 2012 The total balance of accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions was also

immaterial at August 31 2013 and 2012

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S and in various state and foreign jurisdictions Due to expired statutes

the Companys federal income tax returns for years prior to fiscal year 2010 are not subject to examination by the

U.S Internal Revenue Service Generally for the majority of state and foreign jurisdictions where the Company
does business periods prior to fiscal

year 2009 are no longer subject to examination The Company has estimated

that up to $0.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits related to income tax positions may be affected by the resolution

of tax examinations or expiring statutes of limitation within the next twelve months Audit outcomes and the timing

of settlements are subject to significant uncertainty

Note 14 Stock-based Compensation

As of August 31 2013 the Company had one stock incentive plan the WD-40 Company 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

2007 Plan which permits the granting of various stock-based equity awards including non-qualified stock

options incentive stock options stock appreciation rights restricted stock restricted stock units performance

shares performance units and other stock-based awards to employees directors and consultants To date through

August 31 2013 the Company had granted awards of restricted stock units RSU5 performance share units

PSUs and market share units MSUs under the 2007 Plan Additionally as of August 31 2013 there were

still outstanding stock options which had been granted under the Companys prior stock option plan The 2007 Plan

is administered by the Board of Directors the Board or the Compensation Committee or other designated

committee of the Board the Committee All stock-based equity awards granted under the 2007 Plan are subject

to the specific terms and conditions as determined by the Committee at the time of grant of such awards in

accordance with the various terms and conditions specified for each award type per the 2007 Plan The total number

of shares of common stock authorized for issuance pursuant to grants of awards under the 2007 Plan is 2957830
As of August 31 2013 1987876 shares of common stock remained available for future issuance pursuant to grants

of awards under the 2007 Plan The shares of common stock to be issued pursuant to awards under the 2007 Plan

may be authorized but unissued shares or treasury shares The Company has historically issued new authorized but

unissued shares upon the settlement of the various stock-based equity awards under the 2007 Plan

Vesting of the RSUs granted to directors is immediate with shares to be issued pursuant to the RSUs upon
termination of each directors service as director of the Company Vesting of the one-time grant of RSUs granted

to certain key executives of the Company in March 2008 in settlement of these key executives benefits under the

Companys supplemental employee retirement plan agreements was over period of three years from the date of

grant with shares to be issued pursuant to the vested RSUs six months following the day after each executive

officers termination of employment with the Company Vesting of the RSUs granted to employees is over period

of three years from the date of grant with shares to be issued pursuant to the vested RSUs at the time of vest The

director RSU holders and the executive officer March 2008 grant date RSU holders are entitled to receive dividend
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equivalents with respect to their RSUs payable in cash as and when dividends are declared by the Companys Board

of Directors

Vesting of the PSUs granted to certain executive officers follows performance measurement period of two full

fiscal years ending as of the Companys fiscal
year

end for the first full fiscal
year following the date of grant the

Measurement Year for PSU5 Vesting of the MSUs granted to certain high level employees follows

performance measurement period of three full fiscal
years ending as of the Companys fiscal year end for the second

full fiscal year following the date of grant the Measurement Year for MSUs Shares will be issued pursuant to

the vested PSUs and MSUs following the conclusion of the applicable PSU or MSU Measurement Year after the

Committees certification of achievement of the applicable performance measures for such PSUs and MSUs and

the vesting of the PSUs and MSUs and the applicable percentage of the target number of PSU and MSU shares to be

issued

Compensation expense
is amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award

Stock-based compensation expense related to the Companys stock-based equity awards totaled $2.5 million $2.8

million and $3.0 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively The Company

recognized income tax benefits related to such stock-based compensation of $0.8 million $0.9 million and $1.0

million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively As of August 31 2013 the total

unamortized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based equity awards was $1.3 million and $0.6 million

for RSUs and MSUs respectively which the Company expects to recognize over remaining weighted-average

vesting periods of 1.6 years
and 2.2 years for RSUs and MSUs respectively No further unamortized compensation

cost for PSUs remained as of August 31 2013

Stock Options

No stock option awards were granted by the Company during the fiscal years
ended August 31 2013 2012 and

2011 Fiscal year 2008 was the latest fiscal period in which the Company granted any stock options The estimated

fair value of each of the Companys stock option awards granted in fiscal year 2008 and prior was determined on the

date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model

summary of the Companys stock option award activity is as follows in thousands except share and per share

amounts and contractual term in years data

Weighted-Average

Remaining

Weighted-Average Contractual Term

Number of Exercise Price Per Share Aggregate

Stock Options re_ Per Share __iyIs

Outstanding at August 312012 313267 33.12

Granted

Exercised 144676 33.12

Forfeited or expired

Outstanding at August 312013 168591 33.13 3.2 4223

Exercisable at August 31 2013 168591 33.13 3.2 4223

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $3.2 million $2.8 million and $7.2 million for the fiscal

years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

The income tax benefits from stock options exercised totaled $0.9 million $0.7 million and $2.2 million for the

fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

Restricted Stock Units

The estimated fair value of each of the Companys RSU awards was determined on the date of grant based on the

closing market price of the Companys common stock on the date of grant for those RSUs which are entitled to

receive dividend equivalents with respect to the RSUs or based on the closing market price of the Companys

common stock on the date of grant less the grant date present value of expected dividends during the vesting period

for those RSUs which are not entitled to receive dividend equivalents
with respect to the RSUs

F-24



summary of the Companys restricted stock unit activity is as follows in thousands except share and per share

amounts

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Number of Fair Value Aggregate

Restricted Stock Units Shares Per Share Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at August 31 2012 169904 36.03

Granted 34576 45.45

Converted to common shares 51052 35.73

Forfeited 1700 38.67

Outstanding at August31 2013 151728 38.25 8828

Vested at August 31 2013 85613 36.45 4981

The weighted-average fair value of all RSUs granted during the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011

was $45.45 $39.71 and $37.35 respectively The total intrinsic value of all RSUs converted to common shares was

$2.4 million $3.1 million and $1.9 million for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

The income tax benefits from RSUs converted to common shares totaled $0.8 million $0.9 million and $0.5 million

for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

Performance Share Units

The estimated fair value of each of the Companys PSU awards was determined on the date of grant based on the

closing market price of the Companys common stock on the date of grant less the grant date present value of

expected dividends during the vesting period for the PSUs which are not entitled to receive dividend equivalents

with respect to the PSUs The PSUs shall vest with respect to the applicable percentage of the target number of PSU

shares based on relative achievement of the applicable performance measures specified for such PSUs The ultimate

number of PSUs that vest may range from 0% to 150% of the original target number of shares depending on the

relative achievement of performance measures at the end of the measurement period

summary of the Companys performance share unit activity is as follows in thousands except share and
per

share

amounts

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Number of Fair Value Aggregate

Performance Share Units Shares Per Share Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at August 31 2012 41180 38.02

Granted

Converted to common shares 11520 36.88

Forfeited 12480 36.88

Outstanding at August 31 2013 17180 39.61 1000

Expected to vest at August 31 2013 13315 39.61 775

The weighted-average fair value of all PSUs granted during the fiscal years ended August 31 2012 and 2011 was

$39.61 and $36.88 respectively No PSUs were granted during the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 The total

intrinsic value of all PSUs converted to common shares was $0.6 million for each of the fiscal years ended August

31 2013 and 2012 No PSUs were converted to common shares during the fiscal year ended August 31 2011

The income tax benefits from PSUs converted to common shares totaled $0.2 million for each of the fiscal
years

ended August 31 2013 and 2012

Market Share Units

In October 2012 the Company began granting MSU awards to certain high level employees The MSUs are market

performance-based awards that shall vest with respect to the applicable percentage of the target number of MSU
shares based on relative total stockholder return TSR for the Company as compared to the total return for the
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Russell 2000 Index Index over the performance measurement period The ultimate number of MSUs that vest

may range from 0% to 200% of the original target number of shares depending on the relative achievement of the

TSR performance measure at the end of the measurement period The probabilities of the actual number of MSUs

expected to vest and resultant actual number of shares of common stock expected to be awarded are reflected in the

grant date fair values of the various MSU awards therefore the compensation expense
for the MSU awards will be

recognized assuming the requisite service period is rendered and will not be adjusted based on the actual number of

such MSU awards to ultimately vest

The estimated fair value of each of the Companys MSU awards which are not entitled to receive dividend

equivalents with respect to the MSUs was determined on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo simulation model

which utilizes multiple input variables to simulate range of possible future stock prices for both the Company and

the Index and estimates the probabilities of the potential payouts The determination of the estimated grant date fair

value of the MSUs is affected by the Companys stock price and number of assumptions including the expected

volatilities of the Companys stock and the Index the Companys risk-free interest rate and expected dividends The

following weighted-average assumptions for MSU grants were used in the Monte Carlo simulation model

Fiscal Year Ended August31 2013

Expected volatility
25.4%

Risk-free interest rate 0.4%

Expected dividend yield
0%

The expected volatility utilized was based on the historical volatilities of the Companys common stock and the

Index in order to model the stock price movements The volatility used was calculated over the most recent 2.85-

year period which was the remaining term of the performance measurement period at the date of grant The risk-

free interest rate was based on the implied yield available on U.S Treasury zero-coupon bill with remaining term

equivalent to the remaining performance measurement period The MSU awards stipulate that for purposes of

computing the relative TSR for the Company as compared to the return for the Index dividends paid with respect to

both the Companys stock and the Index are to be treated as being reinvested into the stock of each entity as of the

ex-dividend date Accordingly an expected dividend yield of zero was used in the Monte Carlo simulation model

which is the mathematical equivalent to reinvesting dividends in the issuing entity over the performance

measurement period

summary of the Companys market share unit activity is as follows in thousands except share and per share

amounts

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Number of Fair Value Aggregate

Market Share Units Shares Per Share Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at August 31 2012

Granted 24393 37.15

Converted to common shares

Forfeited 162 29.85

Outstanding at August 31 2013 24231 37.20 1410

The weighted-average fair value of all MSUs granted during the fiscal year ended August 31 2013 was $37.15 No

MSUs were converted to common shares during the fiscal year ended August 31 2013

Note 15 Other Benefit Plans

The Company has WD-40 Company Profit Sharing/40 1k Plan and Trust the Profit Sharing/40 1k Plan

whereby regular U.S employees who have completed certain minimum service requirements can defer portion of

their income through contributions to trust The Profit Sharing/40lk Plan provides for Company contributions to

the trust as approved by the Board of Directors as follows matching contributions to each participant up to 50%

of the first 6.6% of compensation contributed by the participant fixed non-elective contributions in the amount

equal to 10% of eligible compensation and discretionary non-elective contribution in an amount to be

determined by the Board of Directors up to 5% of eligible compensation The Companys contributions are subject

to overall employer contribution limits and may not exceed the amount deductible for income tax purposes The
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Profit Sharing/401k Plan may be amended or discontinued at any time by the Company The Companys

contribution expense
for the Profit Sharing/401k Plan was $2.7 million $2.6 million and $2.3 million for the fiscal

years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

The Companys international subsidiaries have similar benefit plan arrangements dependent upon the local

applicable laws and regulations The plans provide for Company contributions to an appropriate third-party plan as

approved by the subsidiarys Board of Directors The Companys contribution
expense

related to the international

plans for the fiscal years ended August 31 2013 2012 and 2011 was $1.3 million $1.1 million and $1.0 million

respectively

Note 16 Business Segments and Foreign Operations

The Company evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates resources to them based on sales and

operating income The Company is organized on the basis of geographical area into the following three segments

the Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific Segment data does not include inter-segment revenues Unallocated

corporate expenses are general corporate overhead expenses not directly attributable to the operating segments and

are reported separate from the Companys identified segments The corporate overhead costs include
expenses for

the Companys accounting and finance information technology human resources research and development

quality control and executive management functions as well as all direct costs associated with public company

compliance matters including legal audit and other professional services costs

The Company has updated the financial information previously reported for the business segments to separate out

the unallocated corporate expenses These amounts were included within the Americas segment in the Companys

previously reported business segment information Summary information about reportable segments is as follows in

thousands

Unallocated

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Corporate Total

Fiscal Year Ended August 312013

Net sales 180544 135984 52020 368548

Income from operations 39383 31213 9308 23267 56637

Depreciation and

amortization
expense 4189 959 200 11 5359

Interest income 348 157 506

Interest expense 684 693

Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2012

Netsales 177394 116936 48454 342784

Income from operations 39455 23524 8458 19708 51729

Depreciation and

amortization expense 3458 1224 177 10 4869

Interest income 122 138 261

Interest expense 721 729

Fiscal Year Ended August 31 2011

Net sales 169881 125400 41128 336409

Income from operations 39085 27846 6509 19308 54132

Depreciation and

amortization expense 2702 1377 187 120 4386

Interest income 108 112 228

Interest expense 1066 10 1076

Unallocated corporate expenses are general corporate overhead expenses not directly attributable to any one of the operating

segments These expenses are reported separate from the Companys identified segments and are included in Selling General and

Administrative expenses on the Companys consolidated statements of operations

The CODM does not review assets by segment as part of the financial information provided and therefore no asset

information is provided in the above table
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Net sales by product group are as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Multi-purpose maintenance products 320883 286480 278763

Homecare and cleaning products 47665 56304 57646

Total 368548 342784 336409

Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic area are as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

2013 2012 2011

Net Sales by Geography

United States 145233 144052 135025

United Kingdom 26298 23402 26188

Germany
26671 21092 26865

Latin America 19200 17689 18720

Other international 151146 136549 129611

Total 368548 342784 336409

Long-lived Assets by Geography

United States 4223 5297 5232

International 4312 3766 3250

Total 8535 9063 8482

Represents net sales from the Germanics sales region which includes Germany Austria Denmark Switzerland and the Netherlands

Includes tangible assets or property and equipment net attributed to the geographic location in which such assets are located

Note 17 Subsequent Events

On October 2013 the Companys Board of Directors declared cash dividend of $0.31 per share payable on

October 31 2013 to shareholders of record on October 21 2013
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